Spectator fields and their imprints on

the Cosmic Microwave Background

Lingfei Wang

B.Sc.

Physics

Department of Physics

Lancaster University

June 2016

A thesis submitted to Lancaster University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Faculty of Science and Technology

Abstract

When a subdominant light scalar field ends slow roll during inflation, but well after the Hubble exit of the pivot scales, it may determine the cosmological perturbations. This thesis investigates how such a scalar field, the *spectator*, may leave its impact on the Cosmic Microwave Background (CMB) radiation and be consequently constrained. We first introduce the observables of the CMB, namely the power spectrum P_{ζ} , spectral index n_s and its running $dn_s/d \ln k$, the non-Gaussianities $f_{\rm NL}$, $g_{\rm NL}$ and $\tau_{\rm NL}$, and the lack of isocurvature and polarization modes. Based on these studies, we derive the cosmological predictions for the spectator scenario, revealing its consistency with the CMB for inflection point potentials, hyperbolic tangent potentials, and those with a sudden phase transition. In the end, we utilize the spectator scenario to explain the CMB power asymmetry, with a brief tachyonic fast-roll phase.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor Anupam Mazumdar for his support and encouragement during my whole PhD period. I also appreciate very much the guidance and support in career development from my former supervisor Yeuk-Kwan Edna Cheung. I am very grateful to every colleague I have interacted with for the insightful discussions either within the cosmology group at Lancaster, or at various conferences/seminars, or even merely by email.

Thank all the friends I met in UK for bringing so much fun to my life in the distant land. And thanks to all my friends and relatives back in China whose supports have been vital during my PhD. On top of everything, I would like to express my unreserved thanks to my parents, without whom anything in my life would be deemed impossible.

Declaration

This thesis is my own work and no portion of the work referred to in this thesis has been submitted in support of an application for another degree or qualification at this or any other institute of learning.

This thesis is based on the author's contribution to the following publications:

- δN formalism (Section 4.1.2 to Section 4.1.4) are based partially on the author's contribution to [1] and partially on the author's unpublished work.
- Spectator scenario (Section 5.2) and its perturbative calculations (Section 5.3) are based on [2,3].
- Single inflaton with a perfect fluid (Section 4.3), step function spectator (Section 5.4.1), and inflection point spectator (Section 5.4.2) are based on [3].
- Inflection point inflation (Section 3.5.2) and hyperbolic tangent spectator (Section 5.4.3) are based on [4].
- CMB power asymmetry (Section 2.6) and its origin from spectator fields (Chapter
 6) are based on [5,6].

The author of the thesis contributes at least half to each and every one of the above publications.

Contents

1	Introduction							
2	Obs	Observations of the Cosmic Microwave Background (CMB)						
	2.1 CMB angular power spectrum							
	2.2	CMB angular bi-spectrum	22					
	2.3	CMB angular tri-spectrum	25					
	2.4	CMB polarization modes	27					
	2.5	Isocurvature perturbations	28					
	2.6	CMB power asymmetry	29					
3	\mathbf{Sin}	gle-field slow-roll inflation	34					
	3.1	Background evolution	34					
	3.2	First order perturbations	39					
		3.2.1 Scalar perturbations	39					
		3.2.2 Separate universe approach	49					
		3.2.3 Tensor perturbations	58					
	3.3	3.3 Higher order perturbations						
	3.4	Testing single-field slow-roll inflation with the CMB	62					
	3.5	3.5 Models of single-field slow-roll inflation						
		3.5.1 Inflation with a power-law potential	64					
		3.5.2 Inflection point inflation	69					
4	Mu	lti-component inflation	73					
	4.1	Generic multi-field slow-roll inflation	73					
		4.1.1 δN formalism	73					

		4.1.2 Multi-field evolution	75				
		4.1.3 Two-field inflation	83				
		4.1.4 Separable potentials	84				
	4.2	Spectator fields	85				
	4.3	Single inflaton with a perfect fluid	87				
5	Spe	ctator scenario	92				
	5.1	Curvaton scenario	92				
	5.2	Spectator scenario	99				
	5.3	Perturbations	103				
	5.4	Spectator models	109				
		5.4.1 Step function spectator $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 1$	109				
		5.4.2 Inflection point spectator $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 1$	115				
		5.4.3 Hyperbolic tangent spectator	121				
6	$\mathbf{C}\mathbf{M}$	B power asymmetry from spectator fields 1	28				
	6.1	Primordial origins of the CMB power asymmetry					
		6.1.1 Consistency relation for single-source perturbations	128				
		6.1.2 Consistency relation for multi-source perturbations	131				
	6.2 Lack of asymmetry from scale invariant perturbations 6.3 Enhancing very large scale perturbations from a tachyonic fast-roll pha						
	6.4	Other observational constraints	144				
		6.4.1 Quasars \ldots 1	144				
		6.4.2 Quadrupole and octupole	l46				
	6.5	CMB power asymmetry from spectator scenario	147				
7	Con	clusions 1	51				

A Special functions

A.1	Spherical harmonic functions	154
A.2	3j symbols	154
A.3	6j symbols	156

List of Figures

1	The CMB temperature fluctuation map by Planck	13
2	The D_l curve from Planck	20
3	CMB power asymmetries along the maximal and the temperature dipole	
	directions	30
4	Subsequent observational studies on CMB power asymmetry \ldots .	32
5	The freedom of gauge choice during inflation	40
6	A schematic figure on δN formalism $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	51
7	The infrared safe integral for the CMB spectrum	57
8	Planck constraints for single-field slow-roll inflation.	68
9	A schematic potential for inflection point inflation	70
10	Adiabatic-entropy and curvature-isocurvature decompositions of multi-	
	field perturbations	76
11	Two possible curvaton scenarios	94
12	Schematic timeline for spectator scenario	100
13	The local bi-spectrum of the spectator field with a step potential \ldots	114
14	Parameter space for the inflection point spectator with a quadratic infla-	
	ton (Part I)	119
15	Parameter space for the inflection point spectator with a quadratic infla-	
	ton (Part II)	120
16	Parameter space for the hyperbolic tangent spectator with a saddle point	
	inflaton (Part I).	125
17	Parameter space for the hyperbolic tangent spectator with a saddle point	
	inflaton (Part II)	126
18	Timeline for the brief tachyonic fast-roll scenario	139

19	Enhancement rates for selected tachyonic masses	140
20	The tachyonic fast-roll enhancement β_k	142
21	Power asymmetries of the CMB and quasar perturbations $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	145
22	CMB power asymmetry from spectator mechanism	149

List of Tables

1	Single-field slow-roll	inflation	predictions	and CMB	observations	• •		63
---	------------------------	-----------	-------------	---------	--------------	-----	--	----

2 Inflationary predictions from a power-law potential and the observations 67

1 Introduction

There are countless mysteries in the universe – dark matter, dark energy, blackholes, and the early universe, to list a few. We have been constantly pursuing the mysteries, and discovering new ones as well – two hundred years ago these terminologies did not even exist. As old mysteries are solved, and new ones are discovered, we understand the universe progressively.

Thousands of years ago, we hardly knew anything about the universe, let alone its origin. In the Chinese ancient myths, the earth is a flat square and the sky an inverted bowl over the earth [7], and was born from a giant egg. Numerous alternative beliefs coexisted, such as the earth should be a floating disc between heaven and underworld [8], or a globe instead [9], perhaps with a habitable interior [10]. At that time, nobody was able to verify any of the proposals, simply because no one could travel afar from the tribe and witness the boundary.

Of course the earth is a globe, as we have now reached the consensus. In history, however, it took us thousands of year to confirm that. When the sailors were conquering the seas and oceans, map-making and astronomy were essential for navigation. As our ancestors sailed afar, such advances enabled them to realize that the earth could not fit into a flat map. That was the first indication that the earth is a globe, which eventually led to the confirmation by Magellan. Our extended scope has hence drawn the conclusion that the earth is round.

On the other hand, the accuracy and precision of our measurements determine with the equal importance, if not more, the advances of our philosophical views of the universe. Through the precise observations, we have become aware that the earth is not the centre of the universe, and neither is the sun. On the contrary, it is now believed that the universe is statistically isotropic [11], favoring no special location or direction, and therefore does not possess any astronomical centre.

We have also realized the universe is not static: stars form and and die; galaxies can also form or merge. Even the whole observable universe was discovered to be expanding. Consequently, this raised a series of philosophical questions. In theory, how and why does the universe expand? In reality, what is the evolutionary history of the universe? The first question was answered by the Friedmann-Robertson-Walker (FRW) metric [12–14], adding an additional degree of freedom into the spacetime metric for a homogeneous universe, known as the scale factor. According to the Hilbert-Einstein action, the relative expansion rate of the universe – the *Hubble rate* – is then found to be proportional to the square root of energy density of the universe which, on the other hand, also evolves as the universe expands – energy densities of non-relativistic and ultra-relativistic particles are both diluted by the universe expansion, though at different rates (see [15]). The FRW metric also allows us to solve the latter question by tracing the universe backwards in time. The universe should hence be made of denser and hotter plasma in the past, suggesting a time-finite evolutionary history in the minimal scenario, which has been entitled the *Hot Big Bang Theory*.

The Hot Big Bang Theory also predicts another observational consequence – the *Cosmic Microwave Background* (CMB) radiation [16]. If the universe started from high-temperature plasma, at the *recombination* it should cool down sufficiently, so that electrons and protons are able to form hydrogen atoms, which are electrically neutral. Before recombination, the plasma is opaque to photons, with extensive interactions which prevent photons from travelling freely. After recombination, hydrogen atoms hardly interact with photons, allowing them to free-stream. Such cosmic photons are then gradually redshifted to the microwave level today as the universe expands, filling the cosmos in all directions and forming a background. Since the speed of light is



Figure 1: The observed CMB temperature fluctuation map by the Planck satellite. [17]

constant, the CMB photons we see today should have originated from a sphere, which centres on us. This sphere is known as the *Last Scattering Surface* (LSS).

The CMB was observed for the first time in 1964, by Penzias and Wilson accidentally [18]. The observed CMB has a blackbody spectrum at the temperature ≈ 2.7 Kelvin. It also demonstrated a suprisingly high isotropy from all directions of the universe. This very first observation has been confirmed by more recent ones, such as the Cosmic Background Explorer (COBE) [19], the Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) [20,21], the Atacama Cosmology Telescope (ACT) [22], the South Pole Telescope (SPT) [23,24], Planck [11,25–29], and the Background Imaging of Cosmic Extragalactic Polarization (BICEP) [30–32]. Meanwhile, the more recent observations have also detected tiny anisotropies in the CMB ($\sim 10^{-5}$), or the *CMB temperature fluctuations*, as shown in Figure 1, which correspond to the primordial perturbation that is nearly scale invariant and Gaussian. The properties of the CMB anisotropies will be discussed in Chapter 2. The CMB observations are difficult to explain with the Hot Big Bang Theory. First, it fails to explain naturally why the universe is mostly isotropic, because in Hot Big Bang, the opposite sides of the LSS can never form causal contact or reach thermal equilibrium. On the other hand, it also lacks a mechanism to produce the almost scale invariant primordial perturbation.

The failure of the Hot Big Bang Theory saw the birth of the Cold Big Bang Theory, which is the currently most accepted theory of the early universe. It prefixes the Hot Big Bang with an exponential expansion phase, known as *inflation* [33–37]. In order to preestablish the causal contacts and the thermal equilibrium, during inflation we need the universe to be dominated in energy density by one or more components whose equations of state are smaller than -1/3, or equilvalently for scalar fields, whose kinetic energies remain weaker than potential energies. Besides, these components should be able to drive inflation for at least ~ 50 e-folds of the universe expansion [26, 38]¹. However, the negative equation of state cannot be achieved with ordinary non-relativistic matter or relativistic particles, whose equations of state are 0 and 1/3 respectively. For this reason, inflation should have emerged from some component(s) other than matter or radiation. After inflation, such component(s) should decay into the hot plasma which signals the start of the Hot Big Bang, during a stage known as *reheating* [39–45].

The initial success of inflation utilizes just a scalar field, which moves very slowly, unlike the oscillating scalar fields in a static universe [33–37,46]. The slow motion can take place naturally for scalar fields in an expanding universe, where the Hubble rate of universe expansion enters the equation of motion as a friction term, resembling a

¹ One e-fold of the universe expansion is the period where the universe size becomes e times of its original value (measured by the scale factor). And $e = 2.718 \cdots$ is the mathematical constant corresponding to the base of natural logarithm.

very viscous fluid holding a harmonic oscillator. The field will perform an over-damped slow motion instead of oscillations if the Hubble rate is much larger than the mass of the scalar field, which can be achieved typically when the field exceeds the Planck scale² $M_{\rm p} \equiv 1/\sqrt{G} \approx 1.2209 \times 10^{19}$ GeV, or when it is *super-Planckian*. During the slow motion, the equation of state of the scalar field is close to -1, behaving as a *cosmological constant*, whose equation of state is exactly -1 and whose energy density does not depend on the universe expansion. Due to the nature of the over-damped slow motion, this scenario has hence been named *slow-roll inflation*. Slow-roll inflation can be terminated safely when the scalar field reaches sub-Planckian values as opposed to super-Planckian, which is known as the *graceful exit* of slow-roll inflation. It is also shown to produce the right amount of perturbations through quantum fluctuations. (For a review on cosmological perturbations, see [15,47,48].) Due to its simplicity and its very good agreement with observations, *single-field slow-roll inflation* has become a major success in modern physics, and the inflation scenario has been crowned as the "inflation paradigm". We will discuss single-field slow-roll inflation in Chapter 3.

Providing the exponential expansion alone does not guarantee a model's success. It should also predict correctly all the other observables, such as the nearly scale invariant and Gaussian primordial perturbation. Due to its simplicity, single-field slow-roll inflation has its limitations in producing all the possible features in the cosmological observables, known as the *consistency relations* (see Section 3.4). This motivates cosmologists to look for alternative scenarios or extensions of the single-field slow-roll inflation, which can provide a broader range of predictions hoping to cover more possi-

² The gravitational constant is defined as $G = 6.674 \times 10^{-11} \text{N} \cdot \text{m}^2/\text{kg}^2$. We use natural units in the thesis where the speed of light c, the Planck constant \hbar , and the Boltzmann constant k_B are set to unity.

ble features in the future CMB observations. Various scenarios of inflation have been proposed in recent years. Non-canonical scalar fields can enforce slow roll with the speed limit from non-canonical kinetic terms without having to reach super-Planckian values, such as in DBI inflation [49]. When multiple fields coexist, they can induce numerous scenarios of inflation, such as hybrid inflation [50–54], assisted inflation [55–61], and many more [1,4,38,45,62–99]. In these scenarios, fields responsible for driving inflation are called the *inflatons*. Most of such scenarios are outside the scope of the thesis, so we will only briefly mention the relevant multi-component inflation with canonical scalar fields in Chapter 4.

Among the multi-field inflation scenarios, the minimal scenario is that one field (the inflaton) leads inflation but produces negligible perturbations, while the other field (the *spectator*) is only responsible for generating the primordial perturbation but has absolutely no role in inflation, as discussed in Chapter 5. The two fields do not need to interact with each other, except minimally by gravity. In this sense, if the spectator field is perturbed or even removed from the model, inflation can still proceed without any change. The only difference is that the primordial perturbation would be much weaker.

The first realization of these separate roles is the curvaton scenario [100-103], as will be discussed briefly in Section 5.1. In the curvaton scenario, the scalar field responsible for the curvature perturbation is called a *curvaton*. The curvaton field can be as simple as a light field without any coupling. It behaves as an effective cosmological constant during inflation, and only decays after inflation ends. The curvaton field can take up a significant part of the total energy density in the post-inflationary evolution. This greatly limits its parameter space because observations fail to see any isocurvature perturbations [26, 104].

A more recent development of the separate roles is the spectator scenario [2, 3],

in which the spectator ends slow roll well before the end of inflation. Therefore, the energy density of the spectator field or its decay products is redshifted away in the rest of inflation, leaving negligible contributions to the contents of the current universe, as discussed in Section 5.2. The only signature left from the spectator field is the primordial perturbation, which originated from the spectator perturbation at the Hubble exit (see Section 5.3). The price to pay is that spectator field potentials, such as the typical ones in Section 5.4, are more complicated than a bare non-interacting light field.

A recent CMB feature which has come into people's attention is the *CMB power* asymmetry. The CMB power asymmetry is the amount of asymmetry in the CMB power spectrum. For example, we may observe that the amplitude of the CMB perturbation is stronger on one hemisphere than that on the other. The CMB power asymmetry was first noticed in the WMAP data [105–107], and later confirmed with a higher precision by the Planck satellite [11, 108]. After modelling the CMB power asymmetry phenomenologically in Section 2.6, we attempt to address its primordial origins in Section 6.1, which turns extremely difficult if the primordial perturbation is (almost) scale invariant and sufficiently Gaussian (Section 6.2). The observed amount of CMB power asymmetry, on the other hand, can be obtained in the presence of a brief tachyonic fast roll phase, through enhancing the very large scale perturbations, as shown in Section 6.3. Therefore, the CMB power asymmetry can be explained by the spectator scenario with a tachyonic fast roll phase (Section 6.5), whilst satisfying other observational constraints in Section 6.4.

The conclusion of the thesis is drawn in Chapter 7.

2 Observations of the Cosmic Microwave Background (CMB)

In this chapter, we derive the statistical properties of the CMB temperature fluctuation. They shall constrain the early universe models in the forthcoming chapters.

2.1 CMB angular power spectrum

Let us define the CMB temperature map as $T(\hat{\mathbf{n}})$, where $\hat{\mathbf{n}}$ is the unit spatial threevector for the 3-dimensional incoming direction of the observed CMB photons. The CMB temperature anisotropy is then defined as

$$\Delta T(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) \equiv T(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) - \overline{T},\tag{2.1}$$

where the mean temperature of the CMB is given by

$$\overline{T} \equiv \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int d^2 \hat{\mathbf{n}} T(\hat{\mathbf{n}}).$$
(2.2)

The statistical information of the CMB temperature fluctuation can be extracted by decomposing $\Delta T(\hat{\mathbf{n}})$ into spherical harmonics $Y_{lm}(\hat{\mathbf{n}})$, with l = 0, 1, 2, ... and m = -l, -l + 1, ..., l, as

$$\Delta T(\mathbf{\hat{n}}) = \sum_{lm} a_{lm} Y_{lm}(\mathbf{\hat{n}}).$$
(2.3)

The coefficients a_{lm} are then called the *angular multipoles* of the CMB temperature fluctuation. From the orthogonality condition of the spherical harmonics (see Section A.1), we can solve a_{lm} inversely, as

$$a_{lm} \equiv \int d^2 \hat{\mathbf{n}} \, \Delta T(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) Y_{lm}^*(\hat{\mathbf{n}}). \tag{2.4}$$

The a_{00} component should be exactly zero by definition, Eq. (2.1). The temperature fluctuation $\Delta T(\hat{\mathbf{n}})$ is a real function. This enforces the relation

$$a_{lm}^* = (-1)^m a_{l-m}.$$
 (2.5)

In the simplest scenario, we assume that no point is statistically preferred or different over the others in the universe, so that every point is statistically equivalent by nature. It also means there is no preferred direction from any point in the universe, including the earth. This is called *statistical isotropy* (see for example [109]). Therefore the expectation value of any correlation function should remain invariant under spatial rotations [110, 111]. The statistical isotropy has been well tested *for our observable universe patch* through the CMB [11].

For the two-point correlation function, statistical isotropy means that it should only depend on the angle between the two directions, i.e.

$$\langle \Delta T(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) \Delta T(\hat{\mathbf{n}}') \rangle = F(\hat{\mathbf{n}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{n}}').$$
(2.6)

This relation enforces a_{lm} to satisfy

$$\langle a_{lm}^* a_{l'm'} \rangle = C_l \delta_{l,l'} \delta_{m,m'}, \qquad (2.7)$$

where C_l is the angular power spectrum of the CMB, and is the independent of m and m'. Here $\langle \rangle$ takes the expectation value over all the possible configurations of the universe arising from the quantum fluctuations in the early universe.

From the observed a_{lm} , an unbiased estimator for C_l can be constructed as

$$\widehat{C}_{l} \equiv \frac{1}{2l+1} \sum_{m} a_{lm}^{*} a_{lm}, \qquad (2.8)$$

whose variance is given by [109]

$$\operatorname{Var} \widehat{C}_{l} \equiv \left\langle \left(\widehat{C}_{l} - \langle \widehat{C}_{l} \rangle \right)^{2} \right\rangle = \frac{C_{l}^{2}}{2l+1}, \qquad (2.9)$$

which is known as the *cosmic variance*, and which cannot be lessened via multiple measurements.

The quantum fluctuations during inflation can be parameterized by the gaugeinvariant³ scalar quantity, the (primordial) *curvature perturbation* $\zeta(\mathbf{x})$, or its Fourier ³ The gauge invariance will be discussed further in Section 3.2.



Figure 2: The D_l observation from Planck [28]. The blue points are the observed D_l with error bars at 1σ confidence level. The red curve shows the best fit curve of D_l . The residues w.r.t the best fit are shown in the lower figure.

transformation partner $\zeta(\mathbf{k})$, which is defined as⁴

$$\zeta(\mathbf{k}) \equiv \int \zeta(\mathbf{x}) e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \mathrm{d}^3\mathbf{x}.$$
 (2.10)

Since $\zeta(\mathbf{x})$ is a scalar, it is also called the *scalar perturbations* or the CMB temperature fluctuations. (See Section 3.2.1.)

We can write the transfer function from the curvature perturbation to the CMB temperature perturbation as $g_l(k)$, which leads to

$$a_{lm} = (-i)^l \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k}}{2\pi^2} Y_{lm}^*(\hat{\mathbf{k}}) g_l(k) \zeta(\mathbf{k}).$$
(2.11)

⁴ We use the bold form to indicate spatial three-vectors in this thesis. The time dependence of ζ is implicit here.

The detailed derivation can be found in [109]. The two-point correlation function of $\zeta(\mathbf{k})$ can be written as

$$\langle \zeta(\mathbf{k})\zeta^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}')\rangle = (2\pi)^{3}\delta(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}')P_{\zeta}(k), \qquad (2.12)$$

where $P_{\zeta}(k)$ is the *power spectrum* of the curvature perturbation $\zeta(\mathbf{k})$. With the above relations, we can derive C_l as

$$C_l = \frac{2}{\pi} \int dk \, k^2 |g_l(k)|^2 P_{\zeta}(k).$$
(2.13)

The Planck satellite has given its observation of the C_l values as well as the best-fit curve in Figure 2, in terms of [25]

$$D_l \equiv \frac{l(l+1)}{2\pi} C_l.$$
 (2.14)

We can parameterize $P_{\zeta}(k)$ order by order around a reference scale k_0 , as

$$k^{3}P_{\zeta}(k) = k_{0}^{3}P_{\zeta}(k_{0}) \left(\frac{k}{k_{0}}\right)^{n_{s}-1+\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}n_{s}}{\mathrm{d}\ln k}\ln\frac{k}{k_{0}}+\mathrm{higher order}}, \qquad (2.15)$$

where the Planck observation has chosen [28, 112]

$$k_0 \equiv 0.05 \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1}.$$
 (2.16)

In Eq. (2.15), the parameter n_s is called the *spectral index* of scalar perturbations, where s stands for "scalar", and $\frac{\mathrm{d}n_s}{\mathrm{d}\ln k}$ is the *running of the spectral index*. They are both taken as constant values at the reference scale $k = k_0$. The running is compatible with zero by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}n_s}{\mathrm{d}\ln k} = -0.0065 \pm 0.0076. \tag{2.17}$$

After taking the zero running, Planck reports other parameters and their errors [26, 28]

$$\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} = \frac{k_0^3}{2\pi^2} P_{\zeta}(k_0) = (2.142 \pm 0.048) \times 10^{-9},$$
 (2.18)

$$n_s = 0.9667 \pm 0.0040. \tag{2.19}$$

All errors are at 1σ confidence level unless otherwise noted. The term P_{ζ} characterizes the overall strength of the curvature perturbations, as defined in Section 3.2.2.

2.2 CMB angular bi-spectrum

The curvature perturbation $\zeta(\mathbf{k})$ may deviate from independent Gaussian distributions. This *non-Gaussianity* can provide extra statistical information through correlation functions in the CMB. (See [113] for a review.) The CMB *angular bi-spectrum* is hence defined as

$$B_{l_1 l_2 l_3}^{m_1 m_2 m_3} \equiv \langle a_{l_1 m_1} a_{l_2 m_2} a_{l_3 m_3} \rangle.$$
(2.20)

Statistical isotropy requires the expectation values of three-point correlation functions to be invariant under spatial rotations. Therefore, we can extract the rotational invariant part of the CMB angular bi-spectrum, $B_{l_1l_2l_3}$, as [110, 111]

$$B_{l_1 l_2 l_3}^{m_1 m_2 m_3} = B_{l_1 l_2 l_3} \begin{pmatrix} l_1 & l_2 & l_3 \\ & & \\ m_1 & m_2 & m_3 \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.21)

where the pair of parentheses correspond to the 3j symbol, defined in Section A.2.

The three-point correlation function of $\zeta(\mathbf{k})$ is defined as

$$\langle \zeta(\mathbf{k}_1)\zeta(\mathbf{k}_2)\zeta(\mathbf{k}_3)\rangle = (2\pi)^3 \delta^3(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3)B(k_1, k_2, k_3),$$
 (2.22)

where, due to statistical isotropy, $B(k_1, k_2, k_3)$ does not depend on the directions. For independent Gaussian $\zeta(\mathbf{k})$, we have $B(k_1, k_2, k_3) = 0$.

Then we are able to calculate Eq. (2.20) and Eq. (2.21). Noting the relations [114]

$$\delta^{3}(\mathbf{k}_{1} + \mathbf{k}_{2} + \mathbf{k}_{3}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3}} \int d^{3}\mathbf{x} e^{i(\mathbf{k}_{1} + \mathbf{k}_{2} + \mathbf{k}_{3}) \cdot \mathbf{x}},$$
(2.23)

$$e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}} = 4\pi \sum_{lm} i^l j_l(kx) Y_{lm}(\hat{\mathbf{k}}) Y_{lm}^*(\hat{\mathbf{x}}), \qquad (2.24)$$

we can find

$$B_{l_1 l_2 l_3} = \sqrt{\frac{(2l_1+1)(2l_2+1)(2l_3+1)}{4\pi}} \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right)^3 \begin{pmatrix} l_1 & l_2 & l_3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\times \int k_1^2 k_2^2 k_3^2 x^2 dk_1 dk_2 dk_3 dx B(k_1, k_2, k_3)$$
$$\times g_{l_1}(k_1) g_{l_2}(k_2) g_{l_3}(k_3) j_{l_1}(k_1 x) j_{l_2}(k_2 x) j_{l_3}(k_3 x).$$
(2.25)

Here $j_l(x)$ is the spherical Bessel function.

Inflation may generate non-Gaussianities *locally*. The local non-Gaussianity in the curvature perturbation, if any, is known to be small [27]. Such near-Gaussian local effects can be written as a series expansion of the perfect Gaussian variable

$$\zeta(\mathbf{x}) = \zeta_G(\mathbf{x}) + \frac{3}{5} f_{\rm NL}(\zeta_G^2(\mathbf{x}) - \langle \zeta_G^2(\mathbf{x}) \rangle) + \text{higher order}, \qquad (2.26)$$

where $\zeta_G(\mathbf{x})$ is the perfect Gaussian variable, and $f_{\rm NL}$ is the parameter to indicate the amount of deviation from perfect Gaussian distributions, or the amount of *local non-Gaussianity*. This expansion is only valid when

$$\zeta_G(\mathbf{x}) \ll 1, \tag{2.27}$$

$$f_{\rm NL}\zeta_G(\mathbf{x}) \ll 1, \tag{2.28}$$

and similarly for higher order terms. From Eq. (2.26), we can find the leading order expectation values of $\zeta(\mathbf{x})$

$$\langle \zeta(\mathbf{x}) \rangle = 0, \qquad (2.29)$$

$$\langle \zeta^2(\mathbf{x}) \rangle = \langle \zeta_G^2(\mathbf{x}) \rangle,$$
 (2.30)

$$\langle \zeta^3(\mathbf{x}) \rangle = \frac{18}{5} f_{\rm NL} \langle \zeta_G^2(\mathbf{x}) \rangle^2,$$
 (2.31)

. . . .

The Fourier transformation of Eq. (2.26) yields,

$$\zeta(\mathbf{k}) = \zeta_G(\mathbf{k}) + \frac{3}{5} f_{\rm NL} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k}'}{(2\pi)^3} \zeta_G(\mathbf{k}') \zeta_G(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}').$$
(2.32)

This allows us to solve $B(k_1, k_2, k_3)$ for the local non-Gaussianity according to Eq. (2.22), as⁵

$$B(k_1, k_2, k_3) = \frac{6}{5} f_{\rm NL} \Big(P_{\zeta}(k_1) P_{\zeta}(k_2) + P_{\zeta}(k_1) P_{\zeta}(k_3) + P_{\zeta}(k_2) P_{\zeta}(k_3) \Big).$$
(2.33)

The CMB angular bi-spectrum is then [113, 115]

$$B_{l_{1}l_{2}l_{3}} = \frac{6}{5} f_{\mathrm{NL}} \sqrt{\frac{(2l_{1}+1)(2l_{2}+1)(2l_{3}+1)}{4\pi}} \begin{pmatrix} l_{1} & l_{2} & l_{3} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \\ \times \int \mathrm{d}x \, x^{2} \Big[\alpha_{l_{1}}(x)\beta_{l_{2}}(x)\beta_{l_{3}}(x) \\ + \alpha_{l_{2}}(x)\beta_{l_{1}}(x)\beta_{l_{3}}(x) + \alpha_{l_{3}}(x)\beta_{l_{1}}(x)\beta_{l_{2}}(x) \Big], \qquad (2.34)$$

where we have defined

$$\alpha_l(x) \equiv \frac{2}{\pi} \int k^2 \mathrm{d}k \, g_l(k) j_l(kx), \qquad (2.35)$$

$$\beta_l(x) \equiv \frac{2}{\pi} \int k^2 \mathrm{d}k \, P_{\zeta}(k) g_l(k) j_l(kx). \tag{2.36}$$

Planck has given the latest constraint on the primordial *local* bi-spectrum [27]

.

$$f_{\rm NL} = 0.8 \pm 5.0. \tag{2.37}$$

We will only be interested in the local type bi-spectrum in this thesis. Other types of the primordial bi-spectra have also been constrained by Planck, such as the equilateral type $(f_{\rm NL} = -4 \pm 43)$ and the orthogonal type $(f_{\rm NL} = -26 \pm 21)$, which can be found in [27].

⁵ Here we do not distinguish between $P_{\zeta}(k)$ and $P_{\zeta_G}(k)$ because they are equal at the leading order.

2.3 CMB angular tri-spectrum

Similarly, the CMB angular tri-spectrum can be studied with $\langle a_{l_1m_1}a_{l_2m_2}a_{l_3m_3}a_{l_4m_4}\rangle$, which can be decomposed into a Gaussian part and a non-Gaussian part

$$\langle a_{l_1m_1}a_{l_2m_2}a_{l_3m_3}a_{l_4m_4}\rangle = \langle a_{l_1m_1}a_{l_2m_2}a_{l_3m_3}a_{l_4m_4}\rangle_{\mathcal{G}} + \langle a_{l_1m_1}a_{l_2m_2}a_{l_3m_3}a_{l_4m_4}\rangle_{\mathcal{nG}}.$$
 (2.38)

The non-Gaussian part $\langle a_{l_1m_1}a_{l_2m_2}a_{l_3m_3}a_{l_4m_4}\rangle_{nG}$ only gains contribution from interactions between the perturbation modes, so it vanishes for purely Gaussian CMB perturbations, and is also called the *connected* part. The Gaussian part is also called the *disconnected* part, contributing a constant amount to the angular tri-spectrum at the leading order [113]⁶

$$\langle a_{l_1m_1}a_{l_2m_2}a_{l_3m_3}a_{l_4m_4}\rangle_{\rm G} = (-1)^{m_1+m_3}C_{l_1}C_{l_3}\delta_{l_1,l_2}\delta_{l_3,l_4}\delta_{m_1,-m_2}\delta_{m_3,-m_4} + (-1)^{m_1+m_2}C_{l_1}C_{l_2}\delta_{l_1,l_3}\delta_{l_2,l_4}\delta_{m_1,-m_3}\delta_{m_2,-m_4} + (-1)^{m_2+m_4}C_{l_2}C_{l_4}\delta_{l_1,l_4}\delta_{l_2,l_3}\delta_{m_1,-m_4}\delta_{m_2,-m_3}.$$
(2.39)

Given the CMB power spectrum C_l , we can then calculate the Gaussian part of the CMB angular tri-spectrum. Any significant excess observed would imply non-Gaussianities in the angular tri-spectrum. Only considering the inflationary effects on the CMB tri-spectrum, we can write the non-Gaussian part of the four-point correlation function of the curvature perturbations, as

$$\langle \zeta(\mathbf{k}_1)\zeta(\mathbf{k}_2)\zeta(\mathbf{k}_3)\zeta(\mathbf{k}_4)\rangle_{\mathrm{nG}} = (2\pi)^3 \delta^3(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3 + \mathbf{k}_4)T_{\mathrm{nG}}(\mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2, \mathbf{k}_3, \mathbf{k}_4).$$
(2.40)

The tri-spectrum also allows various shapes, two of which have received most atten- 6 Alternatively it can be expressed in the rotational invariant way as in [111]. tion are parameterized in terms of $\tau_{\rm NL}$ and $g_{\rm NL}$, as [113]

$$\begin{split} T_{\rm nG}(\mathbf{k}_{1},\mathbf{k}_{2},\mathbf{k}_{3},\mathbf{k}_{4}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\tau_{\rm NL}\Big(P_{\zeta}(k_{1})P_{\zeta}(k_{12})P_{\zeta}(k_{3}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{1})P_{\zeta}(k_{12})P_{\zeta}(k_{4}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{1})P_{\zeta}(k_{13})P_{\zeta}(k_{2}) \\ &+ P_{\zeta}(k_{1})P_{\zeta}(k_{13})P_{\zeta}(k_{4}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{1})P_{\zeta}(k_{14})P_{\zeta}(k_{2}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{1})P_{\zeta}(k_{14})P_{\zeta}(k_{3}) \\ &+ P_{\zeta}(k_{2})P_{\zeta}(k_{12})P_{\zeta}(k_{3}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{2})P_{\zeta}(k_{12})P_{\zeta}(k_{4}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{2})P_{\zeta}(k_{23})P_{\zeta}(k_{1}) \\ &+ P_{\zeta}(k_{2})P_{\zeta}(k_{23})P_{\zeta}(k_{4}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{2})P_{\zeta}(k_{24})P_{\zeta}(k_{1}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{2})P_{\zeta}(k_{23})P_{\zeta}(k_{3}) \\ &+ P_{\zeta}(k_{3})P_{\zeta}(k_{13})P_{\zeta}(k_{2}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{3})P_{\zeta}(k_{13})P_{\zeta}(k_{1}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{3})P_{\zeta}(k_{23})P_{\zeta}(k_{1}) \\ &+ P_{\zeta}(k_{3})P_{\zeta}(k_{23})P_{\zeta}(k_{4}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{3})P_{\zeta}(k_{34})P_{\zeta}(k_{1}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{3})P_{\zeta}(k_{24})P_{\zeta}(k_{1}) \\ &+ P_{\zeta}(k_{4})P_{\zeta}(k_{14})P_{\zeta}(k_{2}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{4})P_{\zeta}(k_{14})P_{\zeta}(k_{3}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{4})P_{\zeta}(k_{24})P_{\zeta}(k_{1}) \\ &+ P_{\zeta}(k_{4})P_{\zeta}(k_{24})P_{\zeta}(k_{3}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{4})P_{\zeta}(k_{3})P_{\zeta}(k_{1}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{4})P_{\zeta}(k_{3})P_{\zeta}(k_{2}) \Big) \\ &+ \frac{54}{25}g_{\rm NL}\Big(P_{\zeta}(k_{1})P_{\zeta}(k_{2})P_{\zeta}(k_{3}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{1})P_{\zeta}(k_{2})P_{\zeta}(k_{4}) + P_{\zeta}(k_{1})P_{\zeta}(k_{3})P_{\zeta}(k_{4}) \\ &+ P_{\zeta}(k_{2})P_{\zeta}(k_{3})P_{\zeta}(k_{4})\Big)\Big, \end{split}$$

where $\mathbf{k}_{12} \equiv \mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2$.

The parameter $g_{\rm NL}$ comes similarly with $f_{\rm NL}$. When the curvature perturbations are not perfectly Gaussian, the higher order terms can be parameterized as

$$\zeta(\mathbf{x}) = \zeta_G(\mathbf{x}) + \frac{3}{5} f_{\rm NL}(\zeta_G^2(\mathbf{x}) - \langle \zeta_G^2(\mathbf{x}) \rangle) + \frac{9}{25} g_{\rm NL} \zeta_G^3(\mathbf{x}) + \text{higher order.}$$
(2.42)

Therefore $g_{\rm NL}$ characterizes the strength of the cubic correction term. The parameter $\tau_{\rm NL}$ does not appear directly in Eq. (2.42), but it corresponds to the second order contribution from the CMB local bi-spectrum.

Similar to the bi-spectrum calculations, we can start from [115, 116]

$$\langle a_{l_1m_1}a_{l_2m_2}a_{l_3m_3}a_{l_4m_4}\rangle_{\mathrm{nG}} = \frac{1}{2\pi^5} \int \delta^3(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3 + \mathbf{k}_4)T_{\mathrm{nG}}(\mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2, \mathbf{k}_3, \mathbf{k}_4) \\ \times \prod_{n=1}^4 (-i)^{l_n}Y_{l_nm_n}^*(\hat{\mathbf{k}}_n)g_{l_n}(k_n)\mathrm{d}^3\mathbf{k}_n,$$
(2.43)

and calculate the contributions from the non-vanishing $g_{\rm NL}$ and $\tau_{\rm NL}$ terms, as [115]

$$\langle a_{l_{1}m_{1}}a_{l_{2}m_{2}}a_{l_{3}m_{3}}a_{l_{4}m_{4}}\rangle_{\mathrm{nG}}$$

$$= \tau_{\mathrm{NL}} \sum_{LM} (-1)^{M+l_{1}+l_{2}+l_{3}+l_{4}} \left(A^{l_{1}l_{2}}_{l_{3}l_{4}}(L)G^{m_{1}m_{2}M}_{l_{1}l_{2}L}G^{m_{3}m_{4}-M}_{l_{3}l_{4}} L \right)$$

$$+ A^{l_{1}l_{3}}_{l_{2}l_{4}}(L)G^{m_{1}m_{3}M}_{l_{1}l_{3}L}G^{m_{2}m_{4}-M}_{l_{2}l_{4}} + A^{l_{1}l_{4}}_{l_{2}l_{3}}(L)G^{m_{1}m_{4}M}_{l_{1}l_{4}L}G^{m_{2}m_{3}-M}_{l_{2}l_{3}L} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{27}{25}\pi g_{\mathrm{NL}} \sum_{LM} (-1)^{M} B_{l_{1}l_{2}l_{3}l_{4}}G^{m_{1}m_{2}M}_{l_{1}l_{2}L}G^{m_{3}m_{4}-M}_{l_{3}l_{4}L}, \qquad (2.44)$$

where

$$\begin{aligned}
A_{l_{3}l_{4}}^{l_{1}l_{2}}(L) &\equiv \int k^{2} \mathrm{d}k \, P_{\zeta}(k) \gamma_{l_{1}l_{2},L}(k) \gamma_{l_{3}l_{4},L}(k), \quad (2.45) \\
B_{l_{1}l_{2}l_{3}l_{4}} &\equiv \int x^{2} \mathrm{d}x \Big(\alpha_{l_{1}}(x) \beta_{l_{2}}(x) \beta_{l_{3}}(x) \beta_{l_{4}}(x) + \alpha_{l_{2}}(x) \beta_{l_{1}}(x) \beta_{l_{3}}(x) \beta_{l_{4}}(x) \\
&+ \alpha_{l_{3}}(x) \beta_{l_{1}}(x) \beta_{l_{2}}(x) \beta_{l_{4}}(x) + \alpha_{l_{4}}(x) \beta_{l_{1}}(x) \beta_{l_{2}}(x) \beta_{l_{3}}(x) \Big), \quad (2.46)
\end{aligned}$$

$$\gamma_{l_1 l_2, l}(k) \equiv \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \int x^2 \mathrm{d}x \, j_l(kx) \Big(\alpha_{l_1}(x) \beta_{l_2}(x) + \alpha_{l_2}(x) \beta_{l_1}(x) \Big). \tag{2.47}$$

The Gaunt integral $G_{l_1 \ l_2 \ l_3}^{m_1m_2m_3}$ is defined in Eq. (A.4).

The Planck observations have constrained the angular tri-spectra of the shapes $\tau_{\rm NL} < 2800$ at 95% confidence level [117] and $g_{\rm NL} = (-9.0\pm7.7) \times 10^4$ at 1σ confidence level [27].

2.4 CMB polarization modes

So far, we have discussed the CMB *temperature* anisotropies. Besides the temperature, each CMB photon also contains an additional degree of freedom. This results in the possible polarization in the CMB, whose fluctuations can also be measured, and can in theory provide extra information for the early universe. However, the CMB polarization also gains contribution from other sources, such as lensing and foreground dust, which make the measurement of contribution from primordial effects particularly difficult.

The CMB polarization can be decomposed into two separate modes, E and B, as discussed in [118]. The B mode gains contribution from the (primordial) tensor perturbations. Its strength is determined by the primordial tensor perturbation, which can be similarly parameterized as in Eq. (2.15) and Eq. (2.18). For the primordial tensor perturbation, we use the power spectrum symbol \mathcal{P}_t . The relative strength of the tensor perturbation compared with that of the curvature perturbation is defined as the tensor-to-scalar ratio:

$$r \equiv \frac{\mathcal{P}_t}{\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}.\tag{2.48}$$

Fluctuations in the CMB polarization has yet to be observed, suggesting a weak tensor perturbation. The current constraints are given by $r_{0.002} < 0.07$ at 95% CL [119] and r < 0.12 at 95% CL [32] respectively.⁷

2.5 Isocurvature perturbations

Besides the perturbations in the CMB, there are also other types of perturbations in the universe, such as the energy density perturbations in visible matter, cold dark matter, and neutrinos, as well as the velocity perturbations in neutrinos. In principle, these perturbations can be either independent of each other, or have some correlations. However, the simplest scenario would be that all these perturbations originated from the same curvature perturbation ζ in early universe. In this simplest scenario, the universe would be called *adiabatic*.

The adiabaticity of the universe can be violated when the equation of state of our universe is not a mere function of energy density, which may take place if there is more than one degree of freedom in the early universe (see Chapter 4). Perturbations perpendicular to the adiabatic perturbation are referred to as *isocurvature perturbations*,

⁷ Here $r_{0.002}$ indicates the value r measured at the scale 0.002Mpc^{-1} , instead of the previously chosen reference scale $k_0 \equiv 0.05 \text{Mpc}^{-1}$. We will omit the subscript 0.002 for the remaining part of the thesis.

which can leave their signatures in the CMB [120-122].

By observing the CMB, the Planck satellite has not seen any isocurvature perturbations. Therefore, multi-field models should not produce isocurvature perturbations more than what Planck could have observed. This regulates the parameter spaces of multi-field models. One specific example of multi-field models, the curvaton scenario [101, 103] (see Section 5.1), produces correlated or anti-correlated isocurvature perturbations whose amplitude is hence required to be small (see [26]).

In this thesis, we will not be involved in any calculations of the isocurvature perturbations. Instead, quantitative results are only referred from existing publications. For this reason, numerical details of the isocurvature perturbations are irrelevant and omitted in the thesis.

2.6 CMB power asymmetry

In previous sections, we have assumed the universe is statistically isotropic, so the expectation values of correlation functions are invariant under spatial rotations, such as Eq. (2.6) for CMB angular spectrum, and Eq. (2.21) for CMB angular bi-spectrum. This assumption is too ideal to be fully tested, simply because we cannot jump out of our current universe patch. However, what we *can* test is the statistical isotropy in our *observable patch*.

The Planck satellite has tested statistical isotropy by various means in [108], highlighting the power asymmetry of the CMB^8 . The *power asymmetry* of the CMB suggests the amplitude of CMB temperature perturbations can be asymmetric, so perturbations on one side can be stronger than those on the opposite side. This signal was also found by the previous observations in [105, 106], and may as well show up in the CMB polar-

⁸ In [11], the latest Planck release has confirmed their previous results in [108].



(a) The power asymmetry along the maximal power asymmetry direction.



(b) The power asymmetry along the temperature dipole direction.

Figure 3: The two C_l curves and their relative differences are calculated by the Planck group, from two opposite patches of the CMB map with an angular diameter 90° [123]. The directions have been picked to match the maximal power asymmetry, and the temperature dipole.

ization perturbations [124]. This might suggest a "preferred direction" in our observable universe patch.

In Figure 3, the Planck group have processed two opposite patches of the CMB map, and have shown the two C_l curves together with their relative differences. The preferred direction from the maximal CMB power asymmetry and that from the CMB temperature dipole were found not to match. The CMB power asymmetry thus may have a different origin with that of the temperature dipole.

In the later analyses [108, 125], the power asymmetry becomes less significant for high l, as shown in Figure 4. Still, the power asymmetry remains at low l, overcoming cosmic variance effect at ~ 3σ .

To address the possible power asymmetry in the CMB, let us first consider the *scale* independent case. We can start from the symmetric and unmodulated CMB temperature fluctuations $\overline{\Delta T}(\hat{\mathbf{n}})$, which by itself is statistically isotropic. The power asymmetry then can be modelled at the leading order as a dipole modulation multiplier along direction $\hat{\mathbf{p}}$ with strength A. The CMB temperature fluctuations after modulation then become: (see for instance [105, 106])

$$\Delta T(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) = (1 + A\,\hat{\mathbf{p}}\cdot\hat{\mathbf{n}})\overline{\Delta T}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}). \tag{2.49}$$

The currently observed CMB power asymmetry is weak, so we expect $0 < A \ll 1$. The 2013 Planck observation [108] sees $A = 0.07 \pm 0.02$, which confirms the previous analyses on WMAP data [105, 106]. The Planck 2015 results are "essentially identical" [11].

If we pick a small local patch in the direction $\hat{\mathbf{n}}$ on the CMB map, and calculate the CMB power spectrum only in this patch, it will also acquire a directional dependence (neglecting $\mathcal{O}(A^2)$),

$$\mathcal{P}_{\Delta T}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) = (1 + 2A\,\hat{\mathbf{p}}\cdot\hat{\mathbf{n}})\mathcal{P}_{\overline{\Delta T}}.$$
(2.50)

This directional dependence becomes most significant when we compare two opposite



(a) The measured relative differences are shown in the lines with different masks. The simulated relative differences from pure Gaussian universes are shown with the shades, at 1σ significance. [125]



(b) The measured relative differences are shown in the coloured lines. The simulated relative differences from pure Gaussian universes are shown in gray lines (each), and also shown with the shade at 1σ significance. [108]

Figure 4: The relative differences of the opposite C_l curves are plotted in more recent studies.

directions, $\hat{\mathbf{n}} = \hat{\mathbf{p}}$ and $\hat{\mathbf{n}} = -\hat{\mathbf{p}}$. Their relative difference is given by [6]

$$\frac{\mathcal{P}_{\Delta T}(\hat{\mathbf{p}}) - \mathcal{P}_{\Delta T}(-\hat{\mathbf{p}})}{\frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{P}_{\Delta T}(\hat{\mathbf{p}}) + \mathcal{P}_{\Delta T}(-\hat{\mathbf{p}}))} = 4A.$$
(2.51)

Since the CMB temperature fluctuations are seeded by curvature perturbations, it is straightforward to think that the power asymmetry may share the same origin and also come from inflation. In fact, because of the large scale of CMB power asymmetry, it is difficult to be seeded by any post-inflationary mechanism. Further discussions about its inflationary origins and scale dependences are covered in Chapter 6.

Other than power asymmetry, the CMB tempearture fluctuation exhibits a simple pattern – weak and almost scale invariant perturbations with negligible running, small and insignificant non-Gaussianities, and lack of B polarization mode or isocurvature perturbations. Naively, a single scalar field in the early universe would suffice to produce all of them. This will be the topic of next chapter.

3 Single-field slow-roll inflation

Single-field slow-roll inflation is the earliest successful attempt in explaining CMB temperature fluctuations. In this chapter, we look into single-field slow-roll inflation at background and perturbation levels. We then examine power-law and inflection point potentials for single-field slow-roll inflation, which are compared against CMB observations.

3.1 Background evolution

In the case of a single-field slow-roll inflation, we can start from the Einstein-Hilbert action with a real scalar inflaton ϕ :

$$S \equiv \int \sqrt{-g} \,\mathrm{d}^4 x \left(\frac{M_\mathrm{p}^2}{16\pi} R - \frac{1}{2} \partial^\mu \phi \partial_\mu \phi - V(\phi) \right), \qquad (3.1)$$

where the determinant is defined as

$$g \equiv \det(g_{\mu\nu}),\tag{3.2}$$

and the Planck mass is defined as $M_{\rm p} \equiv 1/\sqrt{G}$. The definition of the Ricci scalar R can be found in many general relativity or cosmology textbooks, such as [109]. We have picked the sign convention of space-time metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ as (-, +, +, +). Greek indices go through 0, 1, 2, 3 for the four space-time dimensions, and Latin ones correspond to 1, 2, 3 only for the three spatial dimensions.

The metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ and the inflaton ϕ are functions of space and time in general. Assuming a mostly homogenous initial condition for single-field slow-roll inflation, where the perturbative approach is feasible, we can expand spatial perturbations order by order,

 as^9

$$g_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu}) = \bar{g}_{\mu\nu}(t) + \delta g_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu}),$$
 (3.3)

$$\phi(x^{\mu}) = \bar{\phi}(t) + \delta\phi(x^{\mu}), \qquad (3.4)$$

where the bars on top indicate background solution, and the δ 's in front indicate perturbations which are space-time dependent. Throughout this thesis, we will simply drop the bars on top for background evolutions. Symbols without a δ in front would automatically indicate the background, unless explicit spatial dependences are specified. The background FRW metric can be written as (in flat space)

$$g_{\mu\nu} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & a^2(t) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & a^2(t) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & a^2(t) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.5)

The parameterization a(t) is known as the *scale factor*, parameterizing the "size" of the universe.

Now we solve the background dynamics of inflation, whose review can be found in [45]. We define the relative expansion rate of the universe as

$$H \equiv \frac{\mathrm{d}a}{\mathrm{a}\mathrm{d}t},\tag{3.6}$$

which is known as the *Hubble rate*. The Hubble rate is determined by the Friedmann equation

$$H^2 = \frac{8\pi\rho}{3M_{\rm p}^2},$$
(3.7)

where ρ is the total energy density of the universe. During single-field slow-roll inflation,

⁹ Inflation may also take place if the inhomogeneity is large, for example in the case of chaotic inflation and multi-verse [37, 74, 126]. We will not discuss these possibilities in the thesis.

we have

$$\rho = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2 + V(\phi).$$
(3.8)

The equation of motion of the inflaton ϕ at background level can be derived from Eq. (3.1) as

$$\ddot{\phi} + 3H\dot{\phi} + V'(\phi) = 0,$$
(3.9)

where = d/dt, and primes on potentials indicate derivatives w.r.t the field.

In an expanding universe, the Hubble rate acts as a friction force for oscillating fields. When the friction is strong enough, ϕ becomes over-damped. This requires the conditions

$$\epsilon_{\phi} \equiv \frac{4\pi V'^2}{9M_{\rm p}^2 H^4} = \frac{M_{\rm p}^2 V'^2}{16\pi\rho^2} < 1,$$
(3.10)

$$\eta_{\phi} \equiv \frac{V''}{3H^2} = \frac{M_{\rm p}^2 V''}{8\pi\rho}, \qquad |\eta_{\phi}| < 1.$$
 (3.11)

The parameters ϵ_{ϕ} and η_{ϕ} are called the *first* and *second slow-roll parameters* for ϕ respectively. Similarly, Eq. (3.10) and Eq. (3.11) are the *slow-roll conditions* for ϕ . When the slow-roll conditions are well satisfied, i.e. $\epsilon_{\phi} \ll 1$ and $|\eta_{\phi}| \ll 1$, the slow-roll parameters ϵ_{ϕ} and η_{ϕ} can be regarded as small variables, which then enable ϕ to roll very slowly. In such cases, we only need to care about the leading order contributions from ϵ_{ϕ} and η_{ϕ} , which is the so called *slow-roll approximation*.

When the slow-roll approximation holds, we can find

$$\ddot{\phi} \ll 3H\dot{\phi} \approx -V'(\phi),$$
 (3.12)

$$\dot{\phi}^2 \ll V(\phi). \tag{3.13}$$

Therefore, potential energy will dominate over kinetic energy during slow roll. Potential energy then drives inflation because it is not diluted by universe expansion. The kinetic term also changes slowly enough, so the second order derivative in the equation of motion
becomes negligible at background level. The Hubble rate and the equation of motion then become

$$H^2 = \frac{8\pi V}{3M_{\rm p}^2},\tag{3.14}$$

and

$$3H\dot{\phi} + V'(\phi) = 0. \tag{3.15}$$

For single-field slow-roll inflation, we can confirm the following relations

$$\epsilon_{\phi} = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \frac{1}{H} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\ln H}{\mathrm{d}N}, \qquad (3.16)$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln\epsilon_{\phi}}{\mathrm{d}N} = -4\epsilon_{\phi} + 2\eta_{\phi}, \qquad (3.17)$$

where N, the number of remaining e-folds of the universe expansion till a specific point, e.g. the end of inflation, is defined as

$$\mathrm{d}N \equiv -H\mathrm{d}t,\tag{3.18}$$

or alternatively

$$a(N) = a(N_0)e^{N_0 - N}, (3.19)$$

for any reference point at $N = N_0$, where we have chosen the e-folding N as the time measure. Since the slow-roll conditions are only well satisfied for $\epsilon_{\phi} \ll 1$ and $|\eta_{\phi}| \ll 1$, single-field slow-roll inflation is terminated when either $\epsilon_{\phi} \ge 1$ or $|\eta_{\phi}| \ge 1$ is satisfied.

One important concept in the expanding universe is the total distance a photon can travel in the future, assuming the Hubble rate is kept constant. It is known as the *event horizon* of the universe. The comoving event horizon at any time t_0 is

$$\int_{t_0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{a(t)} = \int_{t_0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{a_0 e^{H(t-t_0)}} = \frac{1}{a_0 H_0}.$$
(3.20)

For inflation, the value of comoving event horizon coincides with the *comoving Hub*ble radius, $1/a_0H_0$, which is the universe expansion rate in length scale. The volume enclosed by the comoving Hubble radius is the *Hubble patch*. Scales much smaller than the comoving Hubble radius are called *sub-Hubble*, and those much larger are *super-Hubble*. As the universe expands, equilibrium can only be established on sub-Hubble scales (if not pre-established).

When the universe is dominated by a perfect fluid with constant equation of state parameter w, its energy density has the power-law relation [15]

$$\rho \propto a^{-3(1+w)}.\tag{3.21}$$

This indicates the comoving Hubble radius would follow

$$\frac{1}{aH} \propto a^{\frac{1}{2}(1+3w)}.$$
 (3.22)

In the Hot Big Bang, the universe starts with relativistic particles, and cools down gradually during expansion. As the temperature drops, the universe moves from radiation dominated era to matter dominated era. The radiation dominated and matter dominated eras correspond to the equations of state w = 1/3 and w = 0 respectively, so the comoving Hubble radius would always be increasing as the universe expands. Consequently, the Hot Big Bang does not have a convincing mechanism to form thermal equilibrium on the LSS. This is one of the major difficulties of the Hot Big Bang theory.

Inflation solves the difficulty with the (near) exponential expansion phase. According to Eq. (3.16), for $\epsilon_{\phi} \ll 1$, the Hubble rate (and hence the energy density) decreases very slowly per e-fold of universe expansion. This means the universe is dominated by a near cosmological constant during inflation, from ϕ whose the equation of state is almost -1. The comoving Hubble radius therefore decreases during inflation, according to Eq. (3.22), which allows a pre-established thermal equilibrium on the LSS if inflation lasts sufficiently long.

The evolution of ϕ can be solved from the background equation of motion Eq. (3.12),

as

$$\frac{8\pi V(\phi)}{M_{\rm p}^2 V'(\phi)} \mathrm{d}\phi = \mathrm{d}N. \tag{3.23}$$

When either of the slow-roll parameters reaches $\mathcal{O}(1)$, the single-field slow-roll inflation will come to an end. This allows us to define the end of single-field slow-roll inflation as

$$N = N_e \text{ at } \max(\epsilon_{\phi}, |\eta_{\phi}|) = 1, \qquad (3.24)$$

where we use the subscript e for the end of inflation.

3.2 First order perturbations

During inflation, perturbations can exist in fields and/or the metric. We are only interested in scalar fields, so their perturbations will be discussed in Section 3.2.1. The metric is a 4×4 real symmetric matrix, with 10 total degrees of freedom. They can be decomposed into 4 scalar degrees of freedom (see Eq. (3.25)), 4 vector degrees of freedom, and 2 tensor degrees of freedom. The scalar perturbations couple with the energy density and pressure inhomogeneities; the vector perturbations are normally redshifted away as the universe expands; the tensor perturbations do not couple with other inhomogeneities, but only depend on the energy scale of inflation. Therefore, we are interested in the scalar and tensor perturbations, and treat them separately in this section. (See [15, 45, 47, 48, 127] for a review.)

3.2.1 Scalar perturbations

First order scalar perturbations appear in both the metric and the field. The field perturbation is simply $\delta\phi(x^{\mu})$, as defined in Eq. (3.4). The most generic form of the



Figure 5: We are free to choose any gauge in the universe, such as those shown in blue, red or green. The choice of gauge should not affect any physical process or quantity. The solid and dashed black curves illustrate the exponential universe expansion during inflation. The horizontal and vertical axes are for the physical spatial and time dimensions respectively.

metric perturbations can be written as¹⁰

$$\delta g_{\mu\nu} = \begin{pmatrix} -2A & \partial_i B \\ \\ \partial_i B & a^2(-2C\delta_{i,j} + D_{ij}E) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.25)$$

where A, B, C, E correspond to different scalar perturbation modes which are in general space-time dependent. Here

$$D_{ij} \equiv \partial_i \partial_j - \frac{1}{3} \delta_{i,j} \nabla^2.$$
(3.26)

Then we are left with five scalar perturbations $\delta \phi$, A, B, C, and E. There are however unphysical degrees of freedom in them. The same physical process can be por-¹⁰ Here we perturb the metric with physical time, not the conformal time. trayed with different sets of the perturbations by choosing a different reference frame, or gauge/slicing, as shown in Figure 5. We will use tilde for the variables after transformations. So consider the infinitesimal local space-time transformation in comoving coordinates:

$$x^{\mu} \to \tilde{x}^{\mu} = x^{\mu} + \delta x^{\mu}, \qquad (3.27)$$

in which the transformation δx^{μ} can depend on the space-time coordinates x^{μ} .

The field perturbation $\delta\phi$ follows the single transformation rule as

$$\delta\phi \to \widetilde{\delta\phi} = \delta\phi - \dot{\phi}\delta x^0. \tag{3.28}$$

Regarding the metric perturbations, any space-time line element should remain invariant, $\widetilde{\mathrm{d}s^2} = \mathrm{d}s^2$, from

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 = (g_{\mu\nu} + \delta g_{\mu\nu})\mathrm{d}x^{\mu}\mathrm{d}x^{\nu} \tag{3.29}$$

 to

$$\widetilde{\mathrm{d}s^2} = (g_{\mu\nu} + \widetilde{\delta g_{\mu\nu}}) \mathrm{d}\tilde{x}^{\mu} \mathrm{d}\tilde{x}^{\nu}.$$
(3.30)

The transformation rule of A, B, C, E can thus be solved as follows [15, 45, 47, 48, 127].

Before the coordinate transformation, the original line element is expressed in Eq. (3.29). It can be expanded in the form

$$ds^{2} = (g_{\mu\nu} + \delta g_{\mu\nu})dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}$$

$$= -(1+2A)(dx^{0})^{2} + a^{2}\sum_{i=1}^{3} (1-2C+2\partial_{i}\partial_{i}E)(dx^{i})^{2}$$

$$+2\partial_{i}Bdx^{0}dx^{i} + a^{2}\sum_{i\neq j}\partial_{i}\partial_{j}Edx^{i}dx^{j}.$$
(3.31)

After transformation, the new line element (Eq. (3.30)) becomes

$$\widetilde{\mathrm{d}s^{2}} = \left(g_{\mu\nu} + \widetilde{\delta g_{\mu\nu}}\right) \mathrm{d}\tilde{x}^{\mu} \mathrm{d}\tilde{x}^{\nu}$$

$$= -\left(1 + 2\widetilde{A} + 2\partial_{0}\delta x^{0}\right) \left(\mathrm{d}x^{0}\right)^{2}$$

$$+ a^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \left(1 - 2\widetilde{C} + 2\partial_{i}\partial_{i}\widetilde{E} + 2\partial_{i}\delta x^{i} + 2H\delta x^{0}\right) \left(\mathrm{d}x^{i}\right)^{2}$$

$$+ \left(2\partial_{i}\widetilde{B} - \partial_{i}\delta x^{0} + a^{2}\partial_{0}\delta x^{i}\right) \mathrm{d}x^{0} \mathrm{d}x^{i}$$

$$+ 2a^{2} \sum_{i>j} \left(\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\widetilde{E} + \partial_{i}\delta x^{j} + \partial_{j}\delta x^{i}\right) \mathrm{d}x^{i} \mathrm{d}x^{j}. \qquad (3.32)$$

For any line element dx^{μ} , the transformation Eq. (3.27) should leave the length invariant. This hence requires each of the coefficients of $dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}$ to be identical in Eq. (3.31) and Eq. (3.32), i.e.

$$A = \tilde{A} + \partial_0 \delta x^0, \qquad (3.33)$$

$$\forall i, \quad -C + \partial_i \partial_i E = -\widetilde{C} + \partial_i \partial_i \widetilde{E} + \partial_i \delta x^i + H \delta x^0, \quad (3.34)$$

$$\forall i, \quad \partial_i B = \partial_i \widetilde{B} - \partial_i \delta x^0 + a^2 \partial_0 \delta x^i, \qquad (3.35)$$

$$\forall i > j, \quad \partial_i \partial_j E = \partial_i \partial_j \widetilde{E} + \partial_i \delta x^j + \partial_j \delta x^i.$$
(3.36)

The transformation rule for A can then be solved as

$$\widetilde{A} = A - \partial_0 \delta x^0. \tag{3.37}$$

We can decompose the spatial part of the coordinate transformation by defining β and v^i as

$$\delta x^i = \partial^i (a^2 \beta) + v^i, \qquad \partial_i v^i = 0. \tag{3.38}$$

 β contributes to the change in the scalar metric perturbations, while the "transverse vector" v^i only contributes to the vector perturbations, and thus is not of interest here. The decomposition reshapes Eq. (3.35) into

$$\partial_i \Big[\widetilde{B} - B - \delta x^0 + \partial_0 (a^2 \beta) \Big] = -a^2 \partial_0 v^i, \qquad (3.39)$$

from which we can find the transformation rule for B, as

$$\widetilde{B} = B + \delta x^0 - \partial_0 (a^2 \beta). \tag{3.40}$$

Similarly, we can derive the transformation rules for C and E:

$$\widetilde{C} = C - \frac{1}{3}\nabla^2\beta + H\delta x^0, \qquad (3.41)$$

$$\widetilde{E} = E - 2\beta. \tag{3.42}$$

In this sense, it is possible to transform the coordinates and the scalar perturbations together, so the physical process remains the same but the perturbations (A, B, C, E, ϕ) become different. This means we have unphysical gauge degrees of freedom in the representation.

There are typically two possible treatments¹¹:

- Construct gauge-invariant variables and limit the calculations to these gaugeinvariant variables as much as possible [15, 127-130].
- Choose the specific gauge that is most convenient for the calculations. The gauge invariance can be recovered later by combining the gauge dependent quantities.

In this thesis, we will employ the second treatment, because the relevant discussions will mostly take place in one gauge – the spatially flat gauge. In the spatially flat gauge, the spatial part of the metric is unperturbed, with $\delta g_{ij} = 0$. This can be achieved from an arbitrary gauge, with the gauge transformation that eliminates E and C (defined in Eq. (3.25)), as

$$\beta = \frac{1}{2}E, \qquad H\delta x^0 = -C - \frac{1}{6}\nabla^2 E.$$
 (3.43)

The gauge degrees of freedom are then completely fixed by the transformation.

In the spatially flat gauge, the spatial part of the metric is a multiple of the identity matrix in Cartesian spatial coordinates. This allows the remaining metric perturbations

¹¹ For a review and/or lecture notes on cosmological perturbations, see [15, 45, 47, 48, 127].

A, B to decouple from the field perturbation $\delta\phi$ in the perturbed action at leading order, as can be seen from Eq. (3.1). We can extract the leading order perturbed action coming from the field perturbation $\delta\phi$, as¹²

$$\delta S(\delta\phi) = -\frac{1}{2} \int a^3 \mathrm{d}^4 x \left(\partial^\mu \delta\phi \partial_\mu \delta\phi + V''(\phi) \delta\phi^2 \right). \tag{3.44}$$

This yields the equation of motion for the field perturbation

$$\ddot{\delta\phi} + 3H\dot{\delta\phi} + V''(\phi)\delta\phi - \partial_i\partial^i\delta\phi = 0.$$
(3.45)

After Fourier transformation, in the momentum space it becomes

$$\ddot{\delta\phi}_{\mathbf{k}} + 3H\dot{\delta\phi}_{\mathbf{k}} + \left(V''(\phi) + \frac{k^2}{a^2}\right)\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}} = 0, \qquad (3.46)$$

where

$$\delta\phi_{\mathbf{k}} \equiv \int \mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{x} \,\delta\phi(\mathbf{x}) e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}}.\tag{3.47}$$

This is a harmonic oscillator with a friction force and a varying mass term, which cannot be quantized directly. We only know how to quantize a canonical harmonic oscillator with a constant mass in a flat space-time. So we switch to the variables

$$\mathrm{d}\tau \equiv \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{a},\tag{3.48}$$

$$\psi \equiv a\delta\phi, \tag{3.49}$$

where τ is called the *conformal time*. The relevant action then becomes

$$\delta S(\psi) = \int d^3 \mathbf{x} d\tau \left[\frac{1}{2} \psi'^2 - aH\psi'\psi + \frac{1}{2} \left(H^2 - V''(\phi) \right) a^2 \psi^2 - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^3 (\partial_i \psi)^2 \right], \quad (3.50)$$

where the definition $' \equiv d/d\tau$ only holds in this section of the thesis.

Given an arbitrary function of perturbation ψ and (conformal) space-time, $f(\psi, \mathbf{x}, \tau)$,

we can add its total derivative w.r.t space \mathbf{x} or time τ into the Lagrangian density. This

¹² The first order perturbations are always zero because their coefficients are required to vanish by the equations of motion at background level.

does not change the physics of the system, so we add $\frac{1}{2} \int d^3 \mathbf{x} d\tau [d(aH\psi^2)/d\tau]$ into Eq. (3.50), which gives the new action

$$\delta S(\psi) = \int d^3 \mathbf{x} d\tau \left[\frac{1}{2} \psi'^2 + \left(H^2 + \frac{1}{2} \dot{H} - \frac{1}{2} V''(\phi) \right) a^2 \psi^2 - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^3 (\partial_i \psi)^2 \right], \quad (3.51)$$

Now ψ has become a canonical harmonic oscillator with the equation of motion

$$\psi'' - \left(2H^2 + \dot{H} - V''(\phi)\right)a^2\psi - \sum_{i=1}^3 \partial_i\partial_i\psi = 0.$$
(3.52)

After Fourier transformation, it becomes

$$\psi_{\mathbf{k}}'' + \left[k^2 - (2H^2 + \dot{H} - V''(\phi))a^2\right]\psi_{\mathbf{k}} = 0.$$
(3.53)

Using the slow-roll parameters ϵ_{ϕ} and η_{ϕ} , and according to Eq. (3.11) and Eq. (3.16), we further simplify the equation of motion to

$$\psi_{\mathbf{k}}'' + \left[k^2 - a^2 H^2 (2 - \epsilon_{\phi} - 3\eta_{\phi})\right] \psi_{\mathbf{k}} = 0.$$
(3.54)

We can fix the conformal time τ to be zero at the end of inflation. This would give rise to the simple relation

$$\int_{\tau}^{0} \mathrm{d}\tau = \int_{t}^{t_{e}} \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{a} = \int_{a}^{a_{e}} \frac{\mathrm{d}a}{a^{2}H} \simeq \frac{1}{H} \int_{a}^{a_{e}} \frac{\mathrm{d}a}{a^{2}} \approx \frac{1}{aH}.$$
(3.55)

So with this choice of the conformal time, the conformal time becomes the negative comoving Hubble radius

$$\tau \approx -\frac{1}{aH}.\tag{3.56}$$

The approximations hold in Eq. (3.55) because well before the end of inflation (~ 50 e-folds), the slow-roll parameter $\epsilon_{\phi} \ll 1$, so the universe expands exponentially while the Hubble rate remains almost constant. This approximation has relative error ~ ϵ_{ϕ} . For this reason, when we substitute it back into Eq. (3.54), we also drop the slow-roll parameters in Eq. (3.54). This leads to

$$\psi_{\mathbf{k}}'' + \left(k^2 - \frac{2}{\tau^2}\right)\psi_{\mathbf{k}} = 0.$$
 (3.57)

Now focus on the mass term of the harmonic oscillator. The first term k^2 remains constant. The second term $2/\tau^2 \approx 2a^2H^2$ increases exponentially during inflation. Therefore, any specific perturbation mode with the momentum k may experience two distinct phases of evolution during inflation:

- In the beginning, the momentum dominates the mass term with $|k\tau| \gg 1$. The perturbation $\psi_{\mathbf{k}}$ is a perfect quantum harmonic oscillator.
- As the universe expands exponentially during inflation, the comoving Hubble radius of the universe decreases and the evolution enters $|k\tau| \ll 1$. At this point, the perturbation $\psi_{\mathbf{k}}$ obtains a tachyonic mass and is no longer a quantum harmonic oscillator. The evolution has become classical and is determined by the harmonic oscillator initial conditions during the preceding quantum phase.

Since 1/k is the wavelength of the perturbation, and $|\tau| = 1/aH$ is the comoving Hubble radius of the universe, another way to distinguish the two phases is whether the perturbation mode can fit into one Hubble patch. Perturbations with $|k\tau| \gg 1$ are thus also called *sub-Hubble* perturbations, and those with $|k\tau| \ll 1$ are *super-Hubble* perturbations. In this sense, perturbations may start sub-Hubble during inflation, and gradually become super-Hubble. The time of switching from sub-Hubble to super-Hubble is known as the *Hubble exit*, or *leaving the Hubble patch*.

We use hats for operators in this chapter. The real harmonic oscillator $\psi_{\mathbf{k}}$ can then be quantized as

$$\hat{\psi}_{\mathbf{k}} = v_{\mathbf{k}}\hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}} + v_{-\mathbf{k}}^*\hat{a}_{-\mathbf{k}}^\dagger, \qquad (3.58)$$

where $\hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}}$ and $\hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}'}^{\dagger}$ conform with the commutation relation

$$[\hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}}, \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}'}^{\dagger}] = (2\pi)^3 \delta^3(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}').$$
(3.59)

Also, $v_{\mathbf{k}}$ is a c-number yielding to

$$v_{\mathbf{k}}'' + \left(k^2 - \frac{2}{\tau^2}\right) v_{\mathbf{k}} = 0.$$
 (3.60)

Eq. (3.60) has the solution [109]

$$v_{\mathbf{k}} = \frac{e^{-ik\tau}}{\sqrt{2k}} \left(1 - \frac{i}{k\tau} \right), \tag{3.61}$$

so in the early times where t is sufficiently small or, equivalently, $-\tau$ is sufficiently large, Eq. (3.58) would reduce to the harmonic oscillator solution with

$$\hat{\psi}_{\mathbf{k}} \propto \frac{e^{-ik\tau}}{\sqrt{2k}}.\tag{3.62}$$

The power spectrum of $\psi_{\mathbf{k}}$ is $P_{\psi}(k)$, defined as

$$\langle 0|\hat{\psi}_{\mathbf{k}}\hat{\psi}_{\mathbf{k}'}^{\dagger}|0\rangle = (2\pi)^{3}\delta^{3}(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}')P_{\psi}(k), \qquad (3.63)$$

where, according to the quantization,

$$P_{\psi}(k) = |v_{\mathbf{k}}|^2 = \frac{1}{2k} \left(1 + \frac{1}{k^2 \tau^2} \right).$$
(3.64)

Here we have assumed the vacuum state of the universe $|0\rangle$ is the Bunch-Davis vacuum [131].

With $\tau = -1/aH$ and $\delta \phi = \psi/a$, from Eq. (3.64) we get the power spectrum of $\delta \phi$, (similarly defined,) as

$$P_{\delta\phi}(k) = \frac{H^2}{2k^3} \left(1 + \frac{k^2}{a^2 H^2} \right).$$
(3.65)

Several e-folds after Hubble exit, the second term in the parentheses will become negligible, so the power spectrum of $\delta \phi(\mathbf{k})$ reaches constant:

$$P_{\delta\phi}(k)\Big|_{\text{super-Hubble}} = \frac{H^2}{2k^3}.$$
(3.66)

Therefore, after the perturbation mode leaves the Hubble patch, it gradually stops evolving and becomes *frozen*.

We can recover the time part of the gauge invariance by considering only the time translation

$$x^0 \to \tilde{x}^0 = x^0 + \delta x^0. \tag{3.67}$$

From Eq. (3.28) and Eq. (3.41), we can construct the gauge invariant curvature perturbation by compensating the changes under the time translation Eq. (3.67). The time gauge invariant curvature perturbation ζ can thus be defined as¹³

$$\zeta \equiv C + \frac{H}{\dot{\phi}} \delta \phi. \tag{3.68}$$

Since now ζ is a gauge-invariant quantity, its power spectrum should not depend on the choice of gauge. After the mode **k** freezes, the power spectrum of ζ then becomes

$$P_{\zeta}(k) = P_{\zeta}(k) \Big|_{C=0} = \frac{H^2}{\dot{\phi}^2} P_{\delta\phi}(k) = \frac{2\pi}{k^3} \frac{H^2}{\epsilon_{\phi} M_{\rm p}^2}.$$
 (3.69)

We then expand the power spectrum of ζ around a reference scale k_0 following Eq. (2.15), which provides the spectral index of the scalar perturbations

$$n_{s} \equiv 1 + \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\ln k} \ln \left(k^{3} P_{\zeta}(k)\right)$$
$$= 1 - \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}N} \ln \frac{H^{2}}{\epsilon_{\phi}}$$
$$= 1 - 6\epsilon_{\phi} + 2\eta_{\phi}. \tag{3.70}$$

The running of the spectral index can be derived similarly,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}n_s}{\mathrm{d}\ln k} = 8\epsilon_\phi (-3\epsilon_\phi + 2\eta_\phi) - 2\xi_\phi, \qquad (3.71)$$

where the third slow-roll parameter is defined as

$$\xi_{\phi} \equiv \frac{M_{\rm p}^4 V' V'''}{(8\pi\rho)^2},\tag{3.72}$$

¹³ To further take into account the spatial transformations (for $\mu = 1, 2, 3$ in Eq. (3.27)), the spacetime gauge invariant curvature perturbation can be defined as $\zeta^{(\text{st})} \equiv \zeta + \frac{1}{6}\nabla^2 E$. The extra term is the same for a spacetime gauge invariant curvature perturbation for Eq. (3.75).

with the relation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\eta_{\phi}}{\mathrm{d}N} = \xi_{\phi} - 2\epsilon_{\phi}\eta_{\phi}.$$
(3.73)

The definition of ζ in Eq. (3.68) is obviously only applicable to single-field slowroll inflation. In the more general case, we can consider an adiabatic universe. The energy density perturbation of the universe, $\delta\rho$, transforms under the time translation Eq. (3.67) as

$$\delta\rho \to \widetilde{\delta\rho} = \delta\rho - \dot{\delta\rho}\,\delta x^0. \tag{3.74}$$

This allows us to define the gauge invariant curvature perturbation more generally as

$$\zeta \equiv C + \frac{H}{\dot{\rho}}\delta\rho. \tag{3.75}$$

It can be confirmed easily that Eq. (3.75) reduces to Eq. (3.68) for single-field slow-roll inflation.

3.2.2 Separate universe approach

The above section has explained how perturbations evolve before the Hubble exit. Now the question is how perturbations would evolve after the Hubble exit but before the beginning of Hot Big Bang. It has been known in general, that super-Hubble curvature perturbations are conserved:

- on uniform energy density hypersurfaces/slicings,
- if the universe remains sufficiently adiabatic in the future evolution (i.e. the pressure or the equation of state is a mere function of energy density).

This is known as the *separate universe approach* [132–136], which essentially regards each of the local Hubble patches as a homogenous patch. Each Hubble patch is then perturbed as a whole by the super-Hubble perturbations, and smoothened within so the sub-Hubble perturbations are neglected. When the above two conditions are satisfied, all the Hubble patches on the uniform energy density hypersurface are identical except that each has a different time shift, originated from the super-Hubble curvature perturbations. The separate universe approximation should be valid because the sub-Hubble perturbations, or the gradients from the super-Hubble perturbations, have a vanishing net effect when averaged over all the Hubble patches in the universe.

For single-field slow-roll inflation, the homogenous Hubble patch has only one degree of freedom and is always adiabatic. Therefore, super-Hubble curvature perturbations are always conserved during single-field slow-roll inflation, regardless of the uniform energy density hypersurface chosen.

For the more generic multi-component inflation, (Chapter 4,) extra complications can be involved. The universe may contain non-adiabatic perturbations, which can transfer to curvature perturbation gradually well after the Hubble exit. For this reason, the desired uniform energy density hypersurface can be significantly delayed.

Therefore, as a more generic method using separate universe approach, in this section we study how the field perturbation in the Hubble patch, $\delta\phi$, transfers to curvature perturbation ζ , at or after the Hubble exit. For this purpose, we count the extra number of e-folds of universe expansion for the chosen Hubble patch up to the uniform energy density hypersurface, due to the initial super-Hubble field perturbation $\delta\phi$ on spatially flat hypersurfaces. This extra amount of expansion should then correspond to the scalar perturbation C on uniform energy density hypersurface, or equally the curvature perturbation ζ . This is portrayed in Figure 6. The so-called δN formalism thus reduces the problem into simply solving background evolutions, and then taking the differentiations.

For single-field slow-roll inflation, we have (on spatially flat slicing)

$$\zeta(\mathbf{x}) = \delta N(\mathbf{x}) = N_{\phi} \delta \phi(\mathbf{x}), \qquad (3.76)$$



Figure 6: In the spatially flat gauge (green), the perturbed patches (red) can be evolved to the uniform energy density hypersurface (blue) that fulfills the adiabatic condition. The resulting perturbation in the number of e-folds of the universe expansion then corresponds to the amount of curvature perturbation ζ for every patch. In single-field slow-roll inflation, the uniform energy density hypersurface can be chosen at the Hubble exit as shown. The solid and dashed black curves illustrate the exponential universe expansion during inflation. The horizontal and vertical axes are for the physicsl spatial and time dimensions respectively.

where $\delta \phi(\mathbf{x})$ is the field perturbation on spatially flat hypersurfaces. According to Eq. (3.23),

$$N_{\phi} \equiv \frac{\partial N}{\partial \phi} = \frac{8\pi V(\phi)}{M_{\rm p}^2 V'(\phi)}.$$
(3.77)

Since single-field slow-roll inflation is always adiabatic, we can pick the uniform energy density hypersurface right at the Hubble exit as shown in Figure 6. Therefore the field perturbation $\delta \phi(\mathbf{x})$ in the location space does not evolve after Hubble exit. This immediately gives

$$\zeta_{\mathbf{k}} = N_{\phi} \delta \phi_{\mathbf{k}}, \tag{3.78}$$

with the power spectrum

$$P_{\zeta}(k) = N_{\phi}^2 P_{\delta\phi}(k) = \frac{2\pi}{k^3} \frac{H^2}{\epsilon_{\phi} M_{\rm p}^2}.$$
 (3.79)

As we have seen, it easily reduces to Eq. (3.69) in the single-field slow-roll inflation scenario.

The spectral index and its running can then be obtained straightforwardly. For example,

$$n_{s} \equiv 1 + \frac{\mathrm{d}\ln k^{3} P_{\zeta}(k)}{\mathrm{d}\ln k}$$

$$= 1 - \frac{\mathrm{d}\ln k^{3} P_{\zeta}(k)}{\mathrm{d}N}$$

$$= 1 - \frac{2 \mathrm{d}\ln N_{\phi}}{\mathrm{d}N} - \frac{\mathrm{d}\ln k^{3} P_{\delta\phi}(k)}{\mathrm{d}N}$$

$$= 1 - \frac{2N_{\phi\phi}}{N_{\phi}} \phi' - \frac{\mathrm{d}\ln H^{2}}{\mathrm{d}N}$$

$$= 1 - 6\epsilon_{\phi} + 2\eta_{\phi}, \qquad (3.80)$$

where $\phi' \equiv d\phi/dN$, and $N_{\phi\phi} \equiv \partial N_{\phi}/\partial \phi$. So it also recovers Eq. (3.70).

We can also look at the problem in location space completely. Starting from Eq. (3.76), the power spectrum of field perturbation in the location space is defined as¹⁴

$$\langle 0|\widehat{\delta\phi}(\mathbf{x})\widehat{\delta\phi}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x})|0\rangle = P_{\delta\phi}(\mathbf{x}).$$
(3.81)

¹⁴ Note again that hats are used for quantum operators.

Therefore,

$$P_{\delta\phi}(\mathbf{x}) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^3} P_{\delta\phi}(k) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int H^2 \mathrm{d}\ln k.$$
(3.82)

The curvature perturbation then follows

$$P_{\zeta}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{\pi M_{\rm p}^2} \int \frac{H^2}{\epsilon_{\phi}} \mathrm{d}\ln k.$$
(3.83)

From the above equations, we can obviously see that perturbations receive contributions from all the super-Hubble modes. We will discuss the infrared and ultraviolet divergences of the integral shortly, but let us first look at the strength of quantum fluctuations compared with classical motion.

Eq. (3.82) tells us that for every e-fold of inflation, the field perturbation $\delta\phi(\mathbf{x})$ typically gains the extra amount $\sim \pm H/2\pi$. At the same time, the classical slow-roll motion of the inflaton ϕ contributes by the amount $\sim d\phi/dN$. The relative strength of quantum fluctuations can be written as

$$\frac{H}{2\pi} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\phi}{\mathrm{d}N}\right)^{-1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi\epsilon_{\phi}}} \frac{H}{M_{\mathrm{p}}}.$$
(3.84)

When this ratio is much smaller than unity, quantum fluctuations are much weaker than classical slow roll. In the opposite limit, the motion of field is dominated by quantum fluctuations, and we can also say the field is *frozen*.

It is worth noting that the above calculations are only applicable to single-field slowroll inflation. When multiple components coexist in the universe, such as in Chapter 4, the choice of uniform energy density hypersurface must agree with the adiabatic condition. The earliest possible choice may be well after the Hubble exit. In such case, we can either evolve the field perturbation $\delta\phi$ from the Hubble exit to the hypersurface, or the corresponding N_{ϕ} from the hypersurface back to the Hubble exit. In either way, their product $\delta N = N_{\phi}\delta\phi$ should follow the correct evolution. Let us now turn back to the observational divergences in the integrals in Eq. (3.82)and Eq. (3.83). The ultraviolet divergence has several suppressions and cut-offs. For example, our limited resolution of the observations cannot observe perturbations of too small scales, and this introduces a hard cut-off to the ultraviolet divergence. The physical divergences, on the other hand, can only be resolved by fundamental theories, which are beyond the scope of the thesis.

To deal with the infrared divergence, let us think what $P_{\zeta}(\mathbf{x})$ represents in the observations. We can only see perturbations within our current Hubble patch, so we cannot compare them with patches too distant away. In this sense, perturbations with scales much larger than the Hubble size today should have only suppressed contributions to our observed $P_{\zeta}(\mathbf{x})$, indicated with $P_{\zeta}^{(ob)}(\mathbf{x})$. They only produce gradient effects within our Hubble patch, which are exponentially suppressed towards the infrared limit.

In particular, suppose only the limited spatial region \mathcal{R} is visible to us. For any observable spatial function $f(\mathbf{x})$, the observed power spectrum of perturbations in the location space can be written as

$$P_{f}^{(\text{ob})} \equiv \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3}} \left\langle \overline{|f - \bar{f}|^{2}} \right\rangle = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3}} \left(\left\langle |f|^{2} \right\rangle - \left\langle \left|\bar{f}\right|^{2} \right\rangle \right), \tag{3.85}$$

where the top bar means averaging over the visible region \mathcal{R} , as

$$\bar{f} = \overline{f(\mathbf{x})} \equiv \frac{1}{|\mathcal{R}|} \int_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{R}} f(\mathbf{x}) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}, \qquad (3.86)$$

and the volume of ${\mathcal R}$ is defined as

$$|\mathcal{R}| \equiv \int_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{R}} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}.$$
 (3.87)

At this point we do not specify the dimension or geometry of \mathcal{R} .

Let us define the power spectrum of f in the Fourier space as

$$\langle f_{\mathbf{k}} f_{\mathbf{k}'}^* \rangle = (2\pi)^3 \delta^3 (\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}') P_f(k).$$
(3.88)

The first term of Eq. (3.85) can then be calculated at ease

$$\langle |f|^2 \rangle = \int \mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k} P_f(k).$$
 (3.89)

The second terms requires some calculation

$$\left\langle \left| \bar{f} \right|^{2} \right\rangle = \left\langle \left| \overline{f(\mathbf{x})} \right|^{2} \right\rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{2|\mathcal{R}|^{2}} \int_{\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}' \in \mathcal{R}} d\mathbf{x} d\mathbf{x}' \left\langle f(\mathbf{x}) f^{*}(\mathbf{x}') + h.c \right\rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{2|\mathcal{R}|^{2}} \int d^{3}\mathbf{k} P_{f}(k) \int_{\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}' \in \mathcal{R}} d\mathbf{x} d\mathbf{x}' \left[e^{i\mathbf{k} \cdot (\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}')} + c.c \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{|\mathcal{R}|^{2}} \int d^{3}\mathbf{k} P_{f}(k) \int_{\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}' \in \mathcal{R}} d\mathbf{x} d\mathbf{x}' \cos \mathbf{k} \cdot (\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}')$$

$$= \int d^{3}\mathbf{k} P_{f}(k) \left[\left(\overline{\cos \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x}} \right)^{2} + \left(\overline{\sin \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x}} \right)^{2} \right],$$

$$(3.90)$$

where h.c and c.c indicate the Hermitian conjugate and the complex conjugate respectively.

In our universe, the visible region \mathcal{R} is spherically symmetric. The second term in the parentheses of Eq. (3.90) thus vanishes. For the visible and dark matter, we can see perturbations with different distances from us, within the ball of radius r_{\max} , i.e. $\mathcal{R} = \{\mathbf{x} | x \leq r_{\max}\}$. For such cases, the average becomes

$$\overline{\cos \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x}} \equiv \frac{1}{|\mathcal{R}|} \int_{x \le r_{\max}} \cos(\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x}) d\mathbf{x}$$
$$= \frac{3}{r_{\max}^3} \int_0^{r_{\max}} r^2 dr \, \frac{\sin kr}{kr}$$
$$= \frac{3}{\theta^3} (\sin \theta - \theta \cos \theta), \qquad (3.91)$$

where we have defined the dimensionless variable

$$\theta \equiv k r_{\text{max}}.\tag{3.92}$$

Therefore using Eq. (3.91), we get the observed power spectrum in a ball

$$P_{f}^{(ob)}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3}} \left(\left\langle |f|^{2} \right\rangle - \left\langle |\bar{f}|^{2} \right\rangle \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi^{2}} \int dk k^{2} P_{f}(k) \left[1 - \frac{9}{\theta^{6}} (\sin \theta - \theta \cos \theta)^{2} \right]$$
$$= \frac{k_{0}^{3} P_{f}(k_{0})}{2\pi^{2}} \int \frac{d\theta}{\theta} \left[1 - \frac{9}{\theta^{6}} (\sin \theta - \theta \cos \theta)^{2} \right], \qquad (3.93)$$

where in the last step, we have assumed a scale-invariant power spectrum

$$k^{3}P_{f}(k) = k_{0}^{3}P_{f}(k_{0}),$$
 for any $k.$ (3.94)

Now in the infrared limit where $k \to 0$ or equivalently $\theta \to 0$, the term being integrated in Eq. (3.93) is equal to $\theta/5$. So the observed power spectrum does not have any infrared singularity within our observed Hubble patch.

Similarly, the CMB is only emitted from the LSS sphere. Therefore the averaging should take place for all directions, but only at a fixed radius $r_{\rm ls}$, which is our comoving distance to the LSS. This corresponds to $\mathcal{R} = \{\mathbf{x} | x = r_{\rm ls}\}$, giving

$$\overline{\cos \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x}} \equiv \frac{1}{|\mathcal{R}|} \int_{x=r_{\rm ls}} \cos(\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x}) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} = \frac{\sin \theta}{\theta}, \qquad (3.95)$$

where we have redefined the dimensionless variable

$$\theta \equiv k r_{\rm ls}.\tag{3.96}$$

The observed power spectrum on a sphere then becomes

$$P_f^{(ob)}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \int dk k^2 P_f(k) \left(1 - \frac{\sin^2 \theta}{\theta^2}\right)$$
$$= \frac{k_0^3 P_f(k_0)}{2\pi^2} \int \frac{d\theta}{\theta} \left(1 - \frac{\sin^2 \theta}{\theta^2}\right), \qquad (3.97)$$

where we have similarly assumed a scale invariant power spectrum. The term being integrated is proportional to $\theta/3$ in the $k \to 0$ limit, so the infrared divergence is similarly resolved for the CMB. This can also be seen in Figure 7.



Figure 7: The integral in Eq. (3.97) is shown as a function of its integral lower bound. The infrared cutoff, $k_{\min}r_{\rm ls}$, is infrared safe because it converges as $k_{\min} \rightarrow 0$. The upper bound of the integral is taken e^2 for demonstration.

Since the integral in Eq. (3.97) is an $\mathcal{O}(1)$ model independent constant, we can abandon it by redefining the power spectrum as

$$\mathcal{P}_f \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi^2} k_0^3 P_f(k_0). \tag{3.98}$$

Then the field perturbation and curvature perturbation will have the power spectra
[132–136]

$$\mathcal{P}_{\delta\phi} = \frac{H^2}{4\pi^2},\tag{3.99}$$

and

$$\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} = \frac{H^2}{\pi \epsilon_{\phi} M_{\rm p}^2}.\tag{3.100}$$

3.2.3 Tensor perturbations

The primordial scalar perturbations are responsible for the CMB temperature fluctuations we see today. The tensor perturbations, on the other hand, produce polarization fluctuations in the CMB. The tensor perturbations have only two degrees of freedom. For a photon traveling in the z direction, they act on the flat FRW metric in the form of¹⁵

$$\delta g_{\mu\nu} = \frac{a^2}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & h_+ & h_\times & 0 \\ 0 & h_\times & -h_+ & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.101)

The variables h_+ and h_{\times} are the two independent modes of the tensor perturbations. Such perturbations will induce the perturbation in the action

$$\delta S(h_+, h_{\times}) = \frac{M_{\rm p}^2}{64\pi} \int a^3 \mathrm{d}^4 x \sum_{i=+,\times} \left[\frac{1}{2} \dot{h}_i^2 - \frac{1}{2} (\partial_z h_i)^2 \right].$$
(3.102)

From Eq. (3.102), we find that each of the tensor perturbations corresponds to a plane wave solution traveling along the z direction. We simply need to canonicalize the 15 For a review or textbook, see [15, 45, 47, 48, 109, 127].

fields by switching to the conformal time τ , and defining (while neglecting the subscripts because both tensor modes act identically and independently)

$$\tilde{h} \equiv \frac{aM_{\rm p}}{8\sqrt{\pi}}h. \tag{3.103}$$

So the new perturbed action becomes (for each of the tensor perturbations)

$$\delta S(\tilde{h}) = \int d^3 \mathbf{x} d\tau \left[\frac{1}{2} \tilde{h}'^2 + \left(H^2 + \frac{1}{2} \dot{H} \right) a^2 \tilde{h}^2 - \frac{1}{2} (\partial_z \tilde{h})^2 \right].$$
(3.104)

Now we are able to quantize \tilde{h} following the routine in Section 3.2.1. This gives the power spectrum of \tilde{h}

$$P_{\tilde{h}}(k) = \frac{1}{2k} \left(1 + \frac{1}{k^2 \tau^2} \right), \qquad (3.105)$$

and hence the power spectrum of the tensor perturbations h well after the Hubble exit

$$P_t(k) \equiv P_h(k) = \frac{32\pi H^2}{k^3 M_p^2},$$
(3.106)

where the subscript t represents tensor perturbations. Since the power spectrum of the tensor perturbations only depends on the energy scale of inflation, the measurement of the tensor perturbations is very helpful in determining how early inflation took place [137].

In practice, the power spectrum $P_t(k_0)$ is rarely used when referring to the strength of tensor perturbations. More often, the relative strength of tensor perturbations w.r.t scalar perturbation is used. This parameter is called the *tensor-to-scalar ratio*, and is defined as

$$r \equiv \frac{\mathcal{P}_t}{\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}} = 16\epsilon_{\phi},\tag{3.107}$$

where the last equal sign holds only for single-field slow-roll inflation. Note the power spectrum we have used is similarly defined for tensor perturbations according to Eq. (3.98), as

$$\mathcal{P}_t = \frac{16H^2}{\pi M_{\rm p}^2}.$$
(3.108)

The Planck observations have not found any tensor perturbation with r < 0.11 at 95% CL, and neither has BICEP with r < 0.07 [26, 119, 138]. This immediately gives the upper bound for inflation energy scale

$$\rho^{\frac{1}{4}} = \left(\frac{3r\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}{128}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} M_{\rm p} < 1.6 \times 10^{-3} M_{\rm p}. \tag{3.109}$$

3.3 Higher order perturbations

As explained in Section 2.2 and Section 2.3, observations in the CMB temperature fluctuations may find possible deviations from pure Gaussian perturbations. These non-Gaussianities may come from primordial cosmology, such as inflation. In Eq. (2.34), we have shown how the non-Gaussian curvature perturbation ζ can induce a non-vanishing three-point correlation function on the CMB temperature map. In this section, we will discuss how single-field slow-roll inflation produces primordial non-Gaussianity, in terms of local $f_{\rm NL}$, $\tau_{\rm NL}$ and $g_{\rm NL}$, and therefore how they will be constrained by recent observations. (See Section 2.2 and Section 2.3 for definitions, and [113,139] for a review.)

The δN formalism proves to be an effective approach for higher order perturbations. For single-field slow-roll inflation, every smoothened Hubble patch has only one degree of freedom – the inflaton $\phi(\mathbf{x})$. Therefore we can always write the number of remaining e-folds of inflation as a function of inflaton in the background evolution $N(\phi)$. Previously in Section 3.2.2, we have expanded $N(\phi)$ up to linear order in Eq. (3.76). More generically, it can be expanded to higher orders as [140–142]

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta(\mathbf{x}) &= \delta N(\mathbf{x}) \\ &= N_{\phi} \delta \phi(\mathbf{x}) + \frac{1}{2} N_{\phi\phi} \left(\delta \phi^2(\mathbf{x}) - \langle \delta \phi^2(\mathbf{x}) \rangle \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{6} N_{\phi\phi\phi} \delta \phi^3(\mathbf{x}) + \text{higher order.} \end{aligned}$$
(3.110)

In Eq. (3.110), including the $\langle \delta \phi^2(\mathbf{x}) \rangle$ term is to ensure the expectation value of

curvature perturbation vanishes strictly $\langle \zeta(\mathbf{x}) \rangle = 0$. Knowing that $\delta \phi(\mathbf{x})$ is a Gaussian variable, by comparing Eq. (2.32) with Eq. (3.110), we can find the Gaussian part of curvature perturbation easily

$$\zeta_G(\mathbf{x}) = N_\phi \delta \phi(\mathbf{x}). \tag{3.111}$$

Replacing $\delta \phi(\mathbf{x})$ with $\zeta_G(\mathbf{x})/N_{\phi}$, Eq. (3.110) becomes

$$\zeta(\mathbf{x}) = \zeta_G(\mathbf{x}) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{N_{\phi\phi}}{N_{\phi}^2} \left(\zeta_G^2(\mathbf{x}) - \langle \zeta_G^2(\mathbf{x}) \rangle \right) + \frac{1}{6} \frac{N_{\phi\phi\phi}}{N_{\phi}^3} \zeta_G^3(\mathbf{x}) + \text{higher order}, \quad (3.112)$$

which corresponds to [140-142]

$$f_{\rm NL} = \frac{5}{6} \frac{N_{\phi\phi}}{N_{\phi}^2},\tag{3.113}$$

and

$$g_{\rm NL} = \frac{25}{54} \frac{N_{\phi\phi\phi}}{N_{\phi}^3}.$$
 (3.114)

Therefore $f_{\rm NL}$ and $g_{\rm NL}$ can be calculated easily based on δN formalism. Note however that the above expressions are in general scale dependent, because N_{ϕ} , $N_{\phi\phi}$ and $N_{\phi\phi\phi}$ can change during inflation. This feature should be interpreted as the scale dependences of local non-Gaussianities, an extension of Eq. (2.26) or Eq. (2.42).

The parameter $\tau_{\rm NL}$ comes from the second order effect of local $f_{\rm NL}$ on the CMB tri-spectrum. In single-field slow-roll inflation, there is only one degree of freedom ϕ that may produce the curvature perturbation. Therefore, the simple relation holds

$$\tau_{\rm NL} = \frac{36}{25} f_{\rm NL}^2. \tag{3.115}$$

Higher order derivatives of N can be derived from its first order derivative in Eq. (3.77). The local non-Gaussianities can then be expressed in terms of the slow-roll

parameters [141–143]

$$f_{\rm NL} = \frac{5}{6} (2\epsilon_{\phi} - \eta_{\phi}),$$
 (3.116)

$$g_{\rm NL} = \frac{25}{54} \left[2\eta_{\phi} (\eta_{\phi} - \epsilon_{\phi}) - \xi_{\phi} \right],$$
 (3.117)

$$\tau_{\rm NL} = (2\epsilon_{\phi} - \eta_{\phi})^2.$$
 (3.118)

3.4 Testing single-field slow-roll inflation with the CMB

Before diving into the models of single-field slow-roll inflation, we first briefly summarize the cosmological observables that can be utilized to test inflationary models. Based on the previous contents in Chapter 2 and Chapter 3, we can construct Table 1.

Since all the energy scale free¹⁶ cosmological observables of single-field slow-roll inflation can be expressed in terms of slow-roll parameters, single-field slow-roll inflation has to satisfy a series of consistency relations including [142, 143]

$$\left(n_s - 1 + \frac{1}{8}r\right)^2 = 4\tau_{\rm NL} = \frac{144}{25}f_{\rm NL}^2,\tag{3.119}$$

$$\left(n_s - 1 + \frac{1}{8}r\right)\left(n_s - 1\right) + \frac{\mathrm{d}n_s}{\mathrm{d}\ln k} = \frac{108}{25}g_{\mathrm{NL}}.$$
(3.120)

As a result, if the observations disagree with any of the above consistency relations, we can rule out single-field slow-roll inflation. In such cases, one would then have to introduce extra complexities in the model¹⁷.

¹⁷ Table 1 can change when additional complexities are introduced, such as when the single-field slow-roll inflation has a non-trivial initial condition with a large momentum in ϕ , far away from the slow-roll attractor solution near the Hubble exit of the CMB scales. Such scenarios are off the topic of this thesis, and will not be discussed.

¹⁶ By energy scale free, we mean all the observables in Table 1 except the power spectrum of the curvature perturbation. This is because none of them depend on the overall energy scale of inflation.

Parameters	Predictions	Observations		
\mathcal{P}_{ζ}	$\frac{H^2}{\pi\epsilon_\phi M_{\rm p}^2}$	$(2.142 \pm 0.048) \times 10^{-9}$		
n_s	$1 - 6\epsilon_\phi + 2\eta_\phi$	0.9667 ± 0.0040		
$\frac{\mathrm{d}n_s}{\mathrm{d}\ln k}$	$8\epsilon_{\phi}(-3\epsilon_{\phi}+2\eta_{\phi})-2\xi_{\phi}$	-0.0065 ± 0.0076		
$f_{ m NL}$	$\frac{5}{6}(2\epsilon_{\phi}-\eta_{\phi})$	0.8 ± 5.0		
$g_{ m NL}$	$\frac{25}{54} \left(2\eta_{\phi}(\eta_{\phi} - \epsilon_{\phi}) - \xi_{\phi} \right)$	$(-9.0 \pm 7.7) \times 10^4$		
$ au_{ m NL}$	$(2\epsilon_{\phi}-\eta_{\phi})^2$	<2800 at 95% CL		
r	$16\epsilon_{\phi}$	< 0.07 at 95% CL		

Table 1: Single-field slow-roll inflation predictions and the Planck CMB observations [26,27]. Errors are at 1σ unless otherwise noted.

_

The second consistency relation (Eq. (3.120)) is far from practical use. The errors in r, $g_{\rm NL}$ and $\frac{dn_s}{d\ln k}$ are currently large. However, our current observations are accurate enough to distinguish the first consistency relation (Eq. (3.119)). The curvature perturbation is almost scale invariant and the tensor-to-scalar ratio is small (r < 0.07). Single-field slow-roll inflation is thus required to produce small non-Gaussianities in $f_{\rm NL} \ll 1$ and $\tau_{\rm NL} \ll 1$, regardless of the specific model [142, 143]. This can already be confirmed partly by the Planck observations.

3.5 Models of single-field slow-roll inflation

There are hundreds of models of inflation, even just for single-field slow-roll inflation [98, 144]. In this thesis, we will only discuss the inflation with a power-law potential, and the inflection point inflationary models. (For a review, see [45, 47, 93, 145, 146].)

3.5.1 Inflation with a power-law potential

Inflation can be realized with a very simple power-law potential of a real scalar ϕ , in the form

$$V(\phi) = \frac{1}{p} \lambda M_{\rm p}^4 \left(\frac{\phi}{M_{\rm p}}\right)^p.$$
(3.121)

This potential contains two parameters – the exponent p that determines the power of the potential, and the coupling constant λ . Typically, people are interested in the p = 2and p = 4 models, corresponding to the quadratic and quartic potentials respectively. For p = 2, we can define

$$m \equiv \sqrt{\lambda} M_{\rm p} \tag{3.122}$$

as the bare mass of ϕ . Eq. (3.121) then reduces to *quadratic inflation*, corresponding to a single scalar field with mass m which drives inflation with the potential

$$V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}m^2\phi^2.$$
 (3.123)

The p = 4 case is called *chaotic inflation* [37], which is dominated by the self-coupling of a massless scalar. The potential is

$$V(\phi) = \frac{1}{4}\lambda\phi^4. \tag{3.124}$$

Due to the simple potential form, the power-law potential is sometimes regarded as the simplest model of inflation.

We will still use the generic potential Eq. (3.121). The slow-roll parameters can then be calculated as

$$\epsilon_{\phi} = \frac{p^2 M_{\rm p}^2}{16\pi\phi^2}, \qquad (3.125)$$

$$\eta_{\phi} = \frac{p(p-1)M_{\rm p}^2}{8\pi\phi^2}, \qquad (3.126)$$

$$\xi_{\phi} = \frac{p^2(p-1)(p-2)M_{\rm p}^4}{64\pi^2\phi^4}.$$
(3.127)

Taking the inflation condition as $\epsilon_{\phi} < 1$, we find that the power-law potential can provide inflation easily as long as¹⁸

$$|\phi| > \frac{p}{4\sqrt{\pi}} M_{\rm p}.\tag{3.128}$$

Since during inflation ϕ never changes sign, without loss of generality we take $\phi > 0$. From Eq. (3.23), we can solve the background evolution of ϕ as a function of the number of remaining e-folds of inflation N, as

$$\phi(N) = \frac{M_{\rm p}}{4\sqrt{\pi}} \sqrt{p(p+4N)}.$$
(3.129)

Putting it back into the slow-roll parameters then gives

$$\epsilon_{\phi}(N) = \frac{p}{p+4N}, \qquad (3.130)$$

$$\eta_{\phi}(N) = \frac{2(p-1)}{p+4N}, \qquad (3.131)$$

$$\xi_{\phi}(N) = \frac{4(p-1)(p-2)}{(p+4N)^2}, \qquad (3.132)$$

¹⁸ Although for p > 2, $|\eta_{\phi}| = 1$ is reached first during inflation, we will still use $\epsilon_{\phi} < 1$ as the only measure for the end of inflation for simplicity.

and all the cosmological observables

$$\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} = \frac{128\pi}{3} \lambda \left[\frac{p(p+4N)}{16\pi} \right]^{\frac{p}{2}+1}, \qquad (3.133)$$

$$n_s = 1 - \frac{2(p+2)}{p+4N}, \qquad (3.134)$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}n_s}{\mathrm{d}\ln k} = -\frac{8(p+2)}{(p+4N)^2},\tag{3.135}$$

$$r = \frac{16p}{p+4N}.$$
 (3.136)

We have omitted the non-Gaussianity observables which are automatically determined by single-field slow-roll consistency relations.

The parameter λ can be fixed by the power spectrum of scalar perturbations according to Eq. (3.133). If we also restrict the power parameter p among certain discrete values, such as 2 and 4 in this thesis, the inflation model with a power-law potential is then left with no free parameter.

Then, the power-law potential for inflation is completely predictive. The only uncertainty comes from N. Since we are only able to know the physics at the relatively low energy scales, we cannot be certain about the post-inflationary dynamics before Hot Big Bang, such as how the inflaton ϕ decays into visible matter and dark sector. But in general, the CMB scales should correspond to $N \sim 50$ to 60. Therefore we can simply calculate the observables for N = 50 and N = 60 separately. In Table 2, we show the results for p = 2 and p = 4.

From Table 2, we see that quadratic inflation agrees very well with the observed scalar perturbations. It however produces some tensor perturbations which is in tension with Planck. The chaotic inflation model is in even stronger tension with Planck data in scalar spectral index and tensor-to-scalar ratio, as can be seen from Figure 8.

In fact, the potential Eq. (3.121) makes it difficult to produce large tensor-to-scalar ratio while keeping $n_s \approx 1$. From Eq. (3.134) and Eq. (3.136), the power-law potential

Table 2: Inflationary predictions from a power-law potential and the observations. Quadratic (p = 2) and chaotic (p = 4) inflations are demonstrated. The Planck 2015 data [26–28] are used.

Parameters	Observations	Quadratic inflation		Chaotic inflation	
		N = 50	N = 60	N = 50	N = 60
$m/M_{\rm p}$		$5.0 imes 10^{-7}$	4.2×10^{-7}	N/A	N/A
,	$\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} = 2.142 \times 10^{-9}$	DT / A	NT / A	2.7 + 10 - 15	0.010^{-15}
λ		N/A	N/A	3.7×10^{-10}	2.2×10^{-10}
n_s	0.9667 ± 0.0040	0.960	0.967	0.941	0.951
$\frac{\mathrm{d}n_s}{\mathrm{d}\ln k}$	-0.0065 ± 0.0076	-8×10^{-4}	-5×10^{-4}	-1×10^{-3}	-8×10^{-4}
r	<0.07 at 95% CL	0.16	0.13	0.31	0.26



Figure 8: The Planck observations constrain inflationary models as above [26]. The x and y coordinates correspond to the spectral index and the tensor-to-scalar ratio. The shaded grey, red, and blue regions show the Planck observational constraints when combined with different data sources. The colour depths indicate the 1σ and 2σ confidence levels. Other shaded regions and line segments correspond to the predictions of various inflationary models, for 50 and 60 e-folds of inflation before the Hubble exit on smaller and bigger circle sides respectively.

needs to satisfy an additional consistency relation besides those in Section 3.4:

$$\left(1+\frac{2}{p}\right)^2 r^2 = 64(1-n_s)^2. \tag{3.137}$$

Given r < 0.07 and $n_s \approx 0.96$, the consistency relation requires $p \lesssim 1$, which is beyond the scope of the thesis. The power-law potential cannot reproduce our observations for p = 2 or p = 4, due to the consistency relation.

On the other hand, another fundamental problem of the power-law potential is that the inflaton ϕ typically needs to reach Planck scale $M_{\rm p}$ to produce inflation, as required in Eq. (3.128) [147].

3.5.2 Inflection point inflation

In this section, we will consider the single-field slow-roll inflation models that can be effectively regarded as an inflection or saddle point potential in the neighbourhood¹⁹. Such potentials may arise from Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model (MSSM) [85, 148], as an example. The inflection point brings about a plateau in the potential, which is flat enough locally to accommodate slow roll while the inflaton stays sub-Planckian ($\ll M_p$).

The constructed scalar potential is $[80, 82]^{20}$

$$V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}m^2\phi^2 - \lambda A \frac{\phi^6}{6M_p^3} + \lambda^2 \frac{\phi^{10}}{M_p^6},$$
(3.138)

where m and A > 0 are called the soft breaking mass and the A-term respectively. Let us define

$$4\alpha^2 \equiv 1 - \frac{A^2}{40m^2}.$$
 (3.139)

¹⁹ We only study inflection point here.

 $^{^{20}}$ Inflection point potentials are possible in various forms [4, 80, 82, 90–93, 149]. Here we only discuss a specific one.



Figure 9: The inflection point inflation can be achieved typically around the inflection point ϕ_0 because of the cancellation in $V'(\phi)$.

There exists an inflection point ϕ_0 in the potential $V(\phi)$ with $V''(\phi_0) = 0$, which lies at

$$\phi_0 = \left(\frac{mM_p^3}{\lambda\sqrt{10}}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^2). \tag{3.140}$$

At the inflection point ϕ_0 ,

$$V(\phi_0) = \frac{4}{15}m^2\phi_0^2 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^2), \qquad (3.141)$$

$$V'(\phi_0) = 4\alpha^2 m^2 \phi_0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^4), \qquad (3.142)$$

$$V'''(\phi_0) = 32\frac{m^2}{\phi_0} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^2).$$
(3.143)

Neglecting higher order expansion terms around the inflection point ϕ_0 , the effective potential around inflection point becomes

$$V(\phi) = V(\phi_0) + V'(\phi_0)(\phi - \phi_0) + \frac{V''(\phi_0)}{6}(\phi - \phi_0)^3.$$
(3.144)

The first and second slow-roll parameters then become

$$\epsilon_{\phi} = \frac{225M_{\rm p}^2}{16\pi\phi_0^6} \left[\alpha^2 \phi_0^2 + 4(\phi - \phi_0)^2 \right]^2 (1 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)), \qquad (3.145)$$

$$\eta_{\phi} = \frac{15M_{\rm p}^2}{\pi\phi_0^3}(\phi - \phi_0) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^2).$$
(3.146)

From Eq. (3.145) and Eq. (3.146), we can find inflation near the inflection point if the potential is flat enough with $\epsilon_{\phi} < 1$, i.e.

$$\alpha^4 \ll \frac{16\pi\phi_0^2}{225M_p^2} \ll 1.$$
(3.147)

The second inequality comes from our wish to keep the inflaton sub-Planckian. The potential then has the shape as Figure 9.

From now on we keep only the leading order terms. The slow-roll parameters are then simplified to

$$\epsilon_{\phi} = \frac{225M_{\rm p}^2}{16\pi\phi_0^6} \left[\alpha^2\phi_0^2 + 4(\phi - \phi_0)^2\right]^2, \qquad (3.148)$$

$$\eta_{\phi} = \frac{15M_{\rm p}^2}{\pi\phi_0^3}(\phi - \phi_0). \tag{3.149}$$

Inflation hence only occurs close enough to the inflection point with $|\eta_{\phi}| < 1$, as²¹

$$|\phi - \phi_0| < \frac{\pi \phi_0^3}{15M_{\rm p}^2}.\tag{3.150}$$

The Hubble expansion rate is given by

$$H^2 \approx \frac{32\pi m^2 \phi_0^2}{45M_{\rm p}^2}.$$
 (3.151)

According to Eq. (3.150), we set the end of inflation at

$$\phi_e \equiv \phi_0 - \frac{\pi \phi_0^3}{15M_p^2},\tag{3.152}$$

 $^{^{21}}$ The first slow-roll condition should also be satisfied to allow slow-roll inflation. However, during inflection point inflation, the violation of the second slow-roll condition is usually much earlier. For this reason, we don't consider the first slow-roll condition.

where the subscript e indicates end of inflation. The dynamics of background solution can then be solved, which yields the power spectrum of curvature perturbation [4,83, 85,90]

$$\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}(N) = \frac{256\pi m^2 \phi_0^4}{3 \times 15^3 \alpha^4 M_{\rm p}^6} \sin^4 \left(\frac{15\alpha M_{\rm p}^2}{4\pi \phi_0^2} N\right),\tag{3.153}$$

and the spectral index for scalar perturbations [4, 83, 85, 90]

$$n_s = 1 - \frac{15\alpha M_p^2}{\pi \phi_0^2} \cot\left(\frac{15\alpha M_p^2}{4\pi \phi_0^2}N\right).$$
(3.154)

Since the potential in this setup is usually very flat around the inflection point, the second slow-roll parameter $|\eta_{\phi}|$ is usually much larger than the first slow-roll parameter ϵ_{ϕ} . The spectral tilt $n_s - 1$ should then mostly come from η_{ϕ} , while leaving ϵ_{ϕ} very small. In such cases, one would expect a very small tensor-to-scalar ratio. Overall, the inflection point potential Eq. (3.138) has been shown to agree well with the Planck observations in [4].

On the other hand, inflection and/or saddle point potentials of inflation require the model parameters to be substantially tuned [85]. Here the parameters m and A must be tuned to bring about a very small α . This raises the question why in nature the parameters would cancel so finely, and can be regarded disadvantageous for inflection/saddle point inflation. This is however beyond the scope of the thesis.

To summarize, in this chapter we have derived generic predictions of single-field slow-roll inflation. We have studied power-law and inflection point potentials. The consistency relation in single-field slow-roll inflation forbids many features in the CMB, such as large non-Gaussianities, which will be investigated in the framework of multifield inflation in the upcoming chapters.
4 Multi-component inflation

In this chapter, we derive the cosmological predictions for multi-field inflation. Spectator fields can be regarded as the minimal multi-field inflation scenario. Single-field slow-roll inflation with an extra perfect fluid is also discussed. Conclusions of this chapter will provide assistance for the spectator calculations in the next chapter.

4.1 Generic multi-field slow-roll inflation

4.1.1 δN formalism

Consider *n* slowly rolling real canonical scalar fields, indicated with ϕ^{μ} where $\mu = 0, 1, ..., n - 1$. Assuming δN formalism (see Section 3.2.2 and [132, 134, 140–142]) and perturbative calculations are applicable, we can always write the remaining e-folds of universe expansion as a function of the fields on spatially flat hypersurfaces

$$N = N(\phi^0, \phi^1, \dots, \phi^{n-1}) = N(\phi^{\mu}).$$
(4.1)

According to separate universe approach [132, 134], the perturbation in N then corresponds to a curvature perturbation, which can be expanded in terms of the field perturbations $\delta\phi^{\mu}$ on spatially flat hypersurfaces as [140–142]

$$\zeta(\mathbf{x}) = \delta N(\mathbf{x}) = N_{\mu}\delta\phi^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}N_{\mu\nu}(\delta\phi^{\mu}\delta\phi^{\nu} - \langle\delta\phi^{\mu}\delta\phi^{\nu}\rangle) + \frac{1}{6}N_{\mu\nu\lambda}\delta\phi^{\mu}\delta\phi^{\nu}\delta\phi^{\lambda} + \text{higher order},$$
(4.2)

where

$$N_{\mu} \equiv \frac{\mathrm{d}N}{\mathrm{d}\phi^{\mu}},\tag{4.3}$$

$$N_{\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 N}{\mathrm{d}\phi^{\mu}\mathrm{d}\phi^{\nu}},\tag{4.4}$$

$$N_{\mu\nu\lambda} \equiv \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 N}{\mathrm{d}\phi^{\mu}\mathrm{d}\phi^{\nu}\mathrm{d}\phi^{\lambda}},\tag{4.5}$$

. . . .

The space-time dependences are omitted for simplicity.

We know for slowly rolling scalars, their quantum fluctuations should be Gaussian, like Eq. (3.63), which will satisfy

$$\langle \delta \phi^{\mu}(\mathbf{k}) \delta \phi^{\nu}(\mathbf{k}') \rangle = (2\pi)^{3} \delta^{\mu\nu} \delta^{3}(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}') P_{\delta\phi}(k).$$
(4.6)

For super-Hubble perturbations, Eq. (3.66) and Eq. (3.99) still hold, giving rise to

$$P_{\delta\phi}(k) = \frac{H^2}{2k^3}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{P}_{\delta\phi} = \frac{H^2}{4\pi^2}.$$
 (4.7)

The leading order curvature perturbation is the Gaussian part

$$\zeta_G(\mathbf{x}) \equiv N_\mu \delta \phi^\mu(\mathbf{x}). \tag{4.8}$$

The power spectrum of curvature perturbation can hence be calculated easily at leading order [132, 134]

$$\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} = \mathcal{P}_{\delta\phi} \sum_{\mu} N_{\mu}^2. \tag{4.9}$$

The local bi-spectrum is measured from (Section 2.2)

$$\begin{split} \langle \zeta^{3}(\mathbf{x}) \rangle &= 3 \left\langle \zeta_{G}^{2} \times \frac{1}{2} N_{\mu\nu} \left(\delta \phi^{\mu} \delta \phi^{\nu} - \langle \delta \phi^{\mu} \delta \phi^{\nu} \rangle \right) \right\rangle \\ &= \frac{3}{2} N_{\mu\nu} N_{\lambda} N_{\eta} \left\langle \delta \phi^{\lambda} \delta \phi^{\eta} \left(\delta \phi^{\mu} \delta \phi^{\nu} - \langle \delta \phi^{\mu} \delta \phi^{\nu} \rangle \right) \right\rangle \\ &= 3 N_{\mu\nu} N_{\mu} N_{\nu} \langle (\delta \phi)^{2} \rangle^{2} \\ &= \frac{3 N_{\mu\nu} N_{\mu} N_{\nu}}{\left(\sum_{\mu} N_{\mu}^{2} \right)^{2}} \langle \zeta_{G}^{2}(\mathbf{x}) \rangle^{2}. \end{split}$$
(4.10)

Recall the definition of $f_{\rm NL}$ from Eq. (2.26) and Eq. (2.31). By comparing Eq. (2.31) and Eq. (4.10), we find the expression of $f_{\rm NL}$ for multi-field inflation, as [140, 141]

$$f_{\rm NL} = \frac{5}{6} \frac{N_{\mu\nu} N_{\mu} N_{\nu}}{\left(\sum_{\mu} N_{\mu}^2\right)^2}.$$
 (4.11)

Similarly, the local tri-spectra can be derived as [142]

$$g_{\rm NL} = \frac{25}{54} \frac{N_{\mu\nu\lambda} N_{\mu} N_{\nu} N_{\lambda}}{\left(\sum_{\mu} N_{\mu}^2\right)^3} , \qquad (4.12)$$

$$\tau_{\rm NL} = \frac{N_{\mu} N_{\mu\lambda} N_{\lambda\nu} N_{\nu}}{\left(\sum_{\mu} N_{\mu}^2\right)^3} .$$
(4.13)

When only one field contributes to the curvature perturbation, such as when other fields are heavy and provide negligible perturbations, we can redefine the fields so that the only field contributing to curvature perturbation is named as ϕ^0 . Then the only nonvanishing term among N_{μ} for $\mu = 0, 1, ..., n-1$ is N_0 . The non-Gaussianity parameters reduce to

$$f_{\rm NL} = \frac{5}{6} \frac{N_{00}}{N_0^2} , \qquad (4.14)$$

$$g_{\rm NL} = \frac{25}{54} \frac{N_{000}}{N_0^3} , \qquad (4.15)$$

$$\tau_{\rm NL} = \frac{N_{00}^2}{N_0^4} \,. \tag{4.16}$$

Therefore, the consistency relation Eq. (3.115) also holds in the multi-field scenarios where only one field produces curvature perturbation.

For the power spectrum of tensor perturbations, the same relation Eq. (3.108) also holds for multi-field inflation. However, the tensor-to-scalar ratio changes because the scalar perturbations are different

$$r \equiv \frac{\mathcal{P}_t}{\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}} = \frac{64\pi}{M_{\rm p}^2 \sum_{\mu} N_{\mu}^2} \,. \tag{4.17}$$

4.1.2 Multi-field evolution

In the above section, we have expressed cosmological observables in terms of N_{μ} , $N_{\mu\nu}$, and $N_{\mu\nu\lambda}$. We will move on to computing N_{μ} , $N_{\mu\nu}$, and $N_{\mu\nu\lambda}$ in this section.

Consider the generic multi-field inflation scenario with n slowly rolling canonical scalar fields, ϕ^{μ} , where $\mu = 0, 1, ..., n - 1$. When the full action of the model and the



Figure 10: The field perturbation $\delta\phi$ (black) is schematically decomposed into adiabatic + entropy perturbation modes (green), or into field perturbation modes (purple), or into curvature + isocurvature perturbation modes (red) on a two dimensional hypersurface of the full phase space. The adiabatic and curvature modes are along the trajectory (blue). The entropy mode is perpendicular to the trajectory while the isocurvature mode is on the uniform N hypersurface (dashed red).

initial conditions are given, the classical solution of the background evolution becomes a fixed trajectory in the *n* dimensional phase space of the physical system, as in Figure 10. Based on the perturbative calculations of separate universe approach [132–136], we can treat each Hubble patch as a homogenous separate universe which receives the field perturbations $\phi^{\mu} \rightarrow \phi^{\mu} + \delta \phi^{\mu}$. As shown in Figure 10, the generic perturbations $\delta \phi^{\mu}$ can be decomposed in three typical ways, each of which then corresponds to a different approach in calculating the evolution of perturbations:

- The perturbation $\delta\phi^{\mu}$ is decomposed along the trajectory of the background evolution, and the n-1 dimensional hypersurface that is perpendicular to the trajectory. The *adiabatic* mode is the component along the trajectory, and the n-1 entropy modes are on the n-1 dimensional hypersurface. Together, they form a complete and orthogonal basis of the n dimensional field space. The adiabatic mode can be regarded as a time shift, which is the same as the perturbation mode in single-field slow-roll inflation. The complexity arises from the entropy modes, which can still produce curvature perturbation after Hubble exit. From the Hubble exit, we need to keep track of all the perturbations and calculate how entropy modes transfer to adiabatic mode as the universe evolves, up to the point when entropy modes cease to transfer to adiabatic mode, known as the *adiabatic limit*. After reaching the adiabatic limit, the adiabatic perturbation then corresponds to the amount of curvature perturbation that would be generated. Isocurvature perturbations can be calculated similarly [150, 151].
- The perturbation $\delta \phi^{\mu}$ is decomposed along the *n* field directions, into *n* separate components of the field perturbations, $\delta \phi^{\mu}$. We can then evolve the field perturbations $\delta \phi^{\mu}$, or the distribution of perturbations $P(\delta \phi^{\mu})$, from Hubble exit to the adiabatic limit. Then, field perturbations can be projected onto the curvature

perturbation direction, and also isocurvature perturbation directions if needed, yielding the cosmological predictions straightforwardly [152–154].

• The perturbations $\delta \phi^{\mu}$ are decomposed along the trajectory of background evolution, and the n-1 dimensional hypersurface, on which any field perturbation does not lead to any curvature perturbation. The *curvature* mode is the component along the trajectory, and the n-1 isocurvature modes are on the n-1 dimensional hypersurface. Together, they form a complete but not necessarily orthogonal basis of the n dimensional field space. Given any perturbation $\delta \phi^{\mu}$ on any point of the trajectory, we can instantly tell that $\delta \phi^{\mu}$ produces the curvature perturbation that is exactly equal to the curvature mode of the decomposition. This is because the isocurvature modes do not produce any curvature perturbation by definition (see Figure 10). According to δN formalism, such isocurvature modes do not produce any δN in separate universes, so we can call the n-1 dimensionsal hypersurface as the uniform N hypersurface. Note that in our convention, adiabatic and curvature perturbations are not the same, and neither are isocurvature and entropy perturbations. To derive the n-1 dimensional isocurvature hypersurface, we need to evolve the isocurvature hypersurface from a known position, such as at the adiabatic limit or a known boundary, back to the Hubble exit of the perturbation mode of our concern. Isocurvature perturbations can be calculated similarly [1,155-157]. For the comparisons between these approaches, see [1, 153, 154].

For convenience, we will use the last two approaches in the thesis. In order to parameterize the uniform N hypersurface, we can use N_{μ} to determine the direction of the hypersurface, $N_{\mu\nu}$ for the geometrical curvature of the hypersurface, and so forth for higher order expansion if required. Therefore the question of evolving the uniform N hypersurface now becomes the question of evolving N_{μ} , $N_{\mu\nu}$, ..., from a known boundary hypersurface at a later time to the Hubble exit of the perturbation mode of our interest. For example, we may pick the boundary when the universe reaches the adiabatic limit, where the uniform N hypersurface overlaps with uniform energy density hypersurface.

According to the separate universe approach, we can parameterize the phase space of a homogenous Hubble patch with ϕ^{μ} , for the *n* fields with $\mu = 0, 1, ..., n-1$. Here we also define a different parameterization, using p_{μ} where $\mu = 0, 1, ..., n-1$. The zeroth component corresponds to $p_0 \equiv N$, the coordinate along curvature direction, and p_i (for the i = 1, 2, ..., n-1 components in p_{μ}) are the isocurvature coordinates on uniform N hypersurface.

In the absence of any isocurvature perturbation concerns, p_i can be chosen arbitrarily without exact definitions, as long as they form a complete but not necessarily orthogonal basis of uniform N hypersurface. We can then write the local coordinate transformation $\phi^{\mu} \longleftrightarrow p_{\mu}$ as

$$\mathrm{d}\phi^{\mu} = \sigma^{\mu\nu} \mathrm{d}p_{\nu},\tag{4.18}$$

where the summation over ν is implicit, and the transformation matrix $\sigma^{\mu\nu}$ is defined as

$$\sigma^{\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi^{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}p_{\nu}}.\tag{4.19}$$

The inverse transformation is

$$\mathrm{d}p_{\mu} = \sigma_{\mu\nu} \mathrm{d}\phi^{\nu}, \qquad (4.20)$$

in which the inverse transformation matrix satisifies

$$\sigma_{\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{\mathrm{d}p_{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}\phi^{\nu}},\tag{4.21}$$

with the consistency relation

$$\sigma_{\mu\alpha}\sigma^{\alpha\nu} = \sigma^{\nu\alpha}\sigma_{\alpha\mu} = \delta^{\nu}_{\mu} . \tag{4.22}$$

Consider the action for multi-field slow-roll inflation

$$S \equiv \int \sqrt{-g} \,\mathrm{d}^4 x \left(\frac{M_p^2}{16\pi} R - V + \sum_{\mu} \frac{1}{2} \partial^{\nu} \phi^{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi^{\mu} \right), \tag{4.23}$$

where the potential is abbreviated from the form

$$V = V(\phi) = V(\phi^{\mu}) \equiv V(\phi^{0}, \phi^{1}, \dots, \phi^{n-1}).$$
(4.24)

Assuming we have solved the background evolution for the fields ϕ^{μ} , we then have limited information about the transformation matrix, as

$$\sigma^{\mu 0} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi^{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}N} = \frac{M_{\mathrm{p}}^2 V_{,\mu}}{8\pi V} , \qquad (4.25)$$

where we use superscripts and subscripts ", μ " for total derivatives w.r.t p_{μ} and ϕ^{μ} respectively. The slow-roll approximation has been applied at the second equality.

The differentiations satisfy

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}p_{\mu}} = \sigma^{\mu\nu} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\phi^{\nu}}, \qquad \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\phi^{\mu}} = \sigma_{\mu\nu} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}p_{\nu}}. \tag{4.26}$$

It is also commutative on σ by definition, as

$$\sigma^{\mu\nu,\lambda} = \sigma^{\mu\lambda,\nu}.\tag{4.27}$$

Applying Eq. (4.26) on Eq. (4.27), we find

$$\sigma^{\mu\nu,\lambda} = \sigma^{\mu\lambda,\nu} = \sigma^{\alpha\nu}\sigma^{\mu\lambda}{}_{,\alpha}.$$
(4.28)

Since the inverse transformation matrix $\sigma_{\lambda\mu}$ is the inverse of $\sigma^{\lambda\mu}$, its derivative should follow the differential rule for inverse matrices, i.e.

$$\sigma_{\lambda\mu}{}^{,0} = -\sigma_{\lambda\alpha}\sigma_{\beta\mu}\sigma^{\alpha\beta,0} = -\sigma_{\lambda\alpha}\sigma_{\beta\mu}\sigma^{\gamma\beta}\sigma^{\alpha0}{}_{,\gamma} = -\sigma_{\lambda\alpha}\sigma^{\alpha0}{}_{,\mu} .$$
(4.29)

By substituting Eq. (4.25) into Eq. (4.29), it reduces to

$$\sigma_{\lambda\mu}^{,0} = \frac{M_{\rm p}^2}{8\pi} \left(\frac{V_{,\alpha}V_{,\mu}}{V^2} - \frac{V_{,\alpha\mu}}{V} \right) \sigma_{\lambda\alpha}. \tag{4.30}$$

After the manipulation, Eq. (4.30) has become a set of first order linear differential equations for $\sigma_{\lambda\mu}$, w.r.t the e-folding $p_0 = N$. The equation set is separable for each λ . Since the background evolution ϕ^{μ} is known, the coefficients of Eq. (4.30) are also known.

By definition $N_{\mu} \equiv N_{,\mu} = \sigma_{0\mu}$, so the $\lambda = 0$ part of Eq. (4.30) corresponds to

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}N_{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}N} = \frac{M_{\mathrm{p}}^2}{8\pi} \left(\frac{V_{,\alpha}V_{,\mu}}{V^2} - \frac{V_{,\alpha\mu}}{V}\right) N_{\alpha}.$$
(4.31)

Therefore we have formulated the set of differential equations that N_{μ} should satisfy, which can then be solved backwards on a per model basis.

For higher order perturbations, some calculations would reveal a similar relation

$$\sigma_{\lambda\mu,\nu}{}^{,0} = -\sigma_{\lambda\mu,\alpha}\sigma^{\alpha 0}{}_{,\nu} - \sigma_{\lambda\nu,\alpha}\sigma^{\alpha 0}{}_{,\mu} - \sigma_{\lambda\alpha}\sigma^{\alpha 0}{}_{,\mu\nu}.$$
(4.32)

The $\lambda = 0$ component corresponds to

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}N_{\mu\nu}}{\mathrm{d}N} = \frac{M_{\mathrm{p}}^{2}}{8\pi} \left(\frac{V_{,\alpha}V_{,\nu}}{V^{2}} - \frac{V_{,\alpha\nu}}{V} \right) N_{\mu\alpha} + \frac{M_{\mathrm{p}}^{2}}{8\pi} \left(\frac{V_{,\alpha}V_{,\mu}}{V^{2}} - \frac{V_{,\alpha\mu}}{V} \right) N_{\nu\alpha} - \frac{M_{\mathrm{p}}^{2}}{8\pi} \left(\frac{2V_{,\alpha}V_{,\mu}V_{,\nu}}{V^{3}} - \frac{V_{,\alpha}V_{,\mu\nu}}{V^{2}} - \frac{V_{,\mu}V_{,\alpha\nu}}{V^{2}} - \frac{V_{,\nu}V_{,\alpha\mu}}{V^{2}} + \frac{V_{,\alpha\mu\nu}}{V} \right) N_{\alpha}.(4.33)$$

After solving N_{μ} from Eq. (4.31), we are then able to solve $N_{\mu\nu}$ from Eq. (4.33).

From above, we can solve N_{μ} and $N_{\mu\nu}$, so the curvature perturbation ζ from any field perturbations $\delta \phi^{\mu}$ is predictable. For the isocurvature perturbations, if we know exactly how the inflationary model couples to the standard model degrees of freedom, we can then define isocurvature directions accordingly.

For example, when we are interested in the relative energy density perturbation of cold dark matter (CDM), we can specifically define p_1 along this direction. The rest of the components p = 2, ..., n - 1 should be picked on the uniform $N(= p_0)$ and p_1 hypersurface with n-2 dimensions, so that these components are decoupled from CDM isocurvature perturbation in addition to curvature perturbation. Such isocurvature perturbations should follow the same evolution equations as Eq. (4.31) and Eq. (4.33), corresponding to different λ components of the same equations, Eq. (4.30) and Eq. (4.32).

One substantial application of the local coordinate transformation $\phi^{\mu} \leftrightarrow p_{\mu}$ is to obtain N_0 after knowing the rest, i.e. N_i , for i = 1, 2, ..., n - 1. This is useful, for example, when calculating the combined curvature perturbations from the inflaton and the curvaton/spectator field in Chapter 5.

For this purpose, consider the field perturbation $\delta \phi^0$, which can be decomposed into two components:

- the perturbation δp_0 along the trajectory direction, which projects onto the field perturbation space as $\{\delta \phi^{\mu} = \frac{d\phi^{\mu}}{dp_0} \delta p_0\}$, and
- the field perturbations $\delta \phi^i$ which fill the remaining n-1 dimensions in the phase space.

The first component contributes to the curvature perturbation by the amount

$$\delta p_0 = \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\phi^0}{\mathrm{d}p_0}\right)^{-1} \delta \phi^0. \tag{4.34}$$

The second component then cancels out the rest of the field perturbations $\delta \phi^i$ coming from the first component. Their net contribution to field space is exactly $\delta \phi^0$, whilst their total contribution to curvature perturbation can be obtained because we know N_i .

The mathematical approach is simple. From Eq. (4.22), we get

$$\sigma_{0\mu}\sigma^{\mu0} = N_{\mu}\frac{\mathrm{d}\phi^{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}N} = 1.$$
(4.35)

This immediately gives

$$N_0 = \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\phi^0}{\mathrm{d}N}\right)^{-1} \left(1 - N_i \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi^i}{\mathrm{d}N}\right),\tag{4.36}$$

where $d\phi^{\mu}/dN$ is known from the background equations of motion.

4.1.3 Two-field inflation

When only two fields are present, the conclusions can be further simplified. For $\mu = \nu = 0$, Eq. (4.22) becomes

$$\frac{M_{\rm p}^2}{8\pi V} \sum_{\alpha} N_{\alpha} V_{,\alpha} = 1. \tag{4.37}$$

This allows us to eliminate N_{α} for $\alpha \neq \mu$ in Eq. (4.31) because there are only two fields, which gives

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}N_0}{\mathrm{d}N} = uN_0 + v,\tag{4.38}$$

where the temporary variables are defined as

$$u \equiv \frac{M_{\rm p}^2}{8\pi} \left(\frac{V_{,0}V_{,01}}{VV_{,1}} - \frac{V_{,00}}{V} \right), \tag{4.39}$$

$$v \equiv \frac{V_{,0}}{V} - \frac{V_{,01}}{V_{,1}}, \qquad (4.40)$$

and similarly for N_1 .

Now the differential equations for N_0 and N_1 are separable, allowing us to provide a solution in the integral form with Mathematica

$$N_0(N) = N_0(N_{\rm ref}) + e^{\int_{N_{\rm ref}}^N u dN} \int_{N_{\rm ref}}^N v e^{-\int_{N_{\rm ref}}^N u dN} dN, \qquad (4.41)$$

where the subscript "ref" corresponds to a reference point which can be picked at the time when the universe has become adiabatic, so $N_0(N_{\text{ref}})$ is known. It should stay on the same trajectory with that of background evolution, i.e. $p_i^{\text{ref}} = p_i$.

Similarly, since $N_{\mu\nu}\sigma^{\nu0} = dN_{\mu}/dN$ can be read out directly from Eq. (4.38), for second order perturbations we can also eliminate $N_{\mu\alpha}$ for $\alpha \neq \nu$ in Eq. (4.33). The second order equations will also fit within the form Eq. (4.38), but with different though more complicated u and v. The second order solutions hence also have an integral form. The integral form is a further simplification that only applies on two-field models, because we are unable to separate the differential equations for n > 2 in general.

4.1.4 Separable potentials

There are other scenarios where the conclusions can be further simplified, even for more than two fields. One common case is when the potential adopts a specific form, such as the *separable potentials* [150, 155, 158]. For example, very often we may encounter potentials that can be decomposed for each field, as

$$V(\phi^{\mu}) \equiv \sum_{\mu} V_{\mu}(\phi^{\mu}), \qquad (4.42)$$

so the fields do not couple with each other. Note here that V_{μ} indicates the separated potentials for each field ϕ^{μ} , not the derivative of ϕ^{μ} which would contain a comma.

Since the potential is separable, we have the relation

$$V_{,\mu\nu} = 0, \qquad \text{for } \mu \neq \nu. \tag{4.43}$$

This allows us to greatly simplify Eq. (4.31), giving

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}N_{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}N} = \frac{M_{\mathrm{p}}^2}{8\pi} \frac{V_{,\alpha}V_{,\mu}}{V^2} N_{\alpha} - \frac{M_{\mathrm{p}}^2 V_{,\mu\mu}}{8\pi V} N_{\mu}$$
(4.44)

$$= \frac{V_{,\mu}}{V} N_{\alpha} \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi^{\alpha}}{\mathrm{d}N} - \eta_{\mu} N_{\mu} \tag{4.45}$$

$$= -\eta_{\mu}N_{\mu} + \frac{V_{,\mu}}{V}, \qquad (4.46)$$

where in the last step, we have applied the relation $\sigma_{0\alpha}\sigma^{\alpha 0} = 1$. The slow-roll parameters for multi-field inflation with the separable potential Eq. (4.42) are defined as

$$\epsilon_{\mu} \equiv \frac{M_{\rm p}^2 V_{,\mu}^2}{16\pi\rho^2},\tag{4.47}$$

$$\eta_{\mu} \equiv \frac{M_{\rm p}^2 V_{,\mu\mu}}{8\pi\rho},\tag{4.48}$$

and the total energy density is just $\rho \approx V$.

For separable potentials, the slow-roll parameters satisfy the relation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln\epsilon_{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}N} = 2\eta_{\mu} - 4\epsilon,\tag{4.49}$$

where the total first slow-roll parameter is defined as

$$\epsilon \equiv -\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\frac{1}{H} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\ln H}{\mathrm{d}N} = \sum_{\mu} \epsilon_{\mu}.$$
(4.50)

The differential equation Eq. (4.46) yields to the same form with Eq. (4.38), with

$$u = -\eta_{\mu},\tag{4.51}$$

and

$$v = \frac{V_{,\mu}}{V}.\tag{4.52}$$

In the case of separable potentials, the integrals in Eq. (4.41) can be worked out analytically, because they only contain total derivatives. For example, η_{μ} is a total derivative as can be seen from Eq. (4.49) and Eq. (4.50). The solution is

$$N_{\mu} = N_{\mu}^{\text{ref}} + \frac{8\pi}{M_{p}^{2}} \frac{V_{\mu} - V_{\mu}^{\text{ref}}}{V_{,\mu}}.$$
(4.53)

The superscript "ref" is similar to the subscripts in Eq. (4.41). The same formula is also derived in [150, 155, 158].

4.2 Spectator fields

From the above, we see that multi-field inflation can be simplified a lot with only two fields, or with uncoupled fields. When we look for the minimal extension of singlefield slow-roll inflation, one possible candidate is to introduce only two uncoupled fields (except minimally by gravity). Generically, both fields can participate in inflation, and produce curvature perturbations, but again the simplest possibility is the two fields have separate roles. The *inflaton* field ϕ dominates energy density and drives inflation, while it only contributes negligibly to curvature perturbation. The *spectator* field σ then remains subdominant in energy density, but is responsible for creating curvature perturbation. The definition of spectator fields in this thesis follow the criteria below:

- The spectator field produces the observable curvature perturbation, in terms of amount and length scale. Otherwise, we are not motivated to study it.
- The inflation background dynamics are hardly changed if the spectator field is modified or removed, at least during the period it produces observable perturbations. This requires the spectator to remain subdominant in energy density. The inflation dynamics should be hardly affected by the spectator.

In principle, there are no other limitations, such as when the spectator decays or ends slow roll, or what its (or its decay products') energy density ratio is in the beginning of Hot Big Bang. Most two-field inflation scenarios, such as hybrid inflation [50] or assisted inflation [55–60], do not belong to the inflaton-spectator category. This is because the inflation dynamics cannot stay exactly the same after removing one field. The inflaton and the spectator can even couple as long as the above criteria are satisfied, but we will insist on no coupling in the thesis, purely for minimalism.

The total potential can hence be written as

$$V_{\text{tot}}(\phi, \sigma) \equiv V(\phi) + U(\sigma), \qquad (4.54)$$

where V and U are the respective potentials for ϕ and σ . During inflation, the inflaton dominates the energy density, and we can neglect σ for background evolution. The system then reduces to single-field slow-roll inflation, during which we can directly apply the calculations in Section 3.1. The perturbations, however, would involve modeldependent calculations.

4.3 Single inflaton with a perfect fluid

Let us consider the case where we add a perfect fluid with a constant equation of state parameter w into single-field slow-roll inflation. We will only consider the fluid to be matter-like with w = 0 or radiation-like with w = 1/3 in the thesis. The perfect fluid can also represent fields, such as those in fast oscillations which behave as matter-like fluids with w = 0.

Now the energy density of the universe contains two parts

$$\rho = V(\phi) + \rho_f, \tag{4.55}$$

where the potential energy density $V(\phi)$ comes from the inflaton ϕ , and the energy density of the perfect fluid is ρ_f . We know that a slow-roll field behaves like a cosmological constant, with

$$V(\phi) \propto a^0, \tag{4.56}$$

but the perfect fluid is redshifted according to [15]

$$\rho_f \propto a^{-3(1+w)}.\tag{4.57}$$

Due to the distinctive redshift rates, we shall expect the contribution from perfect fluid to be quickly redshifted away, leaving the universe in a single-field slow-roll inflation state. Before the perfect fluid is redshifted away, it however can still contribute to the e-folding of universe expansion²².

Inflation requires the comoving Hubble radius to decrease as the universe expands,

so the inflaton ϕ have to take the major role in energy density. We will work within this

 22 We do not address how to establish the initial conditions here, but as an example the perfect fluid can come from the decay of a pre-existing slow-roll field. The preceding stage can be multi-field inflation, or the spectator mechanism which will be discussed in Chapter 5. constraint, so the Hubble rate of universe expansion satisfies

$$H^{2} = \frac{8\pi}{3M_{\rm p}^{2}} \left(\rho_{fi} e^{3(1+w)(N-N_{i})} + V(\phi) \right), \tag{4.58}$$

where the subscript *i* indicates the initial condition. Therefore, ρ_{fi} and N_i are regarded as known constants for the scenario.

The equation of motion for inflaton is (after slow-roll approximation)

$$3H\dot{\phi} + V'(\phi) = 0, \tag{4.59}$$

or alternatively,

$$H^2 = \frac{V'(\phi)}{3} \frac{\mathrm{d}N}{\mathrm{d}\phi}.$$
(4.60)

By combining Eq. (4.58) and Eq. (4.60), we can eliminate the Hubble rate H, and reduce them to a differential equation of ϕ w.r.t N as

$$\frac{8\pi}{3M_{\rm p}^2} \left[\rho_{fi} e^{3(1+w)(N-N_i)} + V(\phi) \right] = \frac{V'(\phi)}{3} \frac{\mathrm{d}N}{\mathrm{d}\phi}.$$
(4.61)

The differential equation can be solved *exactly* with Mathematica, as

$$N_i - N = n(\phi_i, \phi) + \frac{1}{3(1+w)} \ln \frac{1 - r_{fi}\alpha}{1 - r_{fi}},$$
(4.62)

where $n(\phi_1, \phi_2)$ is the number of e-folds of universe expansion if the perfect fluid is not present:

$$n(\phi_1, \phi_2) \equiv \int_{\phi_2}^{\phi_1} \frac{8\pi V}{M_{\rm p}^2 V'} \mathrm{d}\phi, \qquad (4.63)$$

and correspondingly, the second term in Eq. (4.62) is the contribution from perfect fluid. Also, r_f is the energy density ratio of the perfect fluid versus total, as

$$r_f \equiv \frac{\rho_f}{V(\phi) + \rho_f} < 1, \tag{4.64}$$

and

$$\alpha \equiv 1 - \frac{24(1+w)\pi V(\phi_i)}{M_p^2} \int_{\phi}^{\phi_i} \frac{e^{-3(1+w)n(\phi_i,\phi)}}{V'(\phi)} d\phi.$$
(4.65)

To understand how the perfect fluid affects perturbations, let us consider the infinitesimal perturbations in initial condition on a spatially flat slicing

$$\phi_i \to \phi_i + \delta \phi_i, \qquad \rho_{fi} \to \rho_{fi} + \delta \rho_{fi}.$$
(4.66)

The parameters $n,\,r_{fi}$ and α will change correspondingly:

$$\delta n(\phi_i, \phi) = \frac{8\pi V(\phi_i)}{M_{\rm p}^2 V'(\phi_i)} \delta \phi_i = 2\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{\tilde{\epsilon}_{\phi i}}} \frac{\delta \phi_i}{M_{\rm p}},\tag{4.67}$$

$$\delta r_{fi} = r_{fi}(1 - r_{fi}) \left(\frac{\delta \rho_{fi}}{\rho_{fi}} - 4\sqrt{\pi \tilde{\epsilon}_{\phi i}} \frac{\delta \phi_i}{M_{\rm p}} \right), \tag{4.68}$$

and

$$\delta \alpha = -\left[4\tilde{\epsilon}_{\phi i}(1-\alpha) + 6(1+w)\alpha\right]\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{\tilde{\epsilon}_{\phi i}}}\frac{\delta\phi_i}{M_{\rm p}}.$$
(4.69)

Here the tilded slow-roll parameters are defined as if the inflaton ϕ is the only component in the universe, and obtained by replacing the total energy density with ϕ 's potential energy density in Eq. (3.10), Eq. (3.11) and Eq. (3.72), so that

$$\tilde{\epsilon}_{\phi} \equiv \frac{M_{\rm p}^2 V'^2}{16\pi V^2} = \frac{\epsilon_{\phi}}{(1-r_f)^2},$$
(4.70)

$$\tilde{\eta}_{\phi} \equiv \frac{M_{\rm p}^2 V''}{8\pi V} = \frac{\eta_{\phi}}{1 - r_f},\tag{4.71}$$

$$\tilde{\xi}_{\phi} \equiv \frac{M_{\rm p}^4 V' V'''}{(8\pi V)^2} = \frac{\xi_{\phi}}{(1-r_f)^2}.$$
(4.72)

From above, we can find the total change in the number of e-folds of inflation by fixing the reference point at the end of inflation with $N_e = 0$, as

$$\zeta = \delta N_i = \frac{1}{1 - \alpha r_{fi}} \left[2\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{\tilde{\epsilon}_{\phi i}}} \frac{\delta \phi_i}{M_p} + \frac{(1 - \alpha)r_{fi}}{3(1 + w)} \frac{\delta \rho_{fi}}{\rho_{fi}} \right].$$
(4.73)

Therefore, when the perturbation only exists for ϕ , the amount of the curvature perturbation produced would be similar to that from single-field slow-roll inflation, except with a small correction from $(1 - \alpha r_{fi})$. When multiple components coexist during inflation, isocurvature perturbations may be produced. In the case of single inflaton with a (matter-like or radiation-like) perfect fluid, the isocurvature perturbations are typically negligible. This is because any energy density perturbation in the perfect fluid is redshifted away quickly during the remaining inflation. Therefore as long as the perfect fluid goes away early enough before the end of inflation, it will not leave any relic in the energy components we see today.

We can also obtain closed form solutions for the background evolution if necessary, by evaluating α . For this purpose, we need to calculate the integral in Eq. (4.65), which converges to the attractor solution quickly as inflation proceeds because of the exponential damping. For the slowly rolling inflaton ϕ , we can perform a series expansion of the slow-roll parameters around the initial point, i.e.

$$\frac{1}{V(\phi)} = \frac{1}{V(\phi_i)} + n \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}n} \frac{1}{V(\phi)} \right|_i + \frac{n^2}{2} \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}n^2} \frac{1}{V(\phi)} \right|_i + \text{higher order.}$$
(4.74)

Eq. (4.65) can then be calculated order by order, in the form

$$\alpha = \alpha^{(0)} + \alpha^{(1)} + \alpha^{(2)} + \text{higher order}, \qquad (4.75)$$

where each $\alpha^{(j)} \sim \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon_{\phi}^{x} \eta_{\phi}^{y} \xi_{\phi}^{\frac{1}{2}(j-x-y)}\right)$ corresponds to the slow-roll parameter expansion of the order j (assuming that the first and second slow-roll parameters are small at the same (first) order, while the third slow-roll parameter is small at the second order).

Some calculations then yield α order by order

$$\alpha^{(0)} = 0, (4.76)$$

$$\alpha^{(1)} = -\frac{2\tilde{\epsilon}_{\phi i}}{3(1+w)}, \tag{4.77}$$

$$\alpha^{(2)} = -\frac{4\tilde{\epsilon}_{\phi i}(3\tilde{\epsilon}_{\phi i} - \tilde{\eta}_{\phi i})}{9(1+w)^2},$$
(4.78)

$$\alpha^{(3)} = -\frac{4\tilde{\epsilon}_{\phi i}}{27(1+w)^3} \Big[10\tilde{\epsilon}_{\phi i} \big(3\tilde{\epsilon}_{\phi i} - 2\tilde{\eta}_{\phi i} \big) + 2\tilde{\eta}_{\phi i}^2 + \tilde{\xi}_{\phi i} \Big], \qquad (4.79)$$

. . . .

We can also write them in terms of the original slow-roll parameters

$$\alpha^{(0)} = 0, (4.80)$$

$$\alpha^{(1)} = -\frac{2\epsilon_{\phi i}}{3(1+w)(1-r_{fi})^2},\tag{4.81}$$

$$\alpha^{(2)} = -\frac{4\epsilon_{\phi i}}{9(1+w)^2(1-r_{fi})^3} \left(\frac{3\epsilon_{\phi i}}{1-r_{fi}} - \eta_{\phi i}\right), \qquad (4.82)$$

$$\alpha^{(3)} = -\frac{4\epsilon_{\phi i}}{27(1+w)^3(1-r_{fi})^4} \left[\frac{10\epsilon_{\phi i}}{1-r_{fi}} \left(\frac{3\epsilon_{\phi i}}{1-r_{fi}} - 2\eta_{\phi i}\right) + 2\eta_{\phi i}^2 + \xi_{\phi i}\right], \quad (4.83)$$
....

Therefore, at the leading order, $\alpha \sim \mathcal{O}(\epsilon_{\phi i}) < 0$.

To summarize, in this chapter we have studied multi-field inflation at perturbation level. The existence of a perfect fluid in single-field slow-roll inflation can potentially contribute to cosmological perturbations. Spectator fields arise naturally as a minimal multi-field inflation scenario, which shall be discussed in the next chapter.

5 Spectator scenario

In this chapter, we first introduce the curvaton scenario and recall some of its existing studies. We then proceed to the spectator scenario and study its background and perturbation evolutions. In the end, we map out the parameter space of the spectator scenario for three example potentials.

5.1 Curvaton scenario

The curvaton scenario was proposed in [100-103], as an alternative scenario to produce the primordial perturbations. The inflaton ϕ drives inflation as in single-field slow-roll inflation, while the curvaton remains subdominant in energy density during inflation. The curvaton is either slowly rolling or frozen during inflation. Its perturbations will be kept, and only transfer to the curvature perturbation after inflation. The final energy density ratio of the curvaton or its decay products' is not constrained by the scenario. There are two typical curvaton scenarios – a dominant curvaton and a subdominant curvaton at the time of decay – which are demonstrated in Figure 11. The simplest curvaton potential takes the form²³

$$U(\sigma) \equiv \frac{1}{2}m^2\sigma^2. \tag{5.1}$$

The evolution follows the four phases below:

- During inflation, both fields are slowly rolling, acting as the cosmological constant. The curvaton can even be *frozen*, so its quantum fluctuations are stronger than its slow roll. The existence of a curvaton σ does not change the inflation dynamics other than slightly boosting the Hubble rate by contributing to the total energy density. At the Hubble exit of pivot scales, the perturbation in the field σ is preserved and does not affect universe evolution right away.
- Inflation ends once the inflaton has ended slow roll. It starts to oscillate and then decays into relativistic particles at some point. The curvaton still remains slowly rolling after inflation because it is much lighter than the inflaton. The universe then consists of two components – the perfect fluid of radiation coming from ϕ 's decay products, and the cosmological constant like curvaton σ . The radiation is

 23 Although there are many other choices of the curvaton potential, Eq. (5.1) is advantageous due to its simplicity. The constant mass *m* allows us to predict when it ends slow roll independently of the field value σ or its initial conditions [101, 103]. This property also allows the curvaton to be frozen instead of slowly rolling, without changing any of the cosmological predictions. Therefore, we will only investigate the minimal potential Eq. (5.1) for the curvaton in the thesis. There is a rich literature in the study of curvaton, such as those with different potentials, kinetic terms, particle physics origins and inflationary models, or the case when both the inflaton and the curvaton contribute to curvature perturbation, or vector curvaton. The curvaton may also drive a second phase of inflation. Some of the relevant literature can be found in [4, 72, 73, 75, 78, 79, 93, 101, 103, 104, 140, 159–222].



expected to dominate the universe for some time, despite the redshift from universe expansion. There can also be a phase of oscillation for ϕ right after the end of inflation.

- As the Hubble rate quickly declines, at some point it will drop below the curvaton mass *m*, so the curvaton starts to oscillate around its vacuum expectation value. The oscillating curvaton behaves like matter, and also starts to be redshifted away, though at a lower rate than radiation. To prevent a second phase of inflation, we require the curvaton to remain subdominant at the transition point where it ends slow roll.
- When the Hubble rate further drops below the decay rate of the curvaton, the curvaton decay process becomes efficient enough so the energy density of curvaton is assumed to be fully and instantly transferred to its decay products. The decay products are relativistic, so the radiations from inflaton and curvaton are blended together and are assumed to become indistinguishable. This forms the adiabatic initial condition for Hot Big Bang. The curvaton's energy density ratio peaks at its time of decay, which consequently leads to the highest conversion rate from the initial curvaton perturbation to curvature perturbation ζ . In the minimal scenario, this is the only source of primordial perturbations, dictating all the inhomogeneities of the universe we see today.

After inflation, the curvaton's energy density ratio increases, until it decays into radiation. The curvaton may even catch up with the inflaton during the process, after it starts to oscillate. This gives us the two possible scenarios shown in Figure 11. If the curvaton fails to catch up with the inflaton in energy density before it decays, then it never will.

The potential Eq. (5.1) has been extensively studied in the past, giving rise to the

prediction of power spectrum of curvature perturbation [101, 103]

$$\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} = \frac{\tilde{r}^2}{9\pi^2} \frac{H_*^2}{\sigma_*^2},\tag{5.2}$$

where

$$\tilde{r} \equiv \frac{3\rho_{\sigma d}}{4\rho_d - \rho_{\sigma d}} \tag{5.3}$$

characterizes the conversion rate from the curvaton field perturbation to curvature perturbation. Here the subscripts * and d correspond to the time of pivot scale Hubble exit and the time of curvaton decay respectively, while ρ_{σ} and ρ are the energy densities of the curvaton and the total. Since the curvaton is much lighter than the inflaton, the spectral index only depends on the first slow-roll parameter of the inflaton:

$$n_s \approx 1 - 2\epsilon_* \approx 1 - 2\epsilon_{\phi*}.\tag{5.4}$$

This constrains the inflaton model by

$$\epsilon_{\phi*} \approx 0.02. \tag{5.5}$$

The non-Gaussianities of curvature perturbation have also been investigated for curvator scenario, giving [103, 140, 142, 172]

$$f_{\rm NL} = \frac{5}{4\tilde{r}} - \frac{5}{3} - \frac{5}{6}\tilde{r}, \qquad (5.6)$$

$$g_{\rm NL} = \frac{25}{54} \left(-\frac{9}{\tilde{r}} + \frac{1}{2} + 10\tilde{r} + 3\tilde{r}^2 \right), \qquad (5.7)$$

$$\tau_{\rm NL} = \frac{36}{25} \left(\frac{5}{4\tilde{r}} - \frac{5}{3} - \frac{5}{6}\tilde{r} \right)^2.$$
 (5.8)

The curvaton scenario therefore gives two distinct non-Gaussianity predictions for the two possibilities in Figure 11:

• When curvaton always subdominates energy density, we typically acquire large non-Gaussianities ($\gg 1$):

$$f_{\rm NL} = \frac{5}{4\tilde{r}}, \qquad \qquad g_{\rm NL} = -\frac{25}{6\tilde{r}}, \qquad \qquad \tau_{\rm NL} = \frac{9}{4\tilde{r}^2}.$$
 (5.9)

• When curvaton is subdominant at the time it ends slow roll, but becomes dominant at the time of decay, the non-Gaussianities are small ($\sim O(1)$):

$$f_{\rm NL} = -\frac{5}{4}, \qquad \qquad g_{\rm NL} = \frac{25}{12}, \qquad \qquad \tau_{\rm NL} = \frac{9}{4}.$$
 (5.10)

There is also a possibility in-between where the curvaton contributes significantly but not fully to the total energy density at the time of decay. The non-Gaussianity predictions are also expected to lie in between.

The primordial tensor perturbations only depend on the energy scale of inflation, giving the same power spectrum as in Eq. (3.108). The tensor-to-scalar ratio will be suppressed because scalar perturbations now come from the curvaton

$$r = \frac{144\pi\sigma_*^2}{\tilde{r}^2 M_{\rm p}^2}.$$
(5.11)

As a multi-field model, the curvaton scenario can also produce isocurvature perturbations [104]. The current observation strongly constrains the existence of isocurvature perturbations. This requires $\tilde{r} \ll 1$ or $1 - \tilde{r} \ll 1$, so the universe should be filled with either the inflaton decay products or the curvaton decay products. The only exception of the requirement is a fundamental theory that guarantees the same branching ratios for inflaton and curvaton.

The Planck satellite gives accurate measurements on the non-Gaussianities of the CMB temperature perturbation, thus constraining models of inflation and/or the curvature perturbation generation mechanisms. The curvaton models, acting as the source of the curvature perturbation, are also constrained accordingly. Planck sees no local bi-spectrum according to the bound $f_{\rm NL} = 0.8 \pm 5.0$. This leads to the constraint $\tilde{r} > 0.06$ at over 3σ significance (see Eq. (5.9)), for the quadratic curvaton model that is fully responsible for curvature perturbation. When this is combined with the absence of isocurvature perturbations, the constraint becomes $\tilde{r} > 0.98$ [26]. Therefore, the

curvaton must also produce the matter contents of our universe.

The large ratio $\tilde{r} > 0.98$ may also cause other issues for the curvaton model. To avoid a second phase of inflation, the curvaton should contribute no more than half to the total energy density at the time it ends slow roll. This means the curvaton must oscillate for more than 4 e-folds before it decays. It raises the question of why its coupling constant with matter is so small, and how to suppress possible parametric resonance during the oscillations [224].

In order to match the Planck observations, there have been several extensions of curvaton model in recent literature. We will not discuss them in the thesis, but instead, simply list them as below:

- When the curvaton potential has a self-coupling term, it may produce negative $f_{\rm NL}$ by itself which cancels out the positive $f_{\rm NL}$ from the minimal curvaton scenario [171]. The curvaton is thus allowed not to dominate the energy density of the universe at decay. However it produces extra $g_{\rm NL}$ unavoidably, which can be observed in future measurements. The coupling constant also requires extra tuning for the fine cancellation.
- If curvaton and inflaton have the same branching ratios, their decay products become indistinguishable and therefore no isocurvature perturbation is produced. The constraint then falls back to r

 No.06, and mild non-Gaussianities can be achieved within the observational bound. However the identical branching ratio should come out automatically from the theoretical construction of inflaton and curvaton models, but not as a mere assumption without any justification.
- The curvaton can also contribute only partially to curvature perturbation, while the rest comes from other fields, such as the inflaton. In such cases, the inflaton perturbations can dilute the characteristics of the curvature perturbations from

curvaton, depending on the contribution ratio to curvature perturbation. This can suppress the local $f_{\rm NL}$ from the curvaton, while the other observables, such as n_s and $\tau_{\rm NL}$ are also subject to change [222, 225].

5.2 Spectator scenario

Above, we have demonstrated the curvaton scenario, in which a light field seeds the fluctuations and then decays after inflation has come to an end. The minimal curvaton model however is strongly constrained by the recent Planck data, due to the non-Gaussianity and isocurvature constraints.

On the other hand, if a field exits slow roll or decays much before the end of inflation, it will never influence the thermal history of the universe and will become a *spectator* field. Its decay products will be redshifted away during inflation and the inflaton will be *solely* responsible for creating all the matter. Meanwhile such a spectator field could still be responsible for seeding the CMB anisotropy, provided the relevant scales for the CMB leave the Hubble patch before the spectator field ends slow roll. In this respect, spectator scenarios do not produce any isocurvature perturbations in the universe.

As explained in Section 4.2, we will stick to the separable potential Eq. (4.54) where the inflaton and spectator fields do not couple. The spectator energy density is always subdominant, giving $V(\phi) \gg U(\sigma)$ at any time. If the spectator field ends slow roll well before the end of inflation but after the Hubble exit of the pivot scales, it gives rise to two consequent phases of inflation as shown in Figure 12:

1. **Phase I**: The inflaton ϕ leads inflation. Both ϕ and σ are slowly rolling. This phase ends as the slow-roll condition for σ breaks down. We assume that the relevant perturbations for the CMB leave the Hubble patch in this phase²⁴.

²⁴ The observed pivot scale actually has a window of several e-folds. Here we consider every mode



Figure 12: A schematic timeline for spectator scenario is shown above. The solid lines are the background evolutions of the energy densities of inflaton, spectator and the total contribution. The green and blue dashed lines represent the evolution of spectator and total energy densities of the universes with perturbed σ . The two phases of spectator evolution are separated by the phase boundary when σ breaks the slow-roll condition.

2. Phase II: When σ ends slow roll, the inflaton φ still dominates inflation under slow-roll conditions. Then σ either oscillates around the minimum of it's potential, or decays instantly. In either case, σ or its decay products are being redshifted away swiftly during this phase, and can be regarded as a perfect fluid with a constant equation of state w. For this reason, several e-folds after the beginning of this phase, the dynamics reduce to that of single-field slow-roll inflation of φ.

We will use the subscripts "*" for the Hubble exit of the mode of our concern, "b" for the boundary between the two inflationary phases, and "e" for the end of inflation. In Phase I, slow-roll approximations are satisfied for both fields, giving rise to the equations of motion

$$\frac{d\phi}{dN} = \frac{M_{\rm p}^2 V'}{8\pi (U+V)},$$
(5.12)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma}{\mathrm{d}N} = \frac{M_{\mathrm{p}}^2 U'}{8\pi (U+V)},\tag{5.13}$$

where we have used the number of the remaining e-folds N as proper time. The potential energy densities $V(\phi)$ and $U(\sigma)$ are defined according to the separable potentials in Eq. (4.54).

Eq. (5.12) and Eq. (5.13) suggest a simple relation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\phi}{V'} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma}{U'},\tag{5.14}$$

whose integrated form is

$$\int_{\phi}^{\phi_*} \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi}{V'} = \int_{\sigma}^{\sigma_*} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma}{U'},\tag{5.15}$$

which holds up to the boundary point b.

Phase I ends when the slow-roll condition of the spectator breaks down. This can be either first or second slow-roll condition, but here we will only choose the violation separately so the window is not shown in Figure 12. of second slow-roll condition. This is because the violation of first slow-roll condition typically leads to negligible curvature perturbation from the spectator field, which will be justified in Section 5.3. In order to violate second slow-roll condition before firstorder, we can use a plateau potential, such as the one shown in Figure 9. For plateau potentials, both slow-roll conditions are well satisfied before the spectator reaches the plateau boundary, but the second slow-roll condition breaks down upon reaching the plateau boundary. The boundary condition of the end of slow roll can then be written as

$$\eta_{\sigma b} \equiv \frac{M_{\rm p}^2 U_b''}{8\pi (U_b + V_b)} = -1.$$
(5.16)

After the spectator ends slow roll, it then acts as a perfect fluid with a constant equation of state w. The universe enters single-field slow-roll inflation with a perfect fluid, which has been solved in Section 4.3. The energy density of spectator (or its decay products) is diluted as the universe expands, according to $\rho_{\sigma} \propto a^{-3(1+w)}$. If the spectator decays into radiation early on, it will remain subdominant in energy density, and never take any role in the following evolution. However, in the worst case where the spectator *never* decays, it oscillates around its vacuum with w = 0 while the inflaton decays into radiation immediately after inflation. To prevent the spectator from coming into our sight, it has to end slow roll before the last ~ 20 e-folds of inflation. We will not consider the worst case, but instead assume that spectator decays reasonably early, so it will not leave any imprint on the energy density as long as it ends slow roll before the end of inflation. This guarantees negligible isocurvature perturbations from the spectator.

5.3 Perturbations

The cosmological perturbations arising from the spectator field can be calculated using δN formalism. Similar with the calculations in the curvaton scenario, we first neglect the perturbations from the inflaton, and only consider the initial spectator perturbation at the Hubble exit, $\delta \sigma_*$. All other perturbations are induced by this initial perturbation.

During Phase I, $\delta \sigma_*$ perturbs Eq. (5.15) at the boundary by the amount

$$-\frac{\delta\phi_b}{V'_b} = \frac{\delta\sigma_*}{U'_*} - \frac{\delta\sigma_b}{U'_b}.$$
(5.17)

The field perturbations at the boundary, $\delta \phi_b$ and $\delta \sigma_b$, should still satisfy the boundary condition Eq. (5.16), giving

$$8\pi V_b' \delta \phi_b + (M_p^2 U_b''' + 8\pi U_b') \delta \sigma_b = 0.$$
(5.18)

Combining the above equations gives us the induced field perturbations at the boundary

$$\delta\phi_b = -\frac{V_b'}{U_*'}(1-\theta)\delta\sigma_*, \qquad (5.19)$$

$$\delta\sigma_b = \frac{U_b'}{U_*'}\theta\delta\sigma_*, \qquad (5.20)$$

where the variable θ is defined as

$$\theta \equiv \frac{\epsilon_{\phi b}}{\epsilon_{\phi b} + \epsilon_{\sigma b} + \xi_{\sigma b}} \approx \frac{\epsilon_{\phi b}}{\xi_{\sigma b}} \ll 1.$$
(5.21)

The third slow-roll parameter for σ at the boundary, $\xi_{\sigma b}$, is assumed to be relatively large ($\gtrsim \mathcal{O}(1)$) for the plateau potentials we consider here. The approximation holds as long as the corresponding slow-roll parameters, ϵ_{ϕ} and ϵ_{σ} are both much smaller than unity.

In order to calculate the perturbations in the e-folding, we work in the uniform ϕ slicing. Eq. (5.15) then tells us how the field perturbation $\delta\sigma$ evolves after the Hubble

$$\operatorname{exit}$$

$$\frac{\delta\sigma}{U'} = \frac{\delta\sigma_*}{U'_*}.\tag{5.22}$$

The number of e-folds of Phase I can be written as an integrated form

$$N_* - N_b \equiv \int_{N_b}^{N_*} \mathrm{d}N = \int_{\phi_b}^{\phi_*} \frac{8\pi (U+V)}{M_p^2 V'} \mathrm{d}\phi.$$
(5.23)

The initial perturbation $\delta \sigma_*$ alters it by the amount

$$\delta N_* - \delta N_b = \frac{8\pi}{M_p^2} \left(-\frac{U_b + V_b}{V_b'} \delta \phi_b + \int_{\phi_b}^{\phi_*} \frac{U'}{V'} \delta \sigma \mathrm{d}\phi \right), \tag{5.24}$$

in which (according to Eq. (5.14) and Eq. (5.22)) the integral can be simplified to

$$\int_{\phi_b}^{\phi_*} \frac{U'}{V'} \delta \sigma \mathrm{d}\phi = \frac{\delta \sigma_*}{U'_*} \int_{\phi_b}^{\phi_*} \frac{U'^2}{V'} \mathrm{d}\phi = \frac{U_* - U_b}{U'_*} \delta \sigma_*.$$
(5.25)

Consequently, we get the final expression for the perturbed number of e-folds in Phase I as

$$\delta N_* - \delta N_b = \frac{8\pi \left[U_* - U_b + (1 - \theta)(U_b + V_b) \right]}{M_p^2 U'_*} \delta \sigma_*.$$
(5.26)

After the spectator σ ends slow roll, the universe enters the second phase of inflation. Single-field slow-roll inflation with a perfect fluid has been solved in Section 4.3, which gives the perturbation in the e-folding for Phase II, (according to Eq. (4.73),) as

$$\delta N_b - \delta N_e = \frac{1}{1 - \alpha r_{\sigma b}} \left[\frac{8\pi V_b}{M_p^2 V_b'} \delta \phi_b + \frac{(1 - \alpha)U_b'}{3(1 + w)(U_b + V_b)} \delta \sigma_b \right],$$
(5.27)

where

$$r_{\sigma b} \equiv \frac{U_b}{U_b + V_b} \tag{5.28}$$

is the energy density ratio of spectator at the phase boundary, and α is defined in Eq. (4.65).

Since the energy density of spectator field is redshifted away in Phase II, the universe becomes adiabatic before the end of inflation, without producing any curvature perturbation after inflation:

$$\delta N_e = 0. \tag{5.29}$$

Combining Eq. (5.26), Eq. (5.27) and Eq. (5.29) gives the total curvature perturbation ζ from the initial field perturbation $\delta \sigma_*$

$$\zeta = \delta N_* = N_\sigma \delta \sigma_*,\tag{5.30}$$

where

$$N_{\sigma} = \frac{1-\alpha}{1-\alpha r_{\sigma b}} \left\{ \frac{8\pi U_{*}}{M_{\rm p}^{2} U_{*}^{\prime}} + \theta \left[\frac{U_{b}^{\prime 2}}{3(1+w)(U_{b}+V_{b})U_{*}^{\prime}} - \frac{8\pi U_{b}}{M_{\rm p}^{2} U_{*}^{\prime}} \right] \right\} + \frac{\alpha(1-r_{\sigma b})}{1-\alpha r_{\sigma b}} \frac{8\pi(U_{*}-U_{b})}{M_{\rm p}^{2} U_{*}^{\prime}}.$$
(5.31)

During inflation, most of the slow-roll parameters are much smaller than unity, including ϵ_{ϕ} , ϵ_{σ} , $|\eta_{\phi}|$, $|\eta_{\sigma*}|$, $\xi_{\phi} \ll 1$, but with the exceptions of $\eta_{\sigma b} = -1$ and ξ_{σ} . Therefore we can perform a series expansion w.r.t the slow-roll parameters together with $r_{\sigma} \ll 1$.²⁵ In addition, when the potential $U(\sigma)$ is sharp enough at the phase boundary, i.e. $\theta \ll 1$ and $r_{\sigma b}\xi_{\sigma b} \gg \epsilon_{\phi b}\epsilon_{\sigma b}$, Eq. (5.31) becomes dominated by the very first term. The leading order of Eq. (5.31) is then simplified to

$$N_{\sigma} \approx \frac{8\pi U_*}{M_{\rm p}^2 U'_*}.\tag{5.32}$$

When the inflaton dominates the curvature perturbation, we have

$$N_{\phi} \approx \frac{8\pi V_*}{M_{\rm p}^2 V'_*}.$$
 (5.33)

Therefore, by comparing the above two equations, we find that for spectator to dominate the curvature perturbation, it simply demands a relatively flatter potential

$$\frac{U'_*}{U_*} \ll \frac{V'_*}{V_*}.$$
(5.34)

For a simple spectator potential such as the power law potential $U(\sigma) \propto \sigma^p$, it is hardly possible for the spectator to fulfill the three conditions simultaneously – dominating curvature perturbation, remaining subdominant in energy density, and exiting

²⁵ The slow-roll parameter ξ_{ϕ} does not have to be much smaller than 1, but in many cases it is no larger than $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_{\phi}^2)$. Therefore here we also take it as a small quantity.

slow roll before the inflaton does. They can be satisfied altogether, on the other hand, if we use a plateau potential for $U(\sigma)$. For plateau potentials, slow roll is terminated when the spectator reaches the (sharp enough) plateau edge, justifying our previous choice of the plateau potential for Eq. (5.16).

The above calculations would then give the power spectrum of curvature perturbation

$$\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} = \frac{16H_*^2 U_*^2}{M_p^4 U_*^{\prime 2}} = \frac{H_*^2 r_{\sigma*}^2}{\pi M_p^2 \epsilon_{\sigma*}}.$$
(5.35)

The spectral tilt is given by

$$n_s - 1 \equiv -\frac{\partial \ln \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}{\partial N} = -2\epsilon_{\phi*} + 2\eta_{\sigma*} - \frac{4\epsilon_{\sigma*}}{r_{\sigma*}}, \qquad (5.36)$$

where we have neglected the term $-2\epsilon_{\sigma*}$.

Note from Eq. (5.35), we can obtain $\epsilon_{\sigma*}$ from the observed power spectrum of the curvature perturbation

$$\epsilon_{\sigma*} = \frac{H_*^2 r_{\sigma*}^2}{\pi M_p^2 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}.$$
(5.37)

By plugging it back into Eq. (5.36), we see that as long as the inflation energy scale $H_* \ll 10^{-5} M_{\rm p}$, the last term in Eq. (5.36) is negligible compared to the observed spectral tilt, $n_s - 1 \approx -0.033$ [26]. So we are left with

$$n_s - 1 = -2\epsilon_{\phi*} + 2\eta_{\sigma*}.\tag{5.38}$$

With the help of Eq. (5.36), the running of spectral tilt can be shown as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}n_s}{\mathrm{d}\ln k} = -\frac{\mathrm{d}n_s}{\mathrm{d}N} = -\frac{1}{2}(n_s - 1)^2 - 2\left[3\epsilon_*^2 - 2(\epsilon_{\phi*}\eta_{\phi*} + \epsilon_{\sigma*}\eta_{\sigma*}) - \eta_{\sigma*}^2 + \xi_{\sigma*}\right].$$
 (5.39)

The strength of local bi-spectrum $f_{\rm NL}$ can be derived from taking the derivative

 $\partial/\partial\sigma_*$ on Eq. (5.31). The leading terms are²⁶

$$f_{\rm NL} \equiv \frac{5}{6} \frac{N_{\sigma\sigma}}{N_{\sigma}^2} = \frac{10s_{\sigma}^2 \epsilon_{\phi b}}{3r_{\sigma b}} \left[\frac{2\epsilon_{\phi b} - \eta_{\phi b}}{3(1+w)} - \frac{\epsilon_{\phi b}}{\xi_{\sigma b}^2} \left(1 - \frac{\lambda_{\sigma b}}{\xi_{\sigma b}} \right) + \frac{\eta_{\phi b}}{\xi_{\sigma b}} \right] \\ + \frac{20s_{\sigma}^2 \epsilon_{\sigma b} \epsilon_{\phi b}}{9(1+w)r_{\sigma b}^2 \xi_{\sigma b}} \left(2 - \frac{4+3w}{\xi_{\sigma b}} - \frac{\lambda_{\sigma b}}{\xi_{\sigma b}^2} \right) + \frac{5\epsilon_{\sigma *}}{3r_{\sigma *}^2} - \frac{5\eta_{\sigma *}}{6r_{\sigma *}} \\ + \text{higher order}, \tag{5.40}$$

where the energy density ratio of spectator between the boundary and the Hubble exit is defined as

$$s_{\sigma} \equiv \frac{U_b}{U_*} < 1, \tag{5.41}$$

and the fourth slow-roll parameter is

$$\lambda_{\sigma} \equiv \frac{M_{\rm p}^6 U'^2 U''''}{[8\pi (U+V)]^3}.$$
(5.42)

The third order derivative $N_{\sigma\sigma\sigma} = \partial^3 N_{\sigma} / \partial \sigma_*^3$ can be calculated in the same way and also $g_{\rm NL}$. According to Eq. (4.12), we obtain the leading order tri-spectrum of curvature perturbation as

$$g_{\rm NL} = \frac{25}{54} \Biggl\{ \frac{2\eta_{\sigma*}}{r_{\sigma*}^2} \Biggl(\eta_{\sigma*} - \frac{\epsilon_{\sigma*}}{r_{\sigma*}} \Biggr) - \frac{\xi_{\sigma*}}{r_{\sigma*}^2} + \frac{4s_{\sigma}^3 \epsilon_{\phi b} \xi_{\phi b}}{r_{\sigma b}^2} \Biggl[\frac{1}{3(1+w)} - \frac{1}{\xi_{\sigma b}} \Biggr] + \frac{8s_{\sigma}^3 \epsilon_{\phi b} \epsilon_{\sigma b}}{3(1+w)r_{\sigma b}^3 \xi_{\sigma b}} A \Biggr\},$$
(5.43)

where

$$A \equiv \xi_{\phi b} + \eta_{\phi b} \left(2\eta_{\phi b} + \frac{3\eta_{\sigma *}}{s} \right) - 3\epsilon_{\phi b} \left(2\eta_{\phi b} + \frac{\eta_{\sigma *}}{s} \right) \left(2 - \frac{4 + 3w}{\xi_{\sigma b}} - \frac{\lambda_{\sigma b}}{\xi_{\sigma b}^2} \right) + 2\epsilon_{\phi b}^2 \left[6 - \frac{2}{\xi_{\sigma b}} - \frac{3(1 + w + \lambda_{\sigma b})}{\xi_{\sigma b}^2} + \frac{3(4 + 3w)\lambda_{\sigma b} - \chi_{\sigma b}}{\xi_{\sigma b}^3} + \frac{3\lambda_{\sigma b}^2}{\xi_{\sigma b}^4} \right].$$
(5.44)

Here we have also defined another energy density ratio

$$s \equiv \frac{U_b + V_b}{U_* + V_*} < 1, \tag{5.45}$$

²⁶ In this thesis some expressions appear different from those in [3]. However, they are identical because here we use energy density ratios at different times $(r_{\sigma b} \text{ and } r_{\sigma*})$ to simplify the results.

and the fifth slow-roll parameter for σ

$$\chi_{\sigma} \equiv \frac{M_{\rm p}^8 U'^3 U'''''}{[8\pi (U+V)]^4}.$$
(5.46)

In the above simplest case, where inflaton perturbation is negligible, curvature perturbation comes solely from the spectator field and $\tau_{\rm NL}$ fulfills the simple relation

$$\tau_{\rm NL} = \frac{36}{25} f_{\rm NL}^2. \tag{5.47}$$

When the spectator potential is extremely flat on the plateau ($\epsilon_{\sigma}, \eta_{\sigma*} \rightarrow 0$ and $s_{\sigma} \rightarrow 1$) and the plateau edge is extremely sharp ($\xi_{\sigma b} \rightarrow \infty$), the non-Gaussianity predictions are greatly simplified to

$$f_{\rm NL} = \frac{10\epsilon_{\phi b}(2\epsilon_{\phi b} - \eta_{\phi b})}{9(1+w)r_{\sigma b}},$$
(5.48)

$$g_{\rm NL} = \frac{50\epsilon_{\phi b}\xi_{\phi b}}{81(1+w)r_{\sigma b}^2} - \frac{25\xi_{\sigma*}}{54r_{\sigma*}^2}.$$
 (5.49)

Therefore the local $f_{\rm NL}$ in the spectator scenario is similar to that of curvaton scenario, because they both are inversely proportional to energy density ratio. However, spectator scenario produces a weaker $f_{\rm NL}$, because it is also suppressed by the slow-roll parameters of inflaton. The local $f_{\rm NL}$ in spectator scenario can be large ($\gg O(1)$) or small ($\lesssim O(1)$), depending on which is even smaller, the energy density ratio or the slow-roll parameter suppression.

In the above calculations, we have assumed that classical slow roll dominates over the quantum fluctuations of σ for the relevant scales. This requires the classical displacement of σ to be larger than the quantum fluctuations per Hubble time, i.e.

$$\mathcal{P}_{\delta\sigma*} < \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma}{\mathrm{d}N}\right)^2. \tag{5.50}$$

Multiplying both sides with N_{σ}^2 and using Eq. (5.35), we can convert it to a model independent lower bound on $r_{\sigma*}$

$$r_{\sigma*}^2 > \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}.\tag{5.51}$$
According to the Planck observation [26], which gives $\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \approx 2.5 \times 10^{-9}$, we obtain a lower bound $r_{\sigma*} > 5 \times 10^{-5}$

On the other hand, when the spectator potential is very flat, such as when the spectator is frozen during inflation, the spectator may fail to end slow roll during inflation. On such occasions, as the Hubble rate decreases after inflation, the spectator will however accelerate exponentially. If the spectator reaches the edge of plateau before taking over the inflaton (or its decay products) in energy density, the model becomes effectively the curvaton scenario. Otherwise, we will encounter a second phase of inflation, which is beyond the scope of this thesis.

In order to achieve an ideal spectator scenario, we will need a plateau that is sufficiently flat to dominate curvature perturbation, but not too flat so the spectator still ends slow roll during inflation. We also require the potential to be smooth enough (U'' small enough) on the plateau for the near scale invariant spectrum. There are no shortage of such fields. Their origin could come from anywhere – the visible sector or a hidden sector. Such a spectator does not even have to couple to the Standard Model degrees of freedom because it does not leave any trace in the current energy density or isocurvature perturbations. All the onus will be now on the inflaton's coupling to the Standard Model degrees of freedom for creating the right thermal history of the universe.

5.4 Spectator models

5.4.1 Step function spectator

In certain circumstances, we may encounter a spectator field σ with the potential $u(\sigma)$, which slowly rolls at $\sigma > \sigma_0$ and decays instantly at $\sigma = \sigma_0$. Such scenarios can be modelled equivalently with a potential which has a step function multiplier, namely $U(\sigma)$ which is defined as

$$U(\sigma) = \mathcal{H}(\sigma - \sigma_0)u(\sigma) = \begin{cases} u(\sigma), & \text{for } \sigma > \sigma_0, \\ 0, & \text{else,} \end{cases}$$
(5.52)

where we assume $u(\sigma)$ is flat and smooth enough to accommodate slow roll for $\sigma > \sigma_0$. The Heaviside step function is defined as

$$\mathcal{H}(x) \equiv \begin{cases} 1, & \text{for } x > 0, \\ 0, & \text{else,} \end{cases}$$
(5.53)

which can be regarded as a limiting case of the hyperbolic tangent function

$$\mathcal{H}(x) = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \frac{1 + \tanh kx}{2}.$$
(5.54)

Such step function potentials can also model composite scenarios, such as using the symmetry breaking mechanism of hybrid inflation as spectators.

We will keep k as a large number here, and only take the $k \to +\infty$ limit in the final step. The spectator σ then leaves slow roll at $\sigma_b > \sigma_0$ when the second slow-roll condition is violated, or $\lim_{k\to\infty} \sigma_b = \sigma_0^+$. Due to the sharp transition at the plateau edge σ_b , its whole energy density is instantly transferred to its decay products, which can be regarded as a perfect fluid with a constant equation of state w. No energy density is lost in the process, requiring $\tanh k(\sigma_b - \sigma_0) \to 1$, or $k(\sigma_b - \sigma_0) \gg 1$ for the sharp transition. This simplifies the derivatives of the step function as

$$\frac{\partial^n \tanh k(\sigma - \sigma_0)}{\partial \sigma^n} \approx (-2)^{n+1} k^n e^{-2k(\sigma - \sigma_0)}, \quad \text{for } n = 1, 2, \dots \text{ under } k(\sigma - \sigma_0) \gg 1.$$
(5.55)

It then yields the second slow-roll parameter at the phase boundary, for $k(\sigma_b-\sigma_0)\gg$ 1,

$$\eta_{\sigma b} \equiv \frac{M_{\rm p}^2 u_b''}{8\pi (u_b + V_b)} = -\frac{k^2 M_{\rm p}^2 u_b}{2\pi (u_b + V_b)} e^{-2k(\sigma_b - \sigma_0)} = -1,$$
(5.56)

from which we solve that the spectator ends slow roll at

$$\sigma_b - \sigma_0 = \frac{1}{2k} \ln \frac{k^2 M_p^2 u_b}{2\pi (u_b + V_b)}.$$
(5.57)

Based on this, we calculate the rest of the slow-roll parameters

$$\epsilon_{\sigma b} = \frac{M_{\rm p}^2 u_b^{\prime \, 2}}{16\pi (u_b + V_b)^2},\tag{5.58}$$

$$\xi_{\sigma b} = 2k M_{\rm p} \sqrt{\frac{\epsilon_{\sigma b}}{\pi}}, \qquad (5.59)$$

$$\lambda_{\sigma b} = -2k^2 M_{\rm p}^2 \frac{\epsilon_{\sigma b}}{\pi}, \qquad (5.60)$$

$$\chi_{\sigma b} = 2k^3 M_{\rm p}^3 \left(\frac{\epsilon_{\sigma b}}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
(5.61)

For a step function potential whose edge is infinitely sharp (i.e. $k \to \infty$), the local bi-spectrum (Eq. (5.40)) and tri-spectrum (Eq. (5.43)) are simplified to

$$f_{\rm NL} = \frac{10s_{\sigma}^2 \epsilon_{\phi b} (2\epsilon_{\phi b} - \eta_{\phi b})}{9(1+w)r_{\sigma b}} + \frac{5\epsilon_{\sigma *}}{3r_{\sigma *}^2} - \frac{5\eta_{\sigma *}}{6r_{\sigma *}}, \qquad (5.62)$$

$$g_{\rm NL} = \frac{25}{54} \left[\frac{2\eta_{\sigma*}}{r_{\sigma*}^2} \left(\eta_{\sigma*} - \frac{\epsilon_{\sigma*}}{r_{\sigma*}} \right) - \frac{\xi_{\sigma*}}{r_{\sigma*}^2} + \frac{4s_{\sigma}^3 \epsilon_{\phi b} \xi_{\phi b}}{3(1+w)r_{\sigma b}^2} \right].$$
(5.63)

If we further assume the potential $u(\sigma)$ is very flat and smooth, (i.e. $\epsilon_{\sigma} \ll 1$, $\eta_{\sigma*} \ll 1$, and $s_{\sigma} \approx 1$,) they will reduce to Eq. (5.48) and Eq. (5.49).

As a naive example, we can consider both fields to have quadratic potentials. The potential $U(\sigma)$ also has a step function for a sharp transition during inflation. In this case, the potentials are written as

$$V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}m_{\phi}^{2}\phi^{2}, \qquad U(\sigma) = \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}^{2}\sigma^{2}\mathcal{H}(\sigma - \sigma_{0}).$$
(5.64)

Inflation is driven by $V(\phi)$. In the beginning, when the relevant perturbations leave the Hubble patch, we have $\sigma_* > \sigma_0$, so it stays on the plateau and rolls down slowly. When the spectator field reaches $\sigma_b = \sigma_0$, it decay instantly into radiation which can be modelled by the the sudden change in the potential arising from the step function, which terminates slow roll. The radiation is quickly diluted away by the remaining inflation. Since σ rolls very slowly during Phase I, we typically expect $\sigma_* - \sigma_0 \ll \sigma_0$. This means the effective potential for $\sigma > \sigma_0$ can be approximated by a linear potential

$$U(\sigma) = \frac{1}{2}m_{\sigma}^{2}\sigma_{0}^{2} + m_{\sigma}^{2}\sigma_{0}(\sigma - \sigma_{0}).$$
(5.65)

For this model, we have a total of 4 free parameters $-m_{\phi}$, m_{σ} , σ_0 , and N_b which is the number of e-folds of universe expansion from the phase boundary to the end of inflation (after setting $N_e = 0$). The overall energy scale only affects the power spectrum of the curvature perturbation by

$$\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} = \frac{8(2N_* + 1)m_{\phi}^2 \sigma_0^2}{3M_{\rm p}^4}.$$
(5.66)

Therefore we can fix \mathcal{P}_{ζ} to the observed value and hence reduce the number of free parameters to 3. We want σ to dominate curvature perturbation, which requires σ_0 to be large enough ($\sigma_0 \gg \phi_*$). However as long as this condition is satisfied, the value of σ_0 hardly affects the cosmological predictions of the model. We are left with only two free parameters, which are the mass ratio m_{σ}/m_{ϕ} and N_b . For this model, the energy density ratio at the phase boundary is given by

$$r_{\sigma b} = \frac{m_\sigma^2 \sigma_0^2}{m_\phi^2 \phi_b^2}.$$
(5.67)

So we will use $r_{\sigma b}$ and N_b for coordinates of the two-dimensional parameter space, replacing m_{σ}/m_{ϕ} .

After transforming the parameter space, the free parameters reduce from m_{ϕ} , m_{σ} , σ_0 , N_b to $r_{\sigma b}$ and N_b . The other two degrees of freedom are absorbed in \mathcal{P}_{ζ} which is fixed by observation, and σ_0 which does not change the cosmological predictions. Based on the background solution for single-field slow-roll inflation for ϕ (as Eq. (3.129)):

$$\phi = \frac{M_{\rm p}}{2\sqrt{\pi}}\sqrt{2N+1},\tag{5.68}$$

the transformation in the parameter space has the following relations

$$m_{\phi}^2 = \frac{3M_{\rm p}^4 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}{8(2N_* + 1)\sigma_0^2},\tag{5.69}$$

$$m_{\sigma}^{2} = \frac{3(2N_{b}+1)M_{p}^{6}\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}r_{\sigma b}}{32(2N_{*}+1)\pi\sigma_{0}^{4}}.$$
(5.70)

The local bi-spectrum in Eq. (5.62) is now simplified to

$$f_{\rm NL} = \frac{5}{6(2N_b + 1)^2 r_{\sigma b}}.$$
(5.71)

The two dimensional parameter space $(r_{\sigma b}, N_b)$ is constrained by the following conditions

- 1. The Hubble exit of pivot scale, the phase boundary, and the end of inflation are all well separated. So typically we choose $3 \le N_b \le N_* - 3$.
- 2. The spectator field should remain subdominant in energy density, so $r_{\sigma b} \ll 1$.
- 3. The inflaton should provide suppressed curvature perturbation compared to that from spectator, which means $r_{\sigma b}^2 \gg s_{\sigma}^2 \epsilon_{\sigma*}/(s^2 \epsilon_{\phi*})$. For the specific model, it corresponds to $\sigma_0 \gg \phi_*$ and does not constrain the free parameters.
- 4. The first slow-roll parameter is smaller than unity when σ stays on the flat potential, i.e. $\epsilon_{\sigma*} < 1$.
- 5. The quantum fluctuations of σ should not dominate over its classical slow roll. This means Eq. (5.51) is valid. Here, it means

$$r_{\sigma b} > \sqrt{\frac{2N_* + 1}{2N_b + 1}P_{\zeta}}.$$
 (5.72)

Under the above conditions, we can calculate the spectral index n_s , its running $dn_s/d\ln k$, the local bi-spectrum $f_{\rm NL}$, and tri-spectrum $g_{\rm NL}$. A specific example of $f_{\rm NL}$ is shown in Figure 13, for the parameters $N_* = 50$, $\sigma_0 = 10M_{\rm p}$ and w = 1/3. The regions violating any of the above five conditions are excluded and shown by the



Figure 13: The local bi-spectrum $f_{\rm NL}$ is shown for a step potential spectator field with a quadratic inflaton, as discussed in Section 5.4.1. The yellow shaded region is excluded from parameter space by the five criteria discussed in Section 5.4.1. Darker regions indicate a higher $f_{\rm NL}$. The red dashed contours are for $f_{\rm NL} = 1, 5, 10, 20$ from top right to bottom left.

yellow shaded region in Figure 13. We can read out from Eq. (5.69) the mass for ϕ here is $m_{\phi} \approx 3.0 \times 10^{-7} M_{\rm p}$, so the curvature perturbation from ϕ is indeed negligible. In addition, for these parameters we have $n_s = 0.98$, $dn_s/d\ln k = -3 \times 10^{-4}$ and $g_{\rm NL} \ll 1$, all of which hardly depend on the choice of N_b or $r_{\sigma b}$. They all fall within the observational bounds [26, 27].

From Figure 13, we see that the parameter space is limited. In particular, $r_{\sigma b}$ is constrained on both sides because we need σ to be subdominant and its quantum fluctuations not to overcome slow-roll motion. Moreover, σ hardly contributes to n_s , $f_{\rm NL}$ or $g_{\rm NL}$ because its slow-roll parameters are tiny. With the inflaton ϕ being the only contribution to spectral index, we get $n_s \approx 0.98$, a small running, a small local bispectrum $f_{\rm NL}$, and a small tri-spectrum $g_{\rm NL}$. For these parameters, we can see the local bispectrum strength $f_{\rm NL}$ has a maximum value around 20, which is capped because the classical slow roll has to dominate over quantum fluctuations. It also agrees well with the Planck observations, which limit $f_{\rm NL} < 16$ at $\approx 3\sigma$ [27]. In this case, the major contribution to $f_{\rm NL}$ comes from the conversion from non-adiabatic perturbations to curvature perturbation, which becomes non-Gaussian after the spectator ends slow roll and decays into perfect fluid, even though this non-Gaussian conversion only lasts for one e-fold or so.

5.4.2 Inflection point spectator

Flat directions naturally arise in string theory and supersymmetric theories [93]. These flat directions can also be candidates for the spectator potential. In most cases, such flat directions can be written locally as an effective scalar potential in the form [80,82]

$$U(\Delta\sigma) = U_0 \left(1 + \gamma_1 \frac{\Delta\sigma}{M_p} + \frac{\gamma_3}{6} \frac{\Delta\sigma^3}{M_p^3} \right) + \text{higher order},$$
(5.73)

where

$$\Delta \sigma \equiv \sigma - \sigma_0 \tag{5.74}$$

is the displacement of the scalar spectator σ from its inflection/saddle point σ_0 .

Therefore at $\Delta \sigma = 0$, i.e. $\sigma = \sigma_0$, we will get an inflection/saddle point where $U = U_0$ and U'' = 0. For inflection and saddle points, we will have $\gamma_1 > 0$ and $\gamma_1 = 0$ respectively, and we always have $\gamma_3 > 0$. In general, the higher order terms in the effective potential Eq. (5.73), e.g. $\Delta \sigma^4$, also provide a small contribution to the potential or its derivatives. Here we assume their contributions vanish for the sake of simplicity.

In this respect the motion of σ can be solved as follows. We first obtain the field displacement at the phase boundary $\Delta \sigma_b$, from the breakdown of the second slow-roll condition $\eta_{\sigma b} = -1$

$$\Delta \sigma_b = -\frac{8\pi M_{\rm p}(U_b + V_b)}{\gamma_3 U_0}.\tag{5.75}$$

With this we can introduce a very helpful parameter γ_0 , which tells us how "flat" the potential is at the inflection point

$$\gamma_0 \equiv \sqrt{\frac{\gamma_1}{M_{\rm p}} \frac{2M_{\rm p}^3}{\gamma_3 \Delta \sigma_b^2}} = \sqrt{\frac{\gamma_1 \gamma_3}{2}} \frac{U_0}{4\pi (U_b + V_b)}.$$
(5.76)

Therefore the ratio of $U'(\sigma)$ between the inflection point and the phase boundary is $\gamma_0/(1+\gamma_0)$. For the inflection point potential we are interested in here, typically $\gamma_0 \ll 1$.

As long as we specify the inflaton potential and N_b , we are able to solve the equation of motion for $\Delta \sigma$. The slow-roll approximation in Phase I gives the l.h.s of Eq. (5.15) as

$$\int_{\Delta\sigma_{b}}^{\Delta\sigma} \frac{\mathrm{d}\Delta\sigma}{U'} = \frac{M_{\mathrm{p}}^{2}}{U_{0}} \sqrt{\frac{2}{\gamma_{1}\gamma_{3}}} \arctan \sqrt{\frac{\gamma_{3}}{2\gamma_{1}}} \frac{\Delta\sigma}{M_{\mathrm{p}}} \Big|_{\Delta\sigma_{b}}^{\Delta\sigma} \\ = \frac{M_{\mathrm{p}}^{2}}{4\pi\gamma_{0}(U_{b}+V_{b})} \left(\arctan \frac{1}{\gamma_{0}} + \arctan \frac{x}{\gamma_{0}}\right), \qquad (5.77)$$

where the temporary variable

$$x \equiv \frac{\Delta\sigma}{|\Delta\sigma_b|},\tag{5.78}$$

is the relative displacement from the inflection point.

Since σ always subdominates energy density, we can neglect its contribution to the Hubble rate when solving the background evolution for $\phi(N)$. By equating Eq. (5.77) (as the l.h.s of Eq. (5.15)) with the r.h.s of Eq. (5.15), we derive the evolution of $\sigma(N)$ in terms of x(N), as

$$\arctan\frac{x}{\gamma_0} = -\arctan\frac{1}{\gamma_0} + \frac{4\pi\gamma_0(U_b + V_b)}{M_p^2} \int_{\phi_b}^{\phi} \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi}{V'(\phi)}.$$
(5.79)

We can also derive the slow-roll parameters that are needed to calculate the cosmological observables

$$\epsilon_{\sigma} = \frac{64\pi^3 (U_b + V_b)^4}{\gamma_3^2 U_0^2 (U + V)^2} (\gamma_0^2 + x^2)^2, \qquad (5.80)$$

$$\eta_{\sigma} = \frac{U_b + V_b}{U + V} x, \tag{5.81}$$

$$\xi_{\sigma} = \frac{(U_b + V_b)^2}{2(U + V)^2} (\gamma_0^2 + x^2), \qquad (5.82)$$

and all the higher slow-roll parameters vanish by our initial assumption. When the plateau formed by the inflection point is flat but has a sharp transition at the boundary $(\gamma_3 \text{ is large and } \gamma_0 < 1)$, and the plateau is narrow $(|\Delta \sigma_b| \ll M_p)$, the observables then can be simplified. For example, the spectral index and its running become ²⁷

$$n_s - 1 = -2\epsilon_{\phi*} + 2sx_*, \tag{5.83}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}n_s}{\mathrm{d}\ln k} \approx -\frac{1}{2}(n_s - 1)^2 + 2\epsilon_{\phi*}(2\eta_{\phi*} - 3\epsilon_{\phi*}) + s^2(\gamma_0^2 - x_*^2).$$
(5.84)

As a simple example, we consider the quadratic inflaton potential

$$V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}m^2\phi^2,$$
 (5.85)

and we assume it dominates over the spectator potential $U(\sigma)$. After setting the end of inflation at $N_e = 0$ and taking the pivot scale as $N_* = 50$, we have a total of 5 free ²⁷In the limit $s \to 1$, they reduce to the results in [3]. parameters $m, U_0, \gamma_1, \gamma_3$ and N_b . By using the same trick as in Section 5.4.1, we can fix the overall energy scale to match \mathcal{P}_{ζ} , and switch to the parameter space $r_{\sigma b}, \gamma_0, \gamma_3, N_b$. Then the cosmological observables and the solution $x_*(N_*)$ are independent of γ_3 when γ_3 is large, as can be seen from Eq. (5.79), Eq. (5.83), and Eq. (5.84). Therefore, here we take a large γ_3 and further reduce the parameter space to $r_{\sigma b}, \gamma_0, N_b$.

The background evolution of ϕ can be worked out as a function of N

$$\phi(N) = M_{\rm p} \sqrt{\frac{2N+1}{4\pi}}.$$
(5.86)

This reduces Eq. (5.79) to

$$\arctan\frac{x_*}{\gamma_0} = -\arctan\frac{1}{\gamma_0} + \frac{\gamma_0(2N_b+1)}{4}\ln\frac{2N_*+1}{2N_b+1}.$$
(5.87)

We can make some predictions from the expressions already. In Eq. (5.87) when $N_* = 50$ and γ_0 are fixed, the relative displacement x_* at the Hubble exit is maximized when the last term in Eq. (5.87) reaches maximum at $N_b \approx 18$. Since the field σ contributes to the spectral index by $2sx_*$ as in Eq. (5.83), we should expect the spectral index to also reach maximum at $N_b \approx 18$. The last term of Eq. (5.40) contributes $-5x_*/6r_{\sigma b}$ to the local $f_{\rm NL}$, which should reach the minimum at $N_b \approx 18$.

Our analytical predictions can be verified by considering the typical case $N_* = 50$, $\gamma_3 = 10^{10}$, $\gamma_0 = 0.15$ and w = 1/3. The only remaining free parameters are $r_{\sigma b}$ and N_b . We can hence plot the CMB observables on the $(r_{\sigma b}, N_b)$ parameter space, as in Figure 14 and Figure 15, where the parameter γ_1 is also shown. The parameter space has the same exclusion conditions as discussed in Section 5.4.1, which are shaded in yellow. Here the third constraint for the specific model can be shown as

$$r_{\sigma b}^{4} \gg \frac{64\pi^{3}(\gamma_{0}^{2} + x_{*}^{2})}{\gamma_{3}^{2}\epsilon_{\phi*}}.$$
(5.88)

The energy scale for the spectator field, U_0 , varies from $10^{-26}M_p^4$ to $10^{-17}M_p^4$.



(a) The model parameter γ_1 .

(b) The running of the spectral index $dn_s/d\ln k$.

Figure 14: Cosmological observables and γ_1 are drawn for the inflection point spectator field with a quadratic inflaton potential. The x axis is the logarithmic of $r_{\sigma b}$, the energy density ratio of the spectator field w.r.t the total at the phase boundary. The y axis is N_b , the number of e-folds of inflation from the phase boundary "b" to the end of inflation. The shaded yellow regions are excluded by the five constraints discussed in Section 5.4.1. The shaded green regions are observationally favoured by the spectral index within 0.9667 \pm 0.0080 whereas the solid green lines indicate the central value, based on the 2σ constraint by Planck [26]. Two additional subfigures are placed in Figure 15 due to page limit.



(a) The local bi-spectrum $f_{\rm NL}$.

(b) The local tri-spectrum $g_{\rm NL}$.

Figure 15: Parameter space for the inflection point spectator with a quadratic inflaton, followed from Figure 14.

In Figure 14 and Figure 15, we find agreement with our analytical predictions. Around $N_b \approx 18$, the spectral index peaks and drops out of the 2σ confidence level, whereas the local bi-spectrum reaches its minimum. The running of the spectral index is typically small. The local $f_{\rm NL}$ and $g_{\rm NL}$ can both attain small values within the current observational bound.

It is worth noting that the fine-tuning of inflection/saddle point potentials is alleviated on spectator fields. This is simply because the inflaton dominated energy density allows for a less flat inflection/saddle point potential.

5.4.3 Hyperbolic tangent spectator

In this section, we consider a smoother plateau for the spectator potential, which is the hyperbolic tangent function, in the form

$$U(\sigma) = \frac{U_0}{2} \left(1 + \tanh \frac{\sigma}{\sigma_0} \right) \,. \tag{5.89}$$

For simplicity, we favour a small enough parameter for σ_0 , so the slow-roll phase for the spectator takes place at $\sigma > 2\sigma_0$, but σ_0 should not be so small that it becomes a step-like potential. The effective potential is

$$U(\sigma) = U_0 \left(1 - 2e^{-\frac{2\sigma}{\sigma_0}} \right) .$$
(5.90)

We can then write down the slow-roll parameters

$$\epsilon_{\sigma} = \frac{M_{\rm p}^2 U_0^2}{4\pi \sigma_0^2 V^2} e^{-\frac{4\sigma}{\sigma_0}},\tag{5.91}$$

$$\eta_{\sigma} = -\frac{M_{\rm p}^2 U_0}{2\pi\sigma_0^2 V} e^{-\frac{2\sigma}{\sigma_0}}, \qquad (5.92)$$

$$\xi_{\sigma} = \frac{M_{\rm p}^2 U_0^2}{4\pi^2 \sigma_0^4 V^2} e^{-\frac{4\sigma}{\sigma_0}}, \qquad (5.93)$$

where we have neglected the spectator energy density because it is subdominant.

The spectator ends slow roll at $\eta_{\sigma b} = -1$, i.e.

$$e^{\frac{2\sigma_b}{\sigma_0}} = \frac{M_{\rm p}^2 U_0}{2\pi\sigma_0^2 V}.$$
(5.94)

Here we assume the inflaton energy density $V(\phi)$ to be almost constant during inflation. This can be guaranteed by the saddle point potential $V(\phi)$. The background evolution of the spectator field can then be solved as

$$e^{\frac{2\sigma}{\sigma_0}} = \frac{M_{\rm p}^2 U_0}{2\pi\sigma_0^2 V} (N - N_b + 1).$$
(5.95)

The solution then gives the simple expressions for the slow-roll parameters, Eq. (5.91),

Eq. (5.92) and Eq. (5.93), as

$$\epsilon_{\sigma} = \frac{\pi \sigma_0^2}{M_p^2} \frac{1}{(N - N_b + 1)^2},$$
(5.96)

$$\eta_{\sigma} = -\frac{1}{N - N_b + 1}, \tag{5.97}$$

$$\xi_{\sigma} = \frac{1}{(N - N_b + 1)^2}.$$
(5.98)

The condition $\sigma > 2\sigma_0$ then demonstrates the relation (together with Eq. (5.94))

$$\epsilon_{\sigma} \ll r_{\sigma} \eta_{\sigma}^2 < |\eta_{\sigma}|, \tag{5.99}$$

which guarantees the slow roll is terminated by the second order condition.

When the spectator σ reaches the edge of the hyperbolic tangent plateau at σ_b , we assume it decays instantly and completely into relativistic species, thus leaving no residual isocurvature perturbations. All the matter is then created by the decay of the inflaton field, such as the saddle point inflaton similar with that in Section 3.5.2, which can be written as [4,84,226]

$$V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}m^2|\phi|^2 - \frac{Ah}{6\sqrt{3}}\phi^3 + \frac{h^2}{12}|\phi|^4.$$
(5.100)

For A = 4m, we can find the saddle point at

$$\phi_0 = \sqrt{3}\frac{m}{h}.\tag{5.101}$$

The effective potential around the saddle point then becomes

$$V(\phi) = V(\phi_0) + \frac{V''(\phi_0)}{6}(\phi - \phi_0)^3 + \text{higher order},$$
 (5.102)

where

$$V(\phi_0) = \frac{m^4}{4h^2}, \tag{5.103}$$

$$V'''(\phi_0) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}hm.$$
 (5.104)

The spectator field can always be dropped when considering the inflaton dynamics. Also neglecting the higher order terms and taking the inflaton energy density to be near constant $(V(\phi) \approx V(\phi_0))$ during inflation, the slow-roll parameters for the inflaton can be written as

$$\epsilon_{\phi} = \frac{9M_{\rm p}^2(\phi - \phi_0)^4}{\pi\phi_0^6}, \qquad (5.105)$$

$$\eta_{\phi} = \frac{3M_{\rm p}^2(\phi - \phi_0)}{\pi\phi_0^3}.$$
(5.106)

At the end of inflation, the second slow-roll condition is violated with $\eta_{\phi e} = -1$, giving

$$\frac{\phi_0 - \phi_e}{\phi_0} = \frac{\pi \phi_0^2}{3M_p^2} \ll 1, \tag{5.107}$$

where the inequality holds because of our sub-Planckian assumption $\phi_0 \ll M_{\rm p}$. The small relative field displacement then justifies our approximation of $V(\phi) \approx V(\phi_0)$. Then we can solve the background evolution of the inflaton

$$\phi = \phi_0 - \frac{2\pi\phi_0^3}{3M_p^2(2+N-N_e)}.$$
(5.108)

For practical purposes, the inflaton perturbations could be assumed to be subdominant in producing curvature perturbation, as compared to that of the spectator's.

Assuming the saddle point potential of the inflaton is very flat ($\epsilon_{\phi*} \ll \eta_{\sigma*}$) and smooth ($\eta_{\phi*} \ll \eta_{\sigma*}$) near the Hubble exit of the pivot scales, we can neglect the inflaton's slow-roll parameters in the cosmological observables. The slow-roll parameter ϵ_{σ} is also negligible according to Eq. (5.99). At the pivot scale $N = N_*$, the spectral index n_s , the local bi-spectrum $f_{\rm NL}$, and the local tri-spectrum $g_{\rm NL}$ are then only determined by the slow-roll parameters of the spectator σ , giving the leading order terms

$$n_s - 1 = 2\eta_{\sigma*} = -\frac{2}{N_* - N_b + 1},$$
(5.109)

$$f_{\rm NL} = -\frac{5\eta_{\sigma*}}{6r_{\sigma*}} = \frac{5}{6(N_* - N_b + 1)r_{\sigma*}},$$
(5.110)

$$g_{\rm NL} = \frac{25(2\eta_{\sigma*}^2 - \xi_{\sigma*})}{54r_{\sigma*}^2} = \frac{25}{54(N_* - N_b + 1)^2 r_{\sigma*}^2},$$
 (5.111)

where, due to the flatness of the hyperbolic tangent potential and the saddle point potential, the energy density ratio is simply

$$r_{\sigma*} \approx r_{\sigma b} \approx \frac{U_0}{V(\phi_0)}.$$
(5.112)

The power spectrum of curvature perturbation then becomes

$$\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} = \frac{2(N_* - N_b + 1)^2 r_{\sigma^*}^2 V_0}{3\pi M_p^2 \sigma_0^2}.$$
(5.113)

Therefore to obtain the observed power spectrum for the curvature perturbation, which requires σ_0 to take the value

$$\frac{\sigma_0^2}{H_*^2} = \frac{r_{\sigma*}^2}{4\pi^2 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}} (N_* - N_b + 1)^2.$$
(5.114)

When the inflaton model is given, the parameters N_* and $V(\phi_0)$ are fixed. The spectral index n_s , the local bi-spectrum $f_{\rm NL}$, the local tri-spectrum $g_{\rm NL}$, and the relative value σ_0/H_* then only depend on $r_{\sigma*}$ and N_b . We can then plot the two-dimensional phase space $(r_{\sigma*}, N_b)$ in Figure 16 and Figure 17, where $N_e = 0$ is taken.

One can see that the model predicts the spectral index, its negligible running, and the local bi-spectrum as shown in the green shade which depicts the 3σ range of the current Planck data [26, 27]. We have also shown the values of $g_{\rm NL}$ in Figure 16 and Figure 17. Since σ decays into radiation, there is no residual isocurvature perturbations, which matches with observation.

In this chapter, we have summarized the previous studies of the minimal curvaton scenario, which has been severely constrained by the Planck observations. We then moved on to spectator scenario, and obtained good agreement with the CMB. For the spectator models with inflection point potentials, hyperbolic tangent potentials, and those with a sudden phase transition, we have mapped out their parameter space in accordance with the CMB.



(a) The relative scale σ_0/H_* .



Figure 16: The parameter space for the hyperbolic tangent spectator model with a saddle point inflaton. The yellow shaded regions are excluded due to the multiple constraints in Section 5.4.1. The green bands comply with the Planck observations at 3σ confidence level for all the observables, including the spectral index and its running, and the local non-Gaussianities. The red contour lines are for the values of the respective parameters. Here we have taken the pivot scale e-folding $N_* = 50$. Two additional subfigures are placed in Figure 17 due to page limit.



(a) The local bi-spectrum $f_{\rm NL}$.

(b) The local tri-spectrum $g_{\rm NL}$.

Figure 17: Parameter space for the hyperbolic tangent spectator with a saddle point inflaton, followed from Figure 16.

Although the second half of this chapter has been devoted to producing the CMB fluctuations with the spectator scenario, it is merely a possibility for certain model potentials under certain initial conditions. For this reason, spectator scenario does not suffer from fine tuning in initial condition. Initial conditions that fail to allow the spectator to end slow roll during inflation may instead lead to curvaton scenario or a second phase of inflation, which can also seed the desired cosmological observables in their own ways. Undesired spectator scenario may also appear in many-field inflation, indicating another future direction of spectator studies.

6 CMB power asymmetry from spectator fields

As discussed in Section 2.6, the power asymmetry of the CMB temperature fluctuations should come from the inflationary epoch or other alternative scenarios. There have been plenty of relevant analyses and proposals to explain the power asymmetry [5, 6, 125, 220, 227–242]. We first discuss the generic conditions for producing a large CMB power asymmetry from inflation, showing the deficiency of CMB power asymmetry from (nearly) scale invariant perturbations. We then demonstrate how a tachyonic fast roll phase may enhance power asymmetry. Combining with other observational constraints, we construct a minimal model for the observed CMB power asymmetry based on spectator scenario.

6.1 Primordial origins of the CMB power asymmetry

6.1.1 Consistency relation for single-source perturbations

Single-source here indicates that the primordial perturbations originated from only a single field. It can be single-field slow-roll inflation, where only one field is present, but hybrid inflation, curvaton or spectator scenarios also count, as long as only one field contributes to primordial perturbations. This is in contrast with the primordial perturbations from multiple sources, which will be discussed in Section 6.1.2.

Using the separate universe approach [132, 134], we can regard the opposite sides of our Hubble patch as independent separate universes for the CMB power spectra. Assuming the curvature perturbation is determined by only one field σ , (which may participate in inflation,) the power spectrum of the curvature perturbation can be written as (at the leading order) ²⁸

$$\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} = \mathcal{P}_{\delta N} = N_{\sigma}^2 \mathcal{P}_{\delta \sigma}.$$
(6.1)

²⁸ Starting from here, all primordial variables would indicate their values at Hubble exit unless

As an example, the σ field can be one of the inflatons, a curvaton, or a spectator.

As explained in Section 3.2, field perturbations, such as $\delta\sigma_{\mathbf{k}}$, can exist on scales which are even much larger than the size of our current Hubble patch. Such very large scale perturbations can bring about a non-vanishing (vector) gradient²⁹ $\nabla\sigma$ at the Hubble exit of the pivot scales, which can be regarded as a constant in our observable universe. Consider two opposite local patches on the CMB map, separated by $2\mathbf{r}_{\rm ls}$ directed from one patch to the other, where $r_{\rm ls} = 1/a_*H_*$ is our comoving distance to the Last Scattering Surface, defined in Eq. (3.95). The gradient $\nabla\sigma$ then yields a background field asymmetry between the two opposite local patches at the Hubble exit, by the amount

$$\Delta \sigma = 2\mathbf{r}_{\rm ls} \cdot \nabla \sigma. \tag{6.2}$$

Along the maximal direction, the field asymmetry is most significant by the amount

$$\Delta \sigma = 2r_{\rm ls} |\nabla \sigma|. \tag{6.3}$$

The background field asymmetry $\Delta \sigma$ can then result in the asymmetry in the curvature perturbation. According to Eq. (6.1), on the opposite sides the power spectra of curvature perturbation should differ by

$$\frac{\Delta \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}{\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}{\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \partial \sigma} \Delta \sigma = \frac{2N_{\sigma\sigma}}{N_{\sigma}} \Delta \sigma, \tag{6.4}$$

where we have neglected the possible change in Hubble rate due to $\Delta\sigma$, because during inflation H should remain almost constant. Since we are only interested in the absolute amount of asymmetry, we can redefine $\Delta \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}$ and $\Delta\sigma$ as their absolute values. This

otherwise specified.

 $^{^{29} \}nabla \equiv (\partial/\partial x^1, \partial/\partial x^2, \partial/\partial x^3)$ is the vector representation of the gradient operator for three spatial dimensions.

transforms Eq. (6.4) into

$$\frac{\Delta \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}{\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}} = \left| \frac{2N_{\sigma\sigma}}{N_{\sigma}} \right| \Delta \sigma.$$
(6.5)

Since σ is the only field that creates cosmological perturbations, we can write N_{σ} and $N_{\sigma\sigma}$ in terms of cosmological observables. This will create a link between the asymmetries and other cosmological observables, such as

$$\frac{\Delta \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}{\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}} = \frac{12}{5} \frac{\Delta \sigma}{\sqrt{\mathcal{P}_{\delta\sigma}}} |f_{\rm NL}| \sqrt{\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}},\tag{6.6}$$

where $\Delta \sigma / \sqrt{\mathcal{P}_{\delta\sigma}}$ can be regarded as the *relative strength* of very large scale perturbations, compared with those at the pivot scales. The CMB power asymmetry factor A can then be related to

$$A = \frac{\Delta \mathcal{P}_{\Delta T}}{4 \mathcal{P}_{\Delta T}} = \frac{\Delta \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}{4 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}} = \frac{3}{5} \frac{\Delta \sigma}{\sqrt{\mathcal{P}_{\delta \sigma}}} |f_{\rm NL}| \sqrt{\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}.$$
(6.7)

From the latest Planck observations [11,26], we know $\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} = (2.142\pm0.0040) \times 10^{-9}$ and $A = 0.07\pm0.02$. For simplicity, we can take their central values. The local $f_{\rm NL} = 0.8\pm5.0$ constraint at 1σ corresponds to $|f_{\rm NL}| < 10.8$ at over 95% CL. Putting together all these constraints, Eq. (6.7) then leads to the lower bound for very large scale perturbations

$$\frac{\Delta\sigma}{\sqrt{\mathcal{P}_{\delta\sigma}}} = \frac{5A}{3|f_{\rm NL}|\sqrt{\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}} > 233,\tag{6.8}$$

at over 95% CL.

For compatibility with forthcoming sections, we also use expectation values as the measure for the amount of asymmetry. The expectation versions of Eq. (6.7) and Eq. (6.8) are

$$\langle A^2 \rangle = \frac{9}{25} \frac{\left\langle |\Delta \sigma|^2 \right\rangle}{\mathcal{P}_{\delta \sigma}} f_{\rm NL}^2 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}, \tag{6.9}$$

and

$$\frac{\left\langle |\Delta\sigma|^2 \right\rangle}{\mathcal{P}_{\delta\sigma}} = \frac{25 \langle A^2 \rangle}{9 f_{\rm NL}^2 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}} > 5.4 \times 10^4, \tag{6.10}$$

where for simplicity, we have taken the observed central value $A \approx 0.07$ as the standard deviation of A.

6.1.2 Consistency relation for multi-source perturbations

In the more generic scenario of multi-field slow-roll inflation, where perturbations of all fields may contribute to curvature perturbation, Eq. (6.1) becomes

$$\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} = \mathcal{P}_{\delta N} = \mathcal{P}_{\delta \phi} \sum_{\mu} N_{\mu}^2, \tag{6.11}$$

where $\mu = 0, 1, ..., n-1$ for the canonical slow-roll scalar fields ϕ^{μ} and n is the number of ϕ fields. The very large scale perturbations then bring about the gradient $\nabla \phi^{\mu}$, whose maximum directions can differ for each field. By comparing the opposite local patches on the CMB map along an arbitrary direction, which are separated by $2\mathbf{r}_{\rm ls}$, we can find the asymmetries in the background field evolutions by the amount

$$\Delta \phi^{\mu} = 2\mathbf{r}_{\rm ls} \cdot \nabla \phi^{\mu}. \tag{6.12}$$

The asymmetry in the curvature perturbation can then be calculated as

$$\frac{\Delta \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}{\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}} = \frac{4N_{\mu}N_{\mu\nu}}{\sum_{\lambda}N_{\lambda}^{2}}\mathbf{r}_{\rm ls} \cdot \nabla\phi^{\nu} = \frac{4r_{\rm ls}}{\sum_{\lambda}N_{\lambda}^{2}}\mathbf{\hat{r}}_{\rm ls} \cdot \sum_{\mu,\nu}N_{\mu}N_{\mu\nu}\nabla\phi^{\nu}.$$
(6.13)

The maximal asymmetry of curvature perturbation is achieved when the unit vector $\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{ls}$ aligns with the vector it is multiplied with in Eq. (6.13). In the following calculations, we are only interested in the direction with the *strongest* asymmetry signal, which has

$$\frac{\Delta \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}{\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}} = \frac{4r_{\rm ls}}{\sum_{\lambda} N_{\lambda}^2} \left| \sum_{\mu,\nu} N_{\mu} N_{\mu\nu} \nabla \phi^{\nu} \right|.$$
(6.14)

where

$$\left|\sum_{\mu,\nu} N_{\mu} N_{\mu\nu} \nabla \phi^{\nu}\right| \equiv \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{3} \left(\sum_{\mu,\nu} N_{\mu} N_{\mu\nu} \frac{\partial \phi^{\nu}}{\partial x^{i}}\right)^{2}} .$$
(6.15)

In the simplest case where perturbative evolutions are identical for all the fields ϕ^{μ} on very large scales, the expectation of the gradients of all the fields should be independently Gaussian and isotropic, so they are all equal to

$$\left\langle \frac{\partial \phi^{\mu}}{\partial x^{i}} \frac{\partial \phi^{\nu}}{\partial x^{i}} \right\rangle = \delta^{\mu\nu} \left\langle \left(\frac{\partial \phi^{\mu}}{\partial x^{i}} \right)^{2} \right\rangle, \tag{6.16}$$

and

$$\left\langle |\nabla \phi^{\mu}|^{2} \right\rangle \equiv \left\langle \sum_{i=1}^{3} \left(\frac{\partial \phi^{\mu}}{\partial x^{i}} \right)^{2} \right\rangle = \left\langle |\nabla \phi|^{2} \right\rangle, \quad \text{for any } \mu.$$
 (6.17)

These properties allow us to calculate with ease the expectation value of the absolute in Eq. (6.14)

$$\left\langle \left| \sum_{\mu,\nu} N_{\mu} N_{\mu\nu} \nabla \phi^{\nu} \right|^{2} \right\rangle = \left\langle \sum_{i=1}^{3} \left(\sum_{\mu,\nu} N_{\mu} N_{\mu\nu} \frac{\partial \phi^{\nu}}{\partial x^{i}} \right)^{2} \right\rangle$$
(6.18)

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{3} \sum_{\mu,\nu,\lambda,\eta} N_{\mu} N_{\mu\nu} N_{\lambda} N_{\lambda\eta} \left\langle \frac{\partial \phi^{\nu}}{\partial x^{i}} \frac{\partial \phi^{\eta}}{\partial x^{i}} \right\rangle$$
(6.19)

$$= \sum_{\mu,\nu,\lambda} N_{\mu} N_{\mu\nu} N_{\nu\lambda} N_{\lambda} \left\langle \sum_{i=1}^{3} \left(\frac{\partial \phi^{\nu}}{\partial x^{i}} \right)^{2} \right\rangle$$
(6.20)

$$= \tau_{\rm NL} \left\langle |\nabla \phi|^2 \right\rangle \left(\sum_{\mu} N_{\mu}^2 \right)^3.$$
 (6.21)

Then we know the expectation of power asymmetry in the CMB perturbation spectrum, according to Eq. (6.14), as

$$\langle A^2 \rangle = \frac{\langle \Delta \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}^2 \rangle}{16 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}^2} \tag{6.22}$$

$$= \tau_{\rm NL} r_{\rm ls}^2 \left\langle |\nabla \phi|^2 \right\rangle \sum_{\mu} N_{\mu}^2 \tag{6.23}$$

$$= \frac{1}{4} \tau_{\rm NL} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \frac{\left\langle |\Delta \phi|^2 \right\rangle}{\mathcal{P}_{\delta \phi}}, \tag{6.24}$$

where

$$\left\langle |\Delta\phi|^2 \right\rangle \equiv 4r_{\rm ls}^2 \left\langle |\nabla\phi|^2 \right\rangle$$
 (6.25)

is the expectation value of the field asymmetry along *its* maximal direction (see Eq. (6.12)). Then Eq. (6.24) yields the lower bound of the strength of very large scale perturbations

$$\frac{\left\langle |\Delta\phi|^2 \right\rangle}{\mathcal{P}_{\delta\phi}} = \frac{4\langle A^2 \rangle}{\tau_{\rm NL} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}} > 3200, \tag{6.26}$$

at over 95% CL.

Comparing it with Eq. (6.10), we find that in multi-source scenario, the applicable non-Gaussianity parameter is instead $\tau_{\rm NL}$. This also states that the single-source scenario

nario Eq. (6.10) is a special case of the multi-source version Eq. (6.26), because of the consistency relation Eq. (3.119).

6.2 Lack of asymmetry from scale invariant perturbations

It still remains a question if Eq. (6.10) or Eq. (6.26) can be satisfied in order to explain the CMB power asymmetry, especially for slow-roll scalar fields during inflation. In this section, we will calculate the expectation of field gradient from very large scale perturbations. The very large scale perturbations produce a non-vanishing gradient along any arbitrary z direction, whose expectation can be calculated as

$$\left\langle \left| \frac{\partial \delta \phi(\mathbf{x})}{\partial z} \right|^2 \right\rangle = \left\langle \int_{k,k' \le k_*} \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k} \mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k}'}{(2\pi)^3} k_z k'_z \delta \phi_{\mathbf{k}} \delta \phi^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k}'} e^{i(\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}')\cdot\mathbf{x}} \right\rangle$$
(6.27)

$$= \int_{k \le k_*} k_z^2 P_{\delta\phi}(k) \mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{k}$$
(6.28)

$$= \frac{4\pi}{3} \int_0^{k_*} k^4 P_{\delta\phi}(k) \mathrm{d}k, \qquad (6.29)$$

where the upper bound of the integral

$$k_* \equiv a_* H_*, \tag{6.30}$$

is the comoving wavenumber of the pivot scale, only scales larger than which can make a significant contribution to the overall gradient in our current Hubble patch. The lower bound of the integral is treated as zero as an approximation, because a more careful choice of the lower bound (that is $\ll k_*$) only changes the integral negligibly in most cases. The vanishing lower bound does not indicate any past completeness for inflation.

We can then derive the expectation of field gradient

$$\left\langle |\nabla \phi|^2 \right\rangle = 4\pi \int_0^{k_*} k^4 P_{\delta \phi}(k) \mathrm{d}k, \qquad (6.31)$$

and that of field asymmetry

$$\left\langle |\Delta\phi|^2 \right\rangle = 16\pi r_{\rm ls}^2 \int_0^{k_*} k^4 P_{\delta\phi}(k) \mathrm{d}k.$$
(6.32)

In the simplest case, if all the fields ϕ^{μ} are slowly rolling in the last several e-folds before the Hubble exit of the CMB scales, we can obtain the (almost) scale invariant field perturbations³⁰

$$k^{3} P_{\delta\phi}(k) = k_{0}^{3} P_{\delta\phi}(k_{0}) = 2\pi^{2} \mathcal{P}_{\delta\phi}, \qquad \text{for } k \lesssim k_{*}.$$

$$(6.33)$$

This greatly simplifies Eq. (6.32), yielding the relative strength of field asymmetry for scale invariant perturbations:

$$\frac{\left\langle |\Delta\phi|^2 \right\rangle}{\mathcal{P}_{\delta\phi}} = 16\pi^3,\tag{6.34}$$

which is insufficient, according to Eq. (6.26), to produce the observed CMB power asymmetry. Also, Eq. (6.24) becomes

$$\langle A^2 \rangle = 4\pi^3 \tau_{\rm NL} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} < 9 \times 10^{-4}, \tag{6.35}$$

at >95% CL.

The statement still holds when the spectral index of field perturbations are nonvanishing but small. The power spectrum of field perturbations can be parameterized w.r.t the reference scale k_0 , as

$$k^{3} P_{\delta\phi}(k) = k_{0}^{3} P_{\delta\phi}(k_{0}) \left(\frac{k}{k_{0}}\right)^{n_{\delta\phi}-1} , \qquad (6.36)$$

where $n_{\delta\phi} \approx 1$ is the spectral index of field perturbations, defined similarly to n_s in Eq. (2.15) for curvature perturbation ζ . Eq. (6.34) then becomes (assuming $n_{\delta\phi} \neq -1$)

$$\frac{\left\langle |\Delta\phi|^2 \right\rangle}{\mathcal{P}_{\delta\phi}} = \frac{32\pi^3}{n_{\delta\phi} + 1} \frac{k_0^2}{a_*^2 H_*^2} \left(\frac{k_*}{k_0}\right)^{n_{\delta\sigma} + 1}.$$
(6.37)

Eq. (6.35) in the weak scale dependence case then becomes

$$\langle A^2 \rangle = \frac{8\pi^3}{n_{\delta\phi} + 1} \frac{k_0^2}{a_*^2 H_*^2} \left(\frac{k_*}{k_0}\right)^{n_{\delta\sigma} + 1} \tau_{\rm NL} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}.$$
 (6.38)

³⁰ We assume that perturbations in the infrared limit $(k \to 0)$ do not affect local physics, so any possible deviation from scale invariance in the infrared limit would be negligible.

As a good approximation for practical purposes, here we choose the reference scale $k_0 = k_*$, at the pivot scale. Eq. (6.38) is then simplified to

$$\langle A^2 \rangle = \frac{8\pi^3}{n_{\delta\phi} + 1} \tau_{\rm NL} \mathcal{P}_{\zeta}. \tag{6.39}$$

As we can see from Eq. (6.39), the weak scale dependence only introduces the extra factor $2/(n_{\delta\phi} + 1)$. This cannot change the order of magnitude for a nearly scale invariant spectrum with $n_{\delta\phi} \approx 1$. In the single-source case where Eq. (6.9) should be applied, the inconsistency with the observed central value A = 0.07 is even stronger. We therefore conclude that for canonical slow-roll scalar fields with nearly scale invariant perturbations, any mechanism cannot produce the CMB power asymmetry with central value A = 0.07, while satisfying the local non-Gaussianity constraints from $f_{\rm NL}$ and $\tau_{\rm NL}$.

6.3 Enhancing very large scale perturbations from a tachy-

onic fast-roll phase

In the previous section, we have shown that canonical slow-roll scalars cannot produce the observed CMB power asymmetry because of (near) scale invariant spectrum. This suggests to us straightforwardly to violate scale invariance using non-slow-roll fields. It is well known that perturbations can get enhanced during a tachyonic fast-roll phase [6,67,243]. Therefore we wish to investigate how a tachyonic fast-roll phase before the Hubble exit of the pivot scale may enhance CMB power asymmetry.

In the simplest case, let us consider a scalar field σ that acquires a tachyonic mass for a brief period. The total effective action for the tachyonic phase is given by

$$S = \int \sqrt{-g} \,\mathrm{d}^4 x \left(-\frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \sigma \partial^\mu \sigma + \frac{1}{2} m^2 \sigma^2 + \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{else}} \right), \tag{6.40}$$

where m is the effective tachyonic mass of σ during the tachyonic phase, which is regarded as a constant for simplicity. All other components of the universe are then contained in the \mathcal{L}_{else} term. For simplicity, we also assume that the Hubble rate H remains almost constant, which may come from the \mathcal{L}_{else} term. Then the Hubble rate H determines a unique energy scale, w.r.t which all the dimensional variables can be expressed. As an example, the tachyonic mass m can be written as

$$m^2 \equiv (e^{2N_m} - 1)2H^2, \tag{6.41}$$

where N_m is defined as such.

Before or after the brief tachyonic fast-roll phase, we simply assume the scalar σ becomes light and enters slow-roll phase. For perturbative calculations in slow-roll phase, we can simply take m = 0 in Eq. (6.40), or $N_m = 0$ in Eq. (6.41), because the effective mass is much smaller than the Hubble rate. Here we do not investigate how the brief tachyonic fast-roll phase may be motivated in any specific particle physics theory, but instead only discuss the phenomenological consequences. For simplicity, we will also assume that the fast-roll phase (or the tachyonic mass) is switched on and off instantly.

During tachyonic fast-roll phase, we will not solve the perturbative evolutions exactly, such as in Eq. (3.61). Instead and as an approximation, we can find the attractor solutions for slow-roll and fast-roll phases and concatenate them. For this purpose, we define the redshift damping rate for perturbation mode k as

$$\alpha_k(N) \equiv \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial \ln P_{\delta\sigma}(k, N)}{\partial N}.$$
(6.42)

Note here we have used $N \equiv \ln \frac{a}{a_0}$, the past e-folds of the universe expansion w.r.t a certain reference scale a_0 , as proper time³¹. Also, $P_{\delta\sigma}(k, N)$ is the realtime power spectrum, i.e. a function of the e-folding N, instead of $P_{\delta\sigma}(k)$ which is its late time value after freezing. We can then write the power spectrum of the field perturbation at any

 $^{^{31}}$ Note that N here has a different sign with the previous convention in this thesis.

e-folding N w.r.t its value at a reference e-folding N_0 as

$$P_{\delta\sigma}(k,N) = e^{2\int_{N_0}^N \alpha_k(N)\mathrm{d}N} P_{\delta\sigma}(k,N_0).$$
(6.43)

As an example, the slow-roll solution Eq. (3.65) of field perturbation yields the redshift rate

$$\alpha_k(N) = -\frac{2e^{2(N_k - N)}}{1 + 2e^{2(N_k - N)}},\tag{6.44}$$

where N_k is the dimensionless relative wave number, defined as

$$k^2 \equiv 2a_0^2 H^2 e^{2N_k}.$$
 (6.45)

Obviously then super-Hubble modes correspond to $k^2 \ll a^2 H^2$ or $N_k < N$, and for sub-Hubble modes we have $k^2 \gg a^2 H^2$ or $N_k > N$.

With a brief tachyonic phase, the exact solution no longer holds. Any mode k or N_k may experience three possible phases – the sub-Hubble, slow-roll, and tachyonic phases. As an approximation, we can assume when any mode enters any phase, it immediately behaves as the attractor solution of this phase. For simplicity, we also assume no energy is lost during phase transitions. The evolutions of power spectra then follow Eq. (6.43), where $\alpha_k(N)$ can be a piecewise function for different phases.

Using the tachyonic action Eq. (6.40), we can write down the equation of motion for the field perturbation $\delta\sigma$ as

$$\ddot{\delta\sigma}_{\mathbf{k}} + 3H\dot{\delta\sigma}_{\mathbf{k}} + \left(\frac{k^2}{a^2} - m^2\right)\delta\sigma_{\mathbf{k}} = 0.$$
(6.46)

The redshift rate $\alpha_k(N)$ of the three phases can then be calculated as follows. (The slow-roll phase is just the special case of $N_m = 0$.)

• For sub-Hubble modes, the momentum is much larger than the Hubble rate and tachyonic mass combined, with $k^2 \gg a^2(2H^2 + m^2)$. Therefore we can define τ and

 ψ according to Eq. (3.48) and Eq. (3.49). The equation of motion then transforms into

$$\psi_{\mathbf{k}}'' + \left[k^2 - a^2(2H^2 + m^2)\right]\psi_{\mathbf{k}} = 0, \qquad (6.47)$$

or

$$\psi_{\mathbf{k}}'' + \left[1 - e^{2(N+N_m - N_k)}\right] k^2 \psi_{\mathbf{k}} = 0.$$
(6.48)

Therefore, sub-Hubble modes correspond to $N_k > N + N_m$, which has the harmonic oscillator solution $\psi_{\mathbf{k}} \propto \tau^0$ or $\delta \sigma \propto a^{-1}$. The damping rate is simply

$$\alpha_k(N) = -1,$$
 for $N_k > N + N_m.$ (6.49)

- For tachyonic modes, the relatively small momentum $(k \ll a^2(2H^2+m^2))$ allows us to define

$$\psi_{\mathbf{k}} \equiv a^{\frac{3}{2}} \delta \sigma_{\mathbf{k}}.\tag{6.50}$$

The equation of motion then becomes

$$\ddot{\psi}_{\mathbf{k}} - \left(m^2 + \frac{9}{4}H^2 - \frac{k^2}{a^2}\right)\psi_{\mathbf{k}} = 0, \qquad (6.51)$$

or

$$\ddot{\psi}_{\mathbf{k}} - \left[\frac{1}{4} + 2\left(e^{2N_m} - e^{2(N_k - N)}\right)\right] H^2 \psi_{\mathbf{k}} = 0.$$
(6.52)

The attractor solution corresponds to the redshift rate

$$\alpha_k(N) = -\frac{3}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} + 2\left[e^{2N_m} - e^{2(N_k - N)}\right]}, \quad \text{for } N_k < N + N_m. \quad (6.53)$$

Combining the two phases, we arrive at the full expression for redshift rate (while approximately applying the solutions near phase boundary)

$$\alpha_k(N) = \begin{cases} -1, & \text{for } N_k \ge N + N_m, \\ -\frac{3}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} + 2\left[e^{2N_m} - e^{2(N_k - N)}\right]}, & \text{for } N_k < N + N_m. \end{cases}$$
(6.54)



Figure 18: The hierarchy of scales, and the timeline of the tachyonic fast-roll scenario. The x axis is the number of e-folds of inflation as time measure, whose zero point is chosen at the end of the tachyonic phase. The y axis is the effective mass of the field of our concern. The tachyonic fast-roll phase lasts during $N_i < N < 0$, with the mass $m^2 = (e^{2N_m} - 1)2H^2$ where $N_m \leq N_*$.

It can be verified that the piecewise solution is continuous at the boundary $N_k = N + N_m$ with $\alpha_k = -1$. During slow roll, we can take the $m \to 0$ or $N_m \to 0$ limit, reducing Eq. (6.54) to

$$\alpha_k(N)|_{\rm sr} = \begin{cases} -1, & \text{for } N_k \ge N, \\ -\frac{3}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{9}{4} - 2e^{2(N_k - N)}}, & \text{for } N_k < N. \end{cases}$$
(6.55)

Outside the tachyonic phase, the field σ is always light, yielding Eq. (6.55) as the solution for $\alpha_k(N)$. In this case, we know already that the power spectrum of the field



Figure 19: A demonstration of $\alpha_k(N)$ and the enhancement rate $\Delta \alpha_k(N)$ for some typical values of N_m . From bottom to top, black, green, yellow and red correspond to $N_m = 0, 1, 1.5, 2$ respectively. Dashed curves represent $\alpha_k(N)$, and solid ones represent $\Delta \alpha_k(N)$.

perturbation $\delta \sigma_{\mathbf{k}}$ is almost scale invariant. However when a brief tachyonic fast-roll phase is present, as shown in Figure 18, the tachyonic phase will provide a different redshift rate for field perturbations. The difference $\Delta \alpha_k(N) \equiv \alpha_k(N) - \alpha_k(N)|_{\mathrm{sr}}$ is therefore defined as the relative *enhancement rate*, due to the tachyonic mass *m*. It can be expressed as

$$\Delta \alpha_k(N) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } N_k \ge N + N_m, \\ \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} + 2\left[e^{2N_m} - e^{2(N_k - N)}\right]} - \frac{1}{2}, & \text{for } N + N_m > N_k \ge N \\ \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} + 2\left[e^{2N_m} - e^{2(N_k - N)}\right]} - \sqrt{\frac{9}{4} - 2e^{2(N_k - N)}}, & \text{for } N_k < N. \end{cases}$$

$$(6.56)$$

This is plotted with some typical values of N_m in Figure 19, from which we see that the enhancement can be quite significant ($\Delta \alpha_k \sim e^{N_m}$). Also, from Eq. (6.56) we can see that the scales with $N_k \geq N + N_m$ are not affected by the tachyonic phase. Remembering that the tachyonic phase lasts from $N = N_i < 0$ to N = 0, the scales $N_k \geq N_m$ will be totally unaffected, which is where we want the pivot scale to lie ($N_* \geq N_m$).

The relative enhancement from the fast-roll phase changes the CMB power asymmetry by

$$\frac{\left\langle |\Delta\sigma|^2 \right\rangle}{\mathcal{P}_{\delta\sigma}} = \int_{-\infty}^{N_m} 32\pi^3 e^{(n_{\delta\sigma}+1)(N_k-N_*)+2\int_{N_i}^0 \Delta\alpha_k(N)\mathrm{d}N} \mathrm{d}N_k, \tag{6.57}$$

where $n_{\delta\sigma} \approx 1$ is the spectral index of $\delta\sigma$ in the absence of tachyonic enhancement, as defined in Eq. (6.36). Here we have neglected the integral region $N_m < N_k < N_*$, because it is not enhanced by the tachyonic fast-roll scenario, and has been shown in Section 6.2 to generate only a small CMB power asymmetry. The inner integral of $\Delta\alpha_k$ is performed for the tachyonic fast-roll phase $N_i < N < 0$ only. Eq. (6.57) can be recast into

$$\frac{\left\langle |\Delta\sigma|^2 \right\rangle}{\mathcal{P}_{\delta\sigma}} = 32\pi^3 e^{(n_{\delta\sigma}+1)(N_m-N_*)} \int_{-\infty}^{N_m} e^{2\beta_k} \mathrm{d}N_k, \tag{6.58}$$



Figure 20: The enhancement β_k is shown in the black solid curve, where its components $N_k - N_m$ and the integral in Eq. (6.59) are shown in the green and the red dashed curves respectively. The blue shaded region is the number of e-folds of the universe expansion during the fast-roll phase. We have taken the parameter values $N_i = -2, N_m = 1.2.$

where we have defined

$$\beta_k \equiv \frac{1}{2}(n_{\delta\sigma} + 1)(N_k - N_m) + \int_{N_i}^0 \Delta \alpha_k(N) \mathrm{d}N.$$
(6.59)

Since the mode dependence in Eq. (6.58) has been absorbed into β_k , the scale k_{max} which maximizes β_k will contribute most to the CMB asymmetry. The overall exponential coefficient in Eq. (6.58) simply means that a longer slow roll after the tachyonic phase will stretch the initial perturbation modes, and lead to a weaker CMB power asymmetry.

We would like β_k to peak at some scale $N_{k_{\text{max}}}$, or otherwise it is difficult to produce sufficient CMB power asymmetry. The peak mode $N_{k_{\text{max}}}$ can be solved from $\partial \beta_k / \partial N_k =$ 0. Noticing $\Delta \alpha_k(N)$ is only a function of $N - N_k$, this yields

$$\Delta \alpha_{k_{\max}}(0) = \Delta \alpha_{k_{\max}}(N_i) + \frac{1}{2}(1 + n_{\delta\sigma}).$$
(6.60)

Since $n_{\delta\sigma} \approx 1$, there would be no peak if $\Delta \alpha_k(0)$ is always less than 1. The above condition requires the tachyonic mass to be large enough. According to Eq. (6.56), we obtain

$$m^2 \ge 2H^2. \tag{6.61}$$

The contribution to the CMB power asymmetry would then mostly come from around the peak scale $N_{k_{\text{max}}}$. If we know the full width at half maximum (FWHM) of the peak, namely ΔN , we can have a good estimation for the integral, hence writing Eq. (6.58) as

$$\frac{\left\langle |\Delta\sigma|^2 \right\rangle}{\mathcal{P}_{\delta\sigma}} \approx 32\pi^3 \Delta N e^{(n_{\delta\sigma}+1)(N_m-N_*)+2\beta_{k_{\max}}}.$$
(6.62)

A typical example of β_k is shown in Figure 20, for $n_{\delta\sigma} = 1$, $N_i = -2$, and $N_m = 1.2$, in which β_k peaks at about $N_k \approx -1$, with $\beta_{k_{\max}} \approx 4.7$. The half maximum lies at $\beta_{k_{\max}} - \frac{1}{2} \ln 2$ with $\Delta N \approx 0.8$. We do not want the pivot scale spectrum to be modified by the fast-roll phase, so we require $N_* > N_m$. As a consequence, we take $N_* = N_m + 2.5$. Plugging these numbers into Eq. (6.62) will give

$$\frac{\left\langle |\Delta\sigma|^2 \right\rangle}{\mathcal{P}_{\delta\sigma}} \approx 6.4 \times 10^4. \tag{6.63}$$

This result satisfies both necessary conditions Eq. (6.10) and Eq. (6.26), yielding a much stronger CMB power asymmetry than the slow-roll scenario.

We also have to make sure that the perturbations remain small throughout the dynamics. This typically requires the curvature perturbation from the σ field to have a power spectrum $k^3 P_{\zeta_{\delta\sigma}}(k) < 1$. Since there can be other sources of curvature perturbation, we define a ratio for σ at the pivot scale

$$R^{2}(k) \equiv \frac{P_{\zeta\delta\sigma}(k)}{P_{\zeta}(k)} \le 1.$$
(6.64)

The constraint $k^3 P_{\zeta_{\delta\sigma}}(k) < 1$ then becomes

$$k^{3}P_{\zeta_{\delta\sigma}}(k) = k^{3}P_{\zeta_{\delta\sigma}}(k)\big|_{\mathrm{sr}} e^{2\int_{N_{i}}^{0} \Delta\alpha_{k}(N)\mathrm{d}N}$$
$$= k^{3}_{*}P_{\zeta}(k_{*})R^{2}(k)e^{2\int_{N_{i}}^{0} \Delta\alpha_{k}(N)\mathrm{d}N}$$
$$= 2\pi^{2}\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}R^{2}(k)e^{2\int_{N_{i}}^{0} \Delta\alpha_{k}(N)\mathrm{d}N} < 1, \qquad (6.65)$$

where we have used the scale invariance $k^3 P_{\zeta_{\delta\sigma}}(k)|_{\rm sr} = k_*^3 P_{\zeta_{\delta\sigma}}(k_*)$ for any mode k. This constrains the total amount of asymmetry enhancement, i.e. the height of the red dashed curve in Figure 20, by

$$\int_{N_i}^0 \Delta \alpha_k(N) \mathrm{d}N < -\frac{1}{2} \ln 2\pi^2 \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} - \ln R, \quad \text{for any } N_k < 0.$$
 (6.66)

Since $R \leq 1$ and $\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} = 2.142 \times 10^{-9}$, in the example of Figure 20 the red curve is lower than $-\frac{1}{2} \ln \mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \approx 8.5$, and therefore the condition Eq. (6.66) is well satisfied.

6.4 Other observational constraints

6.4.1 Quasars

Quasar observation [244] constrains the power asymmetry of the universe in the quasar scale $N_q > N_*$. If we define r_q as our physical distance to the farthest quasar, we can write N_q , the length scale of our distance to the quasars as (see also Figure 21)

$$r_q \equiv \frac{e^{-N_q}}{H}.\tag{6.67}$$

The quasar observation finds no asymmetry, requiring A < 0.02 in the quasar scale N_q ; see [244]. From Eq. (6.9) and Eq. (6.24), we find that it may be accommodated with the CMB scale power asymmetry $A \sim 0.07$, if the non-Gaussianity parameter, $f_{\rm NL}$ or $\tau_{\rm NL}$, has a running³². The amount of non-Gaussianity and its running depend very much on the inflationary model, but many existing models can provide such a running.

 $^{^{32}}$ The discussion of the running of the local non-Gaussianities, and how it may affect the scale


Figure 21: A schematic figure on the power asymmetries of the CMB and quasars spectrum. The outer sphere is the LSS and the inner one contains all the observed quasars. Therefore, quasar observation can only constrain the asymmetry in the distance scales smaller than r_q , whilst the asymmetry in the distance scale $r_{\rm ls}$ can be much larger. In this sense, we need running in the asymmetry factor A in order to satisfy the quasar constraint.

For example, in spectator scenario, a large running can be achieved if the effective mass of the spectator field runs between the Hubble exits of the pivot and the quasar scales.

6.4.2 Quadrupole and octupole

The source of CMB power asymmetry should not generate any excessive quadrupole or octupole in the CMB. Following the conventions in [249, 250], we replicate their derived constraints here, from Eq. (4), and Eq. (5) of [250]

$$(kx_d)^2 |\Phi_{\vec{k}}(\tau_d) \sin \overline{\omega}| \lesssim 5.8\mathcal{Q}, \quad \text{for quadrupole,} \quad (6.68)$$

$$(kx_d)^3 |\Phi_{\vec{k}}(\tau_d) \cos \overline{\omega}| \lesssim 32\mathcal{O}, \quad \text{for octupole}, \quad (6.69)$$

where $\mathcal{Q} = 1.8 \times 10^{-5}$ and $\mathcal{O} = 2.7 \times 10^{-5}$. We rephrase them with our convention, with $kx_d |\Phi_k(\tau_d)| = \frac{1}{3} |\Delta\zeta| = \sqrt{\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}} \frac{|\Delta\sigma|}{3\sqrt{\mathcal{P}_{\delta\sigma_*}}}$ where $kx_d = \sqrt{2}e^{N_{k_{\max}}-N_*}$. After neglecting the sin and cos functions, these two inequalities become

$$N_{k_{\max}} - N_* \lesssim \ln \frac{17.4Q}{\sqrt{2P_{\zeta}}} \frac{\sqrt{P_{\delta\sigma_*}}}{|\Delta\sigma|}, \quad \text{for quadrupole}, \quad (6.70)$$

$$N_{k_{\max}} - N_* \lesssim \frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{48\mathcal{O}}{\sqrt{\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}}} \frac{\sqrt{\mathcal{P}_{\delta\sigma_*}}}{|\Delta\sigma|}, \quad \text{for octupole.}$$
(6.71)

Therefore the quadrupole and octupole constraints put a lower bound on N_* , the e-folding of the second slow-roll phase (see Figure 18). In the example shown in Figure 20, we have $N_{k_{\text{max}}} \approx -1$. By plugging in the values of \mathcal{O} , \mathcal{Q} , \mathcal{P}_{ζ} , N_* and $|\Delta\sigma|/\sqrt{\mathcal{P}_{\delta\sigma}}$ from the example Figure 20 and Eq. (6.63), we can see that both the quadrupole and the octupole constraints are satisfied.

dependence of the CMB power asymmetry, is beyond the scope of the thesis. Some of the relevant discussions can be found in [245–248].

6.5 CMB power asymmetry from spectator scenario

The tachyonic enhancement discussed in Section 6.3 in principle applies to any scenario, by providing a large enough field asymmetry on the opposite sides of our Hubble patch, while satisfying all the observational constraints such as quasars, quadrupole and octupole. In this section, we will however only discuss how to produce the observed CMB power asymmetry with spectator mechanism, where the spectator field receives the enhanced field asymmetry from a brief tachyonic fast-roll phase. There are several reasons for the consideration.

- When the tachyonic enhancement applies on an inflaton field, (or one or more of the inflaton fields,) the newly introduced tachyonic fast-roll phase may change the original behaviour of the inflaton, and hence inflation itself. The tachyonic fast-roll phase may totally destroy inflation, change the dynamics or predictions of inflation dramatically, etc. Therefore, the tachyonic fast-roll phase is preferably applied on a field which does not participate in inflation, e.g. a curvaton or spectator field.
- When the tachyonic enhancement applies on an inflaton field, even if the calculations have been adjusted to take into account the tachyonic phase, it still remains a problem how to motivate the tachyonic potential (and the transitions) within a well-established particle physics framework. This argument also applies to curvaton scenario because it has to produce a significant amount of the current universe components, according to non-Gaussianity and isocurvature perturbation constraints. (See Section 5.1.)

Having all these said, in this thesis we would only seek an explanation of the observed CMB power asymmetry from spectator scenario, on top of single-field slow-roll inflation. The role of driving inflation and producing matter is then separated from producing the perturbations. The single-field slow-roll inflation can be chosen with a particle physics foundation, while all the perturbations come from the spectator field and contain a mild non-Gaussianity $f_{\rm NL}$. In principle, there can be more than one spectator field or inflaton, but as a minimum we only consider one of them each.

We then combine the expressions of the CMB power asymmetry Eq. (6.9) and the field asymmetry Eq. (6.62), with the inequalities Eq. (6.66) and Eq. (6.70). This gives the upper bound of CMB power asymmetry ³³

$$\langle A^2 \rangle < \frac{9}{25} \times 17.4 \mathcal{Q} f_{\rm NL}^2 \sqrt{2\Delta N}.$$
 (6.72)

After substituting in the values for $Q \lesssim 1.8 \times 10^{-5}$, $\Delta N \approx 1$ and $f_{\rm NL} < 10.8$, we find the upper bound $A \lesssim 0.14$, which allows the observed central value $A \approx 0.07$. The parameter space for A and $f_{\rm NL}$ is shown in Figure 22.

In another slightly more complicated scenario, we may suppose that the spectator partially contributes to the curvature perturbation but is still the only field that receives the tachyonic enhancement. The other source(s) of the curvature perturbation can be the inflaton(s) or some other spectator/curvaton field(s). The upper bound then becomes

$$\langle A^2 \rangle < 8.7 \mathcal{Q} \tau_{\rm NL} R^{-1} \sqrt{\frac{\Delta N}{2}},$$
 (6.73)

where R is defined in Eq. (6.64). We substitute the values of $Q \lesssim 1.8 \times 10^{-5}$, $\Delta N \approx 1$ and $\tau_{\rm NL} < 2800$, so the above equation yields

$$A < 0.56 R^{-\frac{1}{2}}.\tag{6.74}$$

Therefore A = 0.07 is also allowed, and this model can generate a much stronger CMB power asymmetry.

³³ The quadrupole constraint is stronger than the octupole constraint in most cases. Therefore we drop the octupole constraint in the discussion.



Figure 22: The parameter space for the inflaton and spectator model in Section 6.5. The blue line shows the maximum CMB power asymmetry that can be reached by any given $f_{\rm NL}$. The vertical red bands indicate the latest Planck bounds for local bi-spectrum $f_{\rm NL}$, for 1σ , 2σ and 3σ regions [117]. The horizontal blue bands indicate the Planck observational bounds for CMB power asymmetry, also for 1σ , 2σ and 3σ regions [108]. The neighbouring area of $f_{\rm NL} \approx 6$ and $A \approx 0.06$ is within 1σ C.L. for both observables.

To summarize, this chapter has provided an explanation for the observed CMB power asymmetry with the spectator scenario. The (nearly) scale invariant and (almost) Gaussian primordial fluctuation cannot produce the observed CMB power asymmetry. We have proposed a viable solution through the violation of scale invariance on scales much larger than the pivot scales, which can be realized with a tachyonic fast-roll phase. In order to avoid disruptions in inflationary dynamics or in the production of visible matter, the spectator scenario could be an ideal candidate.

7 Conclusions

This thesis started from the observational aspects of the CMB, and investigated early universe theories step by step from single-field slow-roll inflation, to multi-field inflation, and then to the spectator scenario. During the investigation, we have compared cosmological predictions of relevant models with observations. The spectator scenario has been found to be in agreement with cosmological observations, being able to produce large or small local non-Gaussianity without any isocurvature perturbations. This thesis has also proposed an explanation for the CMB power asymmetry with the spectator scenario.

To be specific, in Chapter 2, we have studied CMB temperature fluctuation. Its angular power spectrum is consistent with a nearly scale invariant primordial perturbation. Its angular bi-spectrum and angular tri-spectrum are compatible with zero, suggesting a (mostly) Gaussian primordial perturbation. CMB observations have not yet detected the primordial B mode and isocurvature perturbations, but the CMB power asymmetry has drawn community interest.

The CMB favors a featureless, ordinary beginning of the universe. In Chapter 3, single-field slow-roll inflation has been shown to agree well with observations. We have demonstrated the slow-roll mechanism for single-field inflation. Single-field slow-roll inflation can attain a nearly scale invariant and almost Gaussian primordial perturbation. It does not produce any isocurvature perturbation either. We have listed the observational constraints in Table 1. Models of single-field slow-roll inflation have been tested against Table 1, such as power-law and inflection point potentials.

In Chapter 4, we have derived the generic observational predictions of multi-field inflation. Multi-field inflation can provide richer features than single-field slow-roll inflation, for example a significant non-Gaussianity with nearly scale invariant spectrum. The generic predictions of multi-field inflation can be greatly simplified for two-field inflation or scenarios with separable potentials. When an additional perfect fluid coexists during single-field inflation, we have found it may induce significant curvature perturbation.

We started Chapter 5 by summarizing the cosmological predictions of the minimal curvaton scenario. We then proposed the spectator scenario, and derived its evolution at background and perturbation levels. The spectator scenario can produce large or small non-Gaussianities, whilst not generating any isocurvature perturbations. As typical examples of the spectator scenario, we have examined step function potentials, inflection point potentials, and hyperbolic tangent potentials, all of which have demonstrated satisfactory agreements with observations.

The spectator field is able to dominate cosmological perturbations without significantly affecting inflationary dynamics or matter production. This advantage makes it an ideal candidate for an explanation of the CMB power asymmetry. With a brief tachyonic fast-roll phase well before the Hubble exit of the pivot scales, the spectator scenario has been shown to be capable of bringing about the observed CMB power asymmetry in Chapter 6. This realization also agrees with other cosmic observations. On the other hand, with a nearly scale invariant and Gaussian primordial perturbation, generation of the observed CMB power asymmetry has been shown to be difficult.

In the future, we may expect the discovery of primordial B modes in the CMB due to gravitational waves from inflation, which will surely bring about a great change the field of cosmology. Potential discoveries in particle physics, by the Large Hadron Collider or future particle accelerators, may change the way we understand High Energy Physics. Dark matter observations are also trying to accumulate evidence for detection, hopefully to expand the Standard Model in the near future. Broadly speaking, all the above knowledge we gain are vital towards a unified and deeper understanding of particle physics and cosmology. Specifically, they will also further distinguish early universe models including the spectator scenario.

A Special functions

A.1 Spherical harmonic functions

Spherical harmonic functions form an orthogonal and complete base of spherical functions, i.e.

$$\int d^2 \hat{\mathbf{n}} Y_{lm}^*(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) Y_{l'm'}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) = \delta_{ll'} \delta_{mm'}.$$
(A.1)

So any spherical function can be expanded in terms of spherical harmonics

$$f(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) = \sum_{lm} f_{lm} Y_{lm}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}), \qquad (A.2)$$

where

$$f_{lm} \equiv \int \mathrm{d}^2 \hat{\mathbf{n}} Y_{lm}^*(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) f(\hat{\mathbf{n}}). \tag{A.3}$$

We can also decompose the product of two spherical harmonics

$$G_{l_1 \ l_2 \ l_3}^{m_1 m_2 m_3} \equiv \int d^2 \hat{\mathbf{n}} Y_{l_1 m_1}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) Y_{l_2 m_2}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) Y_{l_3 m_3}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}), \tag{A.4}$$

So $G_{l_1 \ l_2 \ l_3}^{m_1m_2m_3}$ is called the *Gaunt integral*.

The spherical harmonics have other properties such as

$$Y_{lm}^{*}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) = (-1)^{m} Y_{l-m}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}), \tag{A.5}$$

$$Y_{lm}(-\hat{\mathbf{n}}) = (-1)^l Y_{lm}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}), \qquad (A.6)$$

$$\sum_{m} Y_{lm}^{*}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) Y_{lm}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}') = \frac{2l+1}{4\pi} P_{l}(\hat{\mathbf{n}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{n}}').$$
(A.7)

A.2 3j symbols

The 3j symbols are used to characterize the coupling between different angular momenta. The reader can find the precise definition and properties in [113,251,252]. 1. Triangle conditions

The 3*j* symbol $\begin{pmatrix} l_1 & l_2 & l_3 \\ & & \\ m_1 & m_2 & m_3 \end{pmatrix}$ is nonzero if and only if all of the following

conditions are satisfied:

- $2l_1, 2l_2, 2l_3 \in \mathbb{N}_0$.
- $|l_1 l_2| \le l_3 \le l_1 + l_2$.
- $m_i = -l_i, -l_i + 1, \dots, l_i$, for i = 1, 2, 3.
- $m_1 + m_2 + m_3 = 0.$
- 2. Symmetries

$$\begin{pmatrix} l_1 & l_2 & l_3 \\ m_1 & m_2 & m_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} l_2 & l_3 & l_1 \\ m_2 & m_3 & m_1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(A.8)

$$\begin{pmatrix} l_1 & l_2 & l_3 \\ m_1 & m_2 & m_3 \end{pmatrix} = (-1)^{l_1 + l_2 + l_3} \begin{pmatrix} l_1 & l_3 & l_2 \\ m_1 & m_3 & m_2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (A.9)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} l_1 & l_2 & l_3 \\ m_1 & m_2 & m_3 \end{pmatrix} = (-1)^{l_1 + l_2 + l_3} \begin{pmatrix} l_1 & l_2 & l_3 \\ -m_1 & -m_2 & -m_3 \end{pmatrix}. \quad (A.10)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} m_1 & m_2 & m_3 \end{pmatrix}$$

3. Orthogonalities

$$\sum_{m_1m_2} (2l_3+1) \begin{pmatrix} l_1 & l_2 & l_3 \\ m_1 & m_2 & m_3 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} l_1 & l_2 & \tilde{l}_3 \\ m_1 & m_2 & \tilde{m}_3 \end{pmatrix} = \delta_{l_3\tilde{l}_3} \delta_{m_3\tilde{m}_3}, \quad (A.11)$$
$$\sum_{l_3m_3} (2l_3+1) \begin{pmatrix} l_1 & l_2 & l_3 \\ m_1 & m_2 & m_3 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} l_1 & l_2 & l_3 \\ \tilde{m}_1 & \tilde{m}_2 & m_3 \end{pmatrix} = \delta_{m_1\tilde{m}_1} \delta_{m_2\tilde{m}_2}. \quad (A.12)$$

4. Other relations

$$G_{l_1 \ l_2 \ l_3}^{m_1 m_2 m_3} = \sqrt{\frac{(2l_1 + 1)(2l_2 + 1)(2l_3 + 1)}{4\pi}} \\ \times \left(\begin{array}{cc} l_1 \ l_2 \ l_3 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \end{array} \right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} l_1 \ l_2 \ l_3 \\ m_1 \ m_2 \ m_3 \end{array} \right), \quad (A.13)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} l_1 & l_2 & l_3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}^2$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{-1}^{1} P_{l_1}(x) P_{l_2}(x) P_{l_3}(x) dx$$

$$= \begin{cases} 0, & L \text{ odd,} \\ \frac{(L-2l_1)!(L-2l_2)!(L-2l_3)!(L/2)!^2}{(L+1)!(L/2-l_1)!^2(L/2-l_2)!^2(L/2-l_3)!^2}, & L \text{ even,} \end{cases}$$
(A.14)

where $L \equiv l_1 + l_2 + l_3$ in the above expression.

A.3 6j symbols

The 6j symbols can be defined from 3j symbols as

$$\begin{cases} L_{1} \quad L_{2} \quad L_{3} \\ l_{1} \quad l_{2} \quad l_{3} \end{cases} = \sum_{M_{i}m_{j}} (-1)^{l_{1}+l_{2}+l_{3}+m_{1}+m_{2}+m_{3}} \begin{pmatrix} L_{1} \quad L_{2} \quad L_{3} \\ M_{1} \quad M_{2} \quad M_{3} \end{pmatrix} \\ \times \begin{pmatrix} L_{1} \quad l_{2} \quad l_{3} \\ M_{1} \quad m_{2} \quad -m_{3} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} l_{1} \quad L_{2} \quad l_{3} \\ -m_{1} \quad M_{2} \quad m_{3} \end{pmatrix} \\ \times \begin{pmatrix} l_{1} \quad l_{2} \quad L_{3} \\ m_{1} \quad -m_{2} \quad M_{3} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (A.15)$$

where i, j = 1, 2, 3. Its precise definition and properties can also be found in [113, 251, 252].

References

- A. Mazumdar and L. Wang, Separable and non-separable multi-field inflation and large non-Gaussianity, JCAP 1209 (2012) 005, [arXiv:1203.3558]. 4, 16, 78
- [2] A. Mazumdar and L. Wang, Creating perturbations from a decaying field during inflation, Phys. Rev. D87 (2013) 083501, [arXiv:1210.7818]. 4, 16
- [3] L. Wang and A. Mazumdar, Cosmological perturbations from a Spectator field during inflation, JCAP 1305 (2013) 012, [arXiv:1302.2637]. 4, 16, 107, 117
- [4] L. Wang, E. Pukartas, and A. Mazumdar, Visible sector inflation and the right thermal history in light of Planck data, JCAP 1307 (2013) 019,
 [arXiv:1303.5351]. 4, 16, 69, 72, 93, 122
- [5] L. Wang and A. Mazumdar, Small non-Gaussianity and dipole asymmetry in the CMB, Phys. Rev. D 88, 023512 (2013) [arXiv:1304.6399]. 4, 128
- [6] A. Mazumdar and L. Wang, CMB dipole asymmetry from a fast roll phase, JCAP 1310 (2013) 049, [arXiv:1306.5736]. 4, 33, 128, 135
- [7] I Ching. ~ 1000 BC. 11
- [8] D. Aune, The Westminster Dictionary of New Testament and Early Christian Literature and Rhetoric. Westminster John Knox Press, 2003. 11
- [9] D. Dicks, Early Greek astronomy to Aristotle. Aspects of Greek and Roman life.
 Cornell University Press, 1985. 11
- [10] J. Verne and W. Butcher, Journey to the centre of the earth. Oxford World's Classics. Oxford University Press, 2008. 11
- [11] Planck Collaboration, P. Ade et. al., Planck 2015 results. XVI. Isotropy and statistics of the CMB, 11, 13, 17, 19, 29, 31, 130

- [12] A. Friedman, On the Curvature of space, Z. Phys. 10 (1922) 377–386. [Gen. Rel.
 Grav.31,1991(1999)]. 12
- [13] H. P. Robertson, Relativistic Cosmology, Rev. Mod. Phys. 5 (1933) 62–90. 12
- [14] A. Walker, Completely symmetric spaces, Journal of the London Mathematical Society 19 (1944), no. 76 Part 4 219–226. 12
- [15] V. F. Mukhanov, H. A. Feldman, and R. H. Brandenberger, Theory of cosmological perturbations. Part 1. Classical perturbations. Part 2. Quantum theory of perturbations. Part 3. Extensions, Phys. Rept. 215 (1992) 203–333. 12, 15, 38, 39, 41, 43, 58, 87
- [16] R. A. Alpher, R. Herman, and G. A. Gamow, Thermonuclear reactions in the expanding universe, Phys. Rev. 74 (Nov, 1948) 1198–1199. 12
- [17] http://sci.esa.int/planck/51553-cosmic-microwave-background-seen-by-planck/,
 2013. 13
- [18] A. A. Penzias and R. W. Wilson, A Measurement of excess antenna temperature at 4080-Mc/s, Astrophys.J. 142 (1965) 419–421. 13
- [19] C. Bennett, A. Banday, K. Gorski, G. Hinshaw, P. Jackson, et. al., Four year COBE DMR cosmic microwave background observations: Maps and basic results, Astrophys.J. 464 (1996) L1–L4, [astro-ph/9601067]. 13
- [20] WMAP Collaboration, C. Bennett et. al., Nine-Year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) Observations: Final Maps and Results, Astrophys.J.Suppl. 208 (2013) 20, [arXiv:1212.5225]. 13
- [21] G. Hinshaw, D. Larson, E. Komatsu, D. Spergel, C. Bennett, et. al., Nine-Year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) Observations: Cosmological Parameter Results, arXiv:1212.5226. 13

- [22] Atacama Cosmology Telescope Collaboration, J. L. Sievers et. al., The Atacama Cosmology Telescope: Cosmological parameters from three seasons of data, JCAP 1310 (2013) 060, [arXiv:1301.0824]. 13
- [23] K. Story, C. Reichardt, Z. Hou, R. Keisler, K. Aird, et. al., A Measurement of the Cosmic Microwave Background Damping Tail from the 2500-square-degree SPT-SZ survey, Astrophys.J. 779 (2013) 86, [arXiv:1210.7231]. 13
- [24] Z. Hou, C. Reichardt, K. Story, B. Follin, R. Keisler, et. al., Constraints on Cosmology from the Cosmic Microwave Background Power Spectrum of the 2500-square degree SPT-SZ Survey, Astrophys.J. 782 (2014) 74,
 [arXiv:1212.6267]. 13
- [25] Planck collaboration Collaboration, P. Ade et. al., Planck 2013 results. XV.
 CMB power spectra and likelihood, arXiv:1303.5075. 13, 21
- [26] Planck Collaboration, P. Ade et. al., Planck 2015 results. XX. Constraints on inflation, arXiv:1502.0211. 13, 14, 16, 21, 29, 60, 63, 67, 68, 97, 106, 109, 115, 119, 124, 130
- [27] Planck Collaboration, P. Ade et. al., Planck 2015 results. XVII. Constraints on primordial non-Gaussianity, arXiv:1502.0159. 13, 23, 24, 27, 63, 67, 115, 124
- [28] Planck Collaboration, P. Ade et. al., Planck 2015 results. XIII. Cosmological parameters, arXiv:1502.0158. 13, 20, 21, 67
- [29] Planck Collaboration, R. Adam et. al., Planck 2015 results. I. Overview of products and scientific results, arXiv:1502.0158. 13
- [30] BICEP2 Collaboration Collaboration, P. Ade et. al., Detection of B-Mode Polarization at Degree Angular Scales by BICEP2, Phys.Rev.Lett. 112 (2014)
 241101, [arXiv:1403.3985]. 13

- [31] BICEP2 Collaboration Collaboration, P. A. R. Ade et. al., BICEP2 II: Experiment and Three-Year Data Set, arXiv:1403.4302. 13
- [32] BICEP2, Planck Collaboration, P. Ade et. al., Joint Analysis of BICEP2/KeckArray and Planck Data, Phys.Rev.Lett. 114 (2015), no. 10
 101301, [arXiv:1502.0061]. 13, 28
- [33] D. Kazanas, Dynamics of the Universe and Spontaneous Symmetry Breaking, Astrophys.J. 241 (1980) L59–L63. 14
- [34] A. A. Starobinsky, A New Type of Isotropic Cosmological Models Without Singularity, Phys.Lett. B91 (1980) 99–102. 14
- [35] A. H. Guth, The Inflationary Universe: A Possible Solution to the Horizon and Flatness Problems, Phys. Rev. D23 (1981) 347–356. 14
- [36] A. D. Linde, A New Inflationary Universe Scenario: A Possible Solution of the Horizon, Flatness, Homogeneity, Isotropy and Primordial Monopole Problems, Phys.Lett. B108 (1982) 389–393. 14
- [37] A. Linde, Chaotic inflation, Physics Letters B 129 (1983), no. 3-4 177–181. 14, 35, 65
- [38] L. Alabidi and D. H. Lyth, Inflation models and observation, JCAP 0605 (2006)
 016, [astro-ph/0510441]. 14, 16
- [39] A. Albrecht, P. J. Steinhardt, M. S. Turner, and F. Wilczek, *Reheating an Inflationary Universe*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 48 (1982) 1437. 14
- [40] L. Kofman, A. D. Linde, and A. A. Starobinsky, *Reheating after inflation*, *Phys.Rev.Lett.* **73** (1994) 3195–3198, [hep-th/9405187]. 14
- [41] Y. Shtanov, J. H. Traschen, and R. H. Brandenberger, Universe reheating after inflation, Phys. Rev. D51 (1995) 5438-5455, [hep-ph/9407247]. 14

- [42] L. Kofman, A. D. Linde, and A. A. Starobinsky, Towards the theory of reheating after inflation, Phys. Rev. D56 (1997) 3258–3295, [hep-ph/9704452]. 14
- [43] P. B. Greene, L. Kofman, A. D. Linde, and A. A. Starobinsky, Structure of resonance in preheating after inflation, Phys. Rev. D56 (1997) 6175-6192, [hep-ph/9705347]. 14
- [44] G. N. Felder, J. Garcia-Bellido, P. B. Greene, L. Kofman, A. D. Linde, et. al., Dynamics of symmetry breaking and tachyonic preheating, Phys.Rev.Lett. 87 (2001) 011601, [hep-ph/0012142]. 14
- [45] B. A. Bassett, S. Tsujikawa, and D. Wands, Inflation dynamics and reheating, Rev.Mod.Phys. 78 (2006) 537-589, [astro-ph/0507632]. 14, 16, 35, 39, 41, 43, 58, 64
- [46] K. Sato, First Order Phase Transition of a Vacuum and Expansion of the Universe, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 195 (1981) 467–479. 14
- [47] A. Riotto, Inflation and the theory of cosmological perturbations, hep-ph/0210162. 15, 39, 41, 43, 58, 64
- [48] K. A. Malik and D. Wands, Cosmological perturbations, Phys.Rept. 475 (2009)
 1-51, [arXiv:0809.4944]. * Brief entry *. 15, 39, 41, 43, 58
- [49] M. Alishahiha, E. Silverstein, and D. Tong, *DBI in the sky*, *Phys.Rev.* D70 (2004) 123505, [hep-th/0404084]. 16
- [50] A. D. Linde, Hybrid inflation, Phys. Rev. D49 (1994) 748-754,
 [astro-ph/9307002]. 16, 86
- [51] E. J. Copeland, A. R. Liddle, D. H. Lyth, E. D. Stewart, and D. Wands, False vacuum inflation with Einstein gravity, Phys. Rev. D49 (1994) 6410-6433,
 [astro-ph/9401011]. 16

- [52] J. Garcia-Bellido and D. Wands, The Spectrum of curvature perturbations from hybrid inflation, Phys. Rev. D54 (1996) 7181–7185, [astro-ph/9606047].
- [53] J. Garcia-Bellido, A. D. Linde, and D. Wands, Density perturbations and black hole formation in hybrid inflation, Phys. Rev. D54 (1996) 6040-6058,
 [astro-ph/9605094]. 16
- [54] J. Fonseca, M. Sasaki, and D. Wands, Large-scale Perturbations from the Waterfall Field in Hybrid Inflation, JCAP 1009 (2010) 012, [arXiv:1005.4053].
 16
- [55] A. R. Liddle, A. Mazumdar, and F. E. Schunck, Assisted inflation, Phys.Rev.
 D58 (1998) 061301, [astro-ph/9804177]. 16, 86
- [56] K. A. Malik and D. Wands, Dynamics of assisted inflation, Phys.Rev. D59 (1999) 123501, [astro-ph/9812204]. 16, 86
- [57] E. J. Copeland, A. Mazumdar, and N. J. Nunes, Generalized assisted inflation, Phys. Rev. D60 (1999) 083506, [astro-ph/9904309]. 16, 86
- [58] A. Mazumdar, S. Panda, and A. Perez-Lorenzana, Assisted inflation via tachyon condensation, Nucl. Phys. B614 (2001) 101–116, [hep-ph/0107058]. 16, 86
- [59] A. Jokinen and A. Mazumdar, Inflation in large N limit of supersymmetric gauge theories, Phys. Lett. B597 (2004) 222, [hep-th/0406074]. 16, 86
- [60] S. Dimopoulos, S. Kachru, J. McGreevy, and J. G. Wacker, *N*-flation, *JCAP* 0808 (2008) 003, [hep-th/0507205]. 16, 86
- [61] R. Easther and L. McAllister, Random matrices and the spectrum of N-flation, JCAP 0605 (2006) 018, [hep-th/0512102]. 16
- [62] E. D. Stewart, Inflation, supergravity and superstrings, Phys.Rev. D51 (1995)
 6847–6853, [hep-ph/9405389]. 16

- [63] T. Gherghetta, C. F. Kolda, and S. P. Martin, Flat directions in the scalar potential of the supersymmetric standard model, Nucl. Phys. B468 (1996) 37–58, [hep-ph/9510370]. 16
- [64] C. Armendariz-Picon, T. Damour, and V. F. Mukhanov, k inflation, Phys.Lett.
 B458 (1999) 209–218, [hep-th/9904075]. 16
- [65] G. Dvali and S. Tye, Brane inflation, Phys.Lett. B450 (1999) 72-82,
 [hep-ph/9812483]. 16
- [66] K. Dimopoulos, Towards a model of quintessential inflation, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 95 (2001) 70–73, [astro-ph/0012298]. [,70(2000)]. 16
- [67] A. D. Linde, Fast roll inflation, JHEP 0111 (2001) 052, [hep-th/0110195]. 16, 135
- [68] K. Dimopoulos and J. W. F. Valle, Modeling quintessential inflation, Astropart.
 Phys. 18 (2002) 287–306, [astro-ph/0111417]. 16
- [69] S. Kachru, R. Kallosh, A. D. Linde, J. M. Maldacena, L. P. McAllister, et. al., Towards inflation in string theory, JCAP 0310 (2003) 013, [hep-th/0308055].
 16
- [70] G. Dvali and S. Kachru, New old inflation, hep-th/0309095. 16
- [71] R. Easther, J. Khoury, and K. Schalm, *Tuning locked inflation: Supergravity versus phenomenology*, JCAP 0406 (2004) 006, [hep-th/0402218]. 16
- [72] K. Dimopoulos, Modular hybrid inflation without flat directions and the curvaton, in 39th Rencontres de Moriond Workshop on Exploring the Universe: Contents and Structures of the Universe La Thuile, Italy, March 28-April 4, 2004, 2004. hep-ph/0408084. 16, 93

- [73] K. Dimopoulos and D. H. Lyth, Models of inflation liberated by the curvaton hypothesis, Phys. Rev. D69 (2004) 123509, [hep-ph/0209180]. 16, 93
- [74] C. Burgess, R. Easther, A. Mazumdar, D. F. Mota, and T. Multamaki, Multiple inflation, cosmic string networks and the string landscape, JHEP 0505 (2005)
 067, [hep-th/0501125]. 16, 35
- [75] K. Dimopoulos, D. H. Lyth, and Y. Rodriguez, Low scale inflation and the curvaton mechanism, JHEP 02 (2005) 055, [hep-ph/0411119]. 16, 93
- [76] K. Dimopoulos and M. Axenides, Hybrid inflation without flat directions and without primordial black holes, JCAP 0506 (2005) 008, [hep-ph/0310194].
- [77] J. C. Bueno Sanchez and K. Dimopoulos, *Trapped Quintessential Inflation*, *Phys. Lett.* B642 (2006) 294–301, [hep-th/0605258]. [Erratum: Phys. Lett.B647,526(2007)]. 16
- [78] K. Dimopoulos and G. Lazarides, Modular inflation and the orthogonal axion as curvaton, Phys. Rev. D73 (2006) 023525, [hep-ph/0511310]. 16, 93
- [79] K. Dimopoulos, Inflation at the TeV scale with a PNGB curvaton, Phys. Lett.
 B634 (2006) 331–339, [hep-th/0511268]. 16, 93
- [80] R. Allahverdi, K. Enqvist, J. Garcia-Bellido, and A. Mazumdar, Gauge invariant MSSM inflaton, Phys.Rev.Lett. 97 (2006) 191304, [hep-ph/0605035]. 16, 69, 115
- [81] K. Dimopoulos, Trapped Quintessential Inflation from Flux Compactifications, in Proceedings, 6th International Workshop on The identification of dark matter (IDM 2006), pp. 635–646, 2007. hep-ph/0702018. 16
- [82] R. Allahverdi, K. Enqvist, J. Garcia-Bellido, A. Jokinen, and A. Mazumdar, MSSM flat direction inflation: Slow roll, stability, fine tunning and reheating, JCAP 0706 (2007) 019, [hep-ph/0610134]. 16, 69, 115

- [83] R. Allahverdi, A. R. Frey, and A. Mazumdar, Graceful exit from a stringy landscape via MSSM inflation, Phys. Rev. D76 (2007) 026001, [hep-th/0701233].
 16, 72
- [84] R. Allahverdi, A. Kusenko, and A. Mazumdar, A-term inflation and the smallness of neutrino masses, JCAP 0707 (2007) 018, [hep-ph/0608138]. 16, 122
- [85] J. C. Bueno Sanchez, K. Dimopoulos, and D. H. Lyth, A-term inflation and the MSSM, JCAP 0701 (2007) 015, [hep-ph/0608299]. 16, 69, 72
- [86] J. C. Bueno Sanchez, M. Bastero-Gil, A. Berera, and K. Dimopoulos, Warm hilltop inflation, Phys. Rev. D77 (2008) 123527, [arXiv:0802.4354]. 16
- [87] M. Sasaki, Multi-brid inflation and non-Gaussianity, Prog. Theor. Phys. 120 (2008) 159–174, [arXiv:0805.0974]. 16
- [88] Y.-F. Cai, T.-t. Qiu, J.-Q. Xia, and X. Zhang, A Model Of Inflationary Cosmology Without Singularity, Phys.Rev. D79 (2009) 021303,
 [arXiv:0808.0819]. * Brief entry *. 16
- [89] X. Chen and Y. Wang, Quasi-Single Field Inflation and Non-Gaussianities, JCAP 1004 (2010) 027, [arXiv:0911.3380]. 16
- [90] K. Enqvist, A. Mazumdar, and P. Stephens, Inflection point inflation within supersymmetry, JCAP 1006 (2010) 020, [arXiv:1004.3724]. 16, 69, 72
- [91] A. Chatterjee and A. Mazumdar, Tuned MSSM Higgses as an inflaton, JCAP
 1109 (2011) 009, [arXiv:1103.5758]. * Temporary entry *. 16, 69
- [92] A. Mazumdar, S. Nadathur, and P. Stephens, Super-Hubble Supergravity Inflation, arXiv:1105.0430. * Temporary entry *. 16, 69

- [93] A. Mazumdar and J. Rocher, Particle physics models of inflation and curvaton scenarios, Phys.Rept. 497 (2011) 85–215, [arXiv:1001.0993]. 16, 64, 69, 93, 115
- [94] J. Frazer and A. R. Liddle, Multi-field inflation with random potentials: field dimension, feature scale and non-Gaussianity, arXiv:1111.6646. 16
- [95] R. Allahverdi, S. Downes, and B. Dutta, Constructing Flat Inflationary Potentials in Supersymmetry, arXiv:1106.5004. * Temporary entry *. 16
- [96] S. Downes, B. Dutta, and K. Sinha, Catastrophic Inflation, Phys.Rev. D84
 (2011) 063524, [arXiv:1106.2266]. * Temporary entry *. 16
- [97] F. Duplessis, Y. Wang, and R. Brandenberger, Multi-Stream Inflation in a Landscape, JCAP 1204 (2012) 012, [arXiv:1201.0029]. 16
- [98] J. Martin, C. Ringeval, and V. Vennin, Encyclopaedia Inflationaris, arXiv:1303.3787. 16, 64
- [99] K. Dimopoulos, Shaft Inflation, Phys. Lett. B735 (2014) 75–78,
 [arXiv:1403.4071]. 16
- [100] T. Moroi and T. Takahashi, Effects of cosmological moduli fields on cosmic microwave background, Phys.Lett. B522 (2001) 215-221, [hep-ph/0110096]. 16, 92, 94
- [101] D. H. Lyth and D. Wands, Generating the curvature perturbation without an inflaton, Phys.Lett. B524 (2002) 5–14, [hep-ph/0110002]. 16, 29, 92, 93, 94, 96
- [102] K. Enqvist and M. S. Sloth, Adiabatic CMB perturbations in pre big bang string cosmology, Nucl. Phys. B626 (2002) 395-409, [hep-ph/0109214]. 16, 92, 94
- [103] D. H. Lyth, C. Ungarelli, and D. Wands, The Primordial density perturbation in the curvaton scenario, Phys.Rev. D67 (2003) 023503, [astro-ph/0208055]. 16, 29, 92, 93, 94, 96

- [104] D. H. Lyth and D. Wands, The CDM isocurvature perturbation in the curvaton scenario, Phys. Rev. D68 (2003) 103516, [astro-ph/0306500]. 16, 93, 97
- [105] H. Eriksen, F. Hansen, A. Banday, K. Gorski, and P. Lilje, Asymmetries in the Cosmic Microwave Background anisotropy field, Astrophys.J. 605 (2004) 14–20,
 [astro-ph/0307507]. 17, 29, 31
- [106] H. K. Eriksen, A. Banday, K. Gorski, F. Hansen, and P. Lilje, Hemispherical power asymmetry in the three-year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe sky maps, Astrophys.J. 660 (2007) L81–L84, [astro-ph/0701089]. 17, 29, 31
- [107] J. Hoftuft, H. Eriksen, A. Banday, K. Gorski, F. Hansen, et. al., Increasing evidence for hemispherical power asymmetry in the five-year WMAP data, Astrophys.J. 699 (2009) 985–989, [arXiv:0903.1229]. 17
- [108] Planck Collaboration Collaboration, P. Ade et. al., Planck 2013 results.
 XXIII. Isotropy and Statistics of the CMB, arXiv:1303.5083. 17, 29, 31, 32, 149
- [109] S. Dodelson, Modern cosmology, 19, 21, 34, 47, 58
- [110] X.-c. Luo, The Angular bispectrum of the cosmic microwave background, Astrophys.J. 427 (1994) L71, [astro-ph/9312004]. 19, 22
- [111] W. Hu, Angular trispectrum of the CMB, Phys. Rev. D64 (2001) 083005,
 [astro-ph/0105117]. 19, 22, 25
- [112] Planck Collaboration Collaboration, P. Ade et. al., Planck 2013 results. XVI. Cosmological parameters, arXiv:1303.5076. 21
- [113] N. Bartolo, E. Komatsu, S. Matarrese, and A. Riotto, Non-Gaussianity from inflation: Theory and observations, Phys.Rept. 402 (2004) 103-266,
 [astro-ph/0406398]. 22, 24, 25, 26, 60, 154, 156

- [114] L.-M. Wang and M. Kamionkowski, The Cosmic microwave background bispectrum and inflation, Phys. Rev. D61 (2000) 063504, [astro-ph/9907431]. 22
- [115] L. Wang, Detecting CMB modulations and non-Gaussianities from power multipoles, arXiv:1401.1584. 24, 26, 27
- [116] D. Munshi, A. Heavens, A. Cooray, J. Smidt, P. Coles, et. al., New Optimised Estimators for the Primordial Trispectrum, Mon.Not.Roy.Astron.Soc. 412 (2011) 1993, [arXiv:0910.3693]. 26
- [117] Planck Collaboration Collaboration, P. Ade et. al., Planck 2013 Results.
 XXIV. Constraints on primordial non-Gaussianity, arXiv:1303.5084. 27, 149
- [118] M. Zaldarriaga and U. Seljak, An all sky analysis of polarization in the microwave background, Phys.Rev. D55 (1997) 1830–1840, [astro-ph/9609170].
 27
- [119] BICEP2, Keck Array Collaboration, P. A. R. Ade et. al., BICEP2 / Keck Array VI: Improved Constraints On Cosmology and Foregrounds When Adding 95 GHz Data From Keck Array, arXiv:1510.0921. 28, 60
- [120] P. Peebles and J. Yu, Primeval adiabatic perturbation in an expanding universe, Astrophys.J. 162 (1970) 815–836. 29
- [121] G. Efstathiou and J. Bond, Isocurvature cold dark matter fluctuations, Mon.Not.Roy.Astron.Soc. 218 (1986), no. 1 103–121. 29
- M. Bucher, K. Moodley, and N. Turok, The General primordial cosmic perturbation, Phys.Rev. D62 (2000) 083508, [astro-ph/9904231]. 29
- [123] Planck Collaboration Collaboration, P. Ade et. al., Planck 2013 results.
 XXIII. Isotropy and Statistics of the CMB (version 1), arXiv:1303.5083. 30

- M. Namjoo, A. Abolhasani, H. Assadullahi, S. Baghram, H. Firouzjahi, et. al., Expected dipole asymmetry in CMB polarization, JCAP 1505 (2015), no. 05 015, [arXiv:1411.5312]. 31
- [125] S. Flender and S. Hotchkiss, The small scale power asymmetry in the cosmic microwave background, JCAP 1309 (2013) 033, [arXiv:1307.6069]. 31, 32, 128
- [126] A. D. Linde, Eternal chaotic inflation, Mod. Phys. Lett. A1 (1986) 81. 35
- [127] H. Kodama and M. Sasaki, Cosmological Perturbation Theory, Prog. Theor.
 Phys. Suppl. 78 (1984) 1–166. 39, 41, 43, 58
- [128] J. M. Bardeen, Gauge Invariant Cosmological Perturbations, Phys. Rev. D22
 (1980) 1882–1905. 43
- [129] J. M. Bardeen, P. J. Steinhardt, and M. S. Turner, Spontaneous Creation of Almost Scale - Free Density Perturbations in an Inflationary Universe, Phys. Rev. D28 (1983) 679. 43
- [130] E. D. Stewart and D. H. Lyth, A More accurate analytic calculation of the spectrum of cosmological perturbations produced during inflation, Phys.Lett. B302 (1993) 171–175, [gr-qc/9302019]. 43
- [131] T. Bunch and P. Davies, Quantum Field Theory in de Sitter Space: Renormalization by Point Splitting, Proc.Roy.Soc.Lond. A360 (1978) 117–134.
 47
- [132] M. Sasaki and E. D. Stewart, A General analytic formula for the spectral index of the density perturbations produced during inflation, Prog. Theor. Phys. 95
 (1996) 71-78, [astro-ph/9507001]. 49, 58, 73, 74, 77, 128
- M. Sasaki and T. Tanaka, Superhorizon scale dynamics of multiscalar inflation, Prog. Theor. Phys. 99 (1998) 763–782, [gr-qc/9801017]. 49, 58, 77

- [134] D. Wands, K. A. Malik, D. H. Lyth, and A. R. Liddle, A New approach to the evolution of cosmological perturbations on large scales, Phys.Rev. D62 (2000) 043527, [astro-ph/0003278]. 49, 58, 73, 74, 77, 128
- [135] D. H. Lyth, K. A. Malik, and M. Sasaki, A General proof of the conservation of the curvature perturbation, JCAP 0505 (2005) 004, [astro-ph/0411220]. 49, 58, 77
- M. Sasaki, Nonlinear curvature perturbations in an exactly soluble model of multi-component slow-roll inflation, Class. Quant. Grav. 24 (2007) 2433-2438,
 [astro-ph/0702182]. 49, 58, 77
- [137] D. H. Lyth, What would we learn by detecting a gravitational wave signal in the cosmic microwave background anisotropy?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 78 (1997)
 1861–1863, [hep-ph/9606387]. 59
- [138] M. J. Mortonson and U. Seljak, A joint analysis of Planck and BICEP2 B modes including dust polarization uncertainty, arXiv:1405.5857. 60
- [139] X. Chen, Primordial Non-Gaussianities from Inflation Models, Adv.Astron.
 2010 (2010) 638979, [arXiv:1002.1416]. 60
- [140] D. H. Lyth and Y. Rodriguez, The Inflationary prediction for primordial non-Gaussianity, Phys.Rev.Lett. 95 (2005) 121302, [astro-ph/0504045]. 60, 61, 73, 74, 93, 96
- [141] D. Seery and J. E. Lidsey, Primordial non-Gaussianities from multiple-field inflation, JCAP 0509 (2005) 011, [astro-ph/0506056]. 60, 61, 62, 73, 74
- [142] C. T. Byrnes, M. Sasaki, and D. Wands, The primordial trispectrum from inflation, Phys.Rev. D74 (2006) 123519, [astro-ph/0611075]. 60, 61, 62, 64, 73, 75, 96

- [143] J. M. Maldacena, Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models, JHEP 0305 (2003) 013, [astro-ph/0210603]. 62, 64
- [144] J. Martin, C. Ringeval, R. Trotta, and V. Vennin, The Best Inflationary Models After Planck, JCAP 1403 (2014) 039, [arXiv:1312.3529]. 64
- [145] A. D. Linde, Particle physics and inflationary cosmology, Contemp. Concepts
 Phys. 5 (1990) 1-362, [hep-th/0503203]. 64
- [146] J. E. Lidsey, A. R. Liddle, E. W. Kolb, E. J. Copeland, T. Barreiro, et. al., Reconstructing the inflation potential : An overview, Rev.Mod.Phys. 69 (1997) 373-410, [astro-ph/9508078]. 64
- [147] D. H. Lyth and A. Riotto, Particle physics models of inflation and the cosmological density perturbation, Phys. Rept. 314 (1999) 1–146,
 [hep-ph/9807278]. 69
- [148] D. Chung, L. Everett, G. Kane, S. King, J. D. Lykken, et. al., The Soft supersymmetry breaking Lagrangian: Theory and applications, Phys.Rept. 407 (2005) 1–203, [hep-ph/0312378]. 69
- [149] R. Allahverdi, B. Dutta, and A. Mazumdar, Probing the parameter space for an MSSM inflation and the neutralino dark matter, Phys.Rev. D75 (2007) 075018,
 [hep-ph/0702112]. 69
- [150] J. Garcia-Bellido and D. Wands, Metric perturbations in two field inflation, Phys.Rev. D53 (1996) 5437-5445, [astro-ph/9511029]. 77, 84, 85
- [151] C. Gordon, D. Wands, B. A. Bassett, and R. Maartens, Adiabatic and entropy perturbations from inflation, Phys.Rev. D63 (2001) 023506,
 [astro-ph/0009131]. 77

- [152] D. J. Mulryne, D. Seery, and D. Wesley, Moment transport equations for non-Gaussianity, JCAP 1001 (2010) 024, [arXiv:0909.2256]. 78
- [153] D. J. Mulryne, D. Seery, and D. Wesley, Moment transport equations for the primordial curvature perturbation, JCAP 1104 (2011) 030, [arXiv:1008.3159].
 78
- [154] D. Seery, D. J. Mulryne, J. Frazer, and R. H. Ribeiro, Inflationary perturbation theory is geometrical optics in phase space, arXiv:1203.2635. 78
- [155] F. Vernizzi and D. Wands, Non-gaussianities in two-field inflation, JCAP 0605
 (2006) 019, [astro-ph/0603799]. 78, 84, 85
- [156] S. Yokoyama, T. Suyama, and T. Tanaka, Primordial Non-Gaussianity in Multi-Scalar Slow-Roll Inflation, JCAP 0707 (2007) 013, [arXiv:0705.3178]. 78
- [157] S. Yokoyama, T. Suyama, and T. Tanaka, Primordial Non-Gaussianity in Multi-Scalar Inflation, Phys. Rev. D77 (2008) 083511, [arXiv:0711.2920]. 78
- [158] K.-Y. Choi, L. M. Hall, and C. van de Bruck, Spectral Running and Non-Gaussianity from Slow-Roll Inflation in Generalised Two-Field Models, JCAP 0702 (2007) 029, [astro-ph/0701247]. 84, 85
- [159] N. Bartolo and A. R. Liddle, The Simplest curvaton model, Phys. Rev. D65
 (2002) 121301, [astro-ph/0203076]. 93
- [160] K. Dimopoulos, G. Lazarides, D. Lyth, and R. Ruiz de Austri, The Peccei-Quinn field as curvaton, JHEP 05 (2003) 057, [hep-ph/0303154]. 93
- [161] M. Postma, The Curvaton scenario in supersymmetric theories, Phys. Rev. D67
 (2003) 063518, [hep-ph/0212005]. 93

- [162] K. Dimopoulos, The Curvaton hypothesis and the eta-problem of quintessential inflation, with and without branes, Phys. Rev. D68 (2003) 123506,
 [astro-ph/0212264]. 93
- [163] K. Dimopoulos, D. H. Lyth, A. Notari, and A. Riotto, The Curvaton as a pseudoNambu-Goldstone boson, JHEP 07 (2003) 053, [hep-ph/0304050]. 93
- [164] M. S. Sloth, Superhorizon curvaton amplitude in inflation and pre big bang cosmology, Nucl. Phys. B656 (2003) 239-251, [hep-ph/0208241]. 93
- [165] C. Gordon and A. Lewis, Observational constraints on the curvaton model of inflation, Phys. Rev. D67 (2003) 123513, [astro-ph/0212248]. 93
- [166] K. Enqvist, A. Jokinen, S. Kasuya, and A. Mazumdar, MSSM flat direction as a curvaton, Phys. Rev. D68 (2003) 103507, [hep-ph/0303165]. 93, 94
- [167] K. A. Malik, D. Wands, and C. Ungarelli, Large scale curvature and entropy perturbations for multiple interacting fluids, Phys. Rev. D67 (2003) 063516,
 [astro-ph/0211602]. 93
- [168] K. Dimopoulos, G. Lazarides, D. Lyth, and R. Ruiz de Austri, Curvaton dynamics, Phys. Rev. D68 (2003) 123515, [hep-ph/0308015]. 93
- [169] S. Gupta, K. A. Malik, and D. Wands, Curvature and isocurvature perturbations in a three-fluid model of curvaton decay, Phys. Rev. D69 (2004) 063513,
 [astro-ph/0311562]. 93
- [170] E. J. Chun, K. Dimopoulos, and D. Lyth, Curvaton and QCD axion in supersymmetric theories, Phys. Rev. D70 (2004) 103510, [hep-ph/0402059]. 93
- [171] K. Enqvist and S. Nurmi, Non-gaussianity in curvaton models with nearly quadratic potential, JCAP 0510 (2005) 013, [astro-ph/0508573]. 93, 98

- [172] M. Sasaki, J. Valiviita, and D. Wands, Non-Gaussianity of the primordial perturbation in the curvaton model, Phys.Rev. D74 (2006) 103003,
 [astro-ph/0607627]. 93, 96
- [173] J. Valiviita, M. Sasaki, and D. Wands, Non-Gaussianity and constraints for the variance of perturbations in the curvaton model, 2006. astro-ph/0610001. 93
- [174] R. Allahverdi, K. Enqvist, A. Jokinen, and A. Mazumdar, *Identifying the curvaton within MSSM*, JCAP 0610 (2006) 007, [hep-ph/0603255]. 93, 94
- [175] K. Dimopoulos, Can a vector field be responsible for the curvature perturbation in the Universe?, Phys. Rev. D74 (2006) 083502, [hep-ph/0607229]. 93
- [176] K. Dimopoulos, Supergravity inspired Vector Curvaton, Phys. Rev. D76 (2007)
 063506, [arXiv:0705.3334]. 93
- [177] H. Assadullahi, J. Valiviita, and D. Wands, Primordial non-Gaussianity from two curvaton decays, Phys. Rev. D76 (2007) 103003, [arXiv:0708.0223]. 93
- [178] K. Dimopoulos, Density Perturbations in the Universe from Massive Vector Fields, AIP Conf. Proc. 957 (2007) 387–390, [arXiv:0709.1109]. 93
- [179] J. C. Bueno Sanchez and K. Dimopoulos, Curvaton reheating allows TeV Hubble scale in NO inflation, JCAP 0711 (2007) 007, [arXiv:0707.3967]. 93
- [180] Q.-G. Huang, Spectral Index in Curvaton Scenario, Phys. Rev. D78 (2008)
 043515, [arXiv:0807.0050]. 93
- [181] K. Enqvist and T. Takahashi, Signatures of Non-Gaussianity in the Curvaton Model, JCAP 0809 (2008) 012, [arXiv:0807.3069]. 93
- [182] J. Valiviita, H. Assadullahi, and D. Wands, Primordial non-gaussianity from multiple curvaton decay, arXiv:0806.0623. 93

- [183] K. Dimopoulos and M. Karciauskas, Non-minimally coupled vector curvaton,
 JHEP 07 (2008) 119, [arXiv:0803.3041]. 93
- [184] T. Suyama and F. Takahashi, Non-Gaussianity from Symmetry, JCAP 0809
 (2008) 007, [arXiv:0804.0425]. 93
- [185] Q.-G. Huang, Large Non-Gaussianity Implication for Curvaton Scenario, Phys.
 Lett. B669 (2008) 260-265, [arXiv:0801.0467]. 93
- [186] Q.-G. Huang, Curvaton with Polynomial Potential, JCAP 0811 (2008) 005,
 [arXiv:0808.1793]. 93
- [187] Q.-G. Huang and Y. Wang, Curvaton Dynamics and the Non-Linearity
 Parameters in Curvaton Model, JCAP 0809 (2008) 025, [arXiv:0808.1168]. 93
- [188] K. Enqvist, S. Nurmi, G. Rigopoulos, O. Taanila, and T. Takahashi, The Subdominant Curvaton, JCAP 0911 (2009) 003, [arXiv:0906.3126]. 93
- [189] P. Chingangbam and Q.-G. Huang, The Curvature Perturbation in the Axion-type Curvaton Model, JCAP 0904 (2009) 031, [arXiv:0902.2619]. 93
- [190] K. Dimopoulos, M. Karciauskas, D. H. Lyth, and Y. Rodriguez, Statistical anisotropy of the curvature perturbation from vector field perturbations, JCAP
 0905 (2009) 013, [arXiv:0809.1055]. 93
- T. Takahashi, M. Yamaguchi, and S. Yokoyama, Primordial Non-Gaussianity in Models with Dark Matter Isocurvature Fluctuations, Phys. Rev. D80 (2009)
 063524, [arXiv:0907.3052]. 93
- [192] T. Moroi and T. Takahashi, Non-Gaussianity and Baryonic Isocurvature Fluctuations in the Curvaton Scenario, Phys. Lett. B671 (2009) 339-344,
 [arXiv:0810.0189]. 93

- [193] M. Kawasaki, K. Nakayama, and F. Takahashi, *Hilltop Non-Gaussianity*, JCAP
 0901 (2009) 026, [arXiv:0810.1585]. 93
- T. Takahashi, M. Yamaguchi, J. Yokoyama, and S. Yokoyama, Gravitino Dark Matter and Non-Gaussianity, Phys. Lett. B678 (2009) 15–19,
 [arXiv:0905.0240]. 93
- [195] K. Enqvist and T. Takahashi, Effect of Background Evolution on the Curvaton Non-Gaussianity, JCAP 0912 (2009) 001, [arXiv:0909.5362]. 93
- [196] Y.-F. Cai, S. Li, and Y.-S. Piao, DBI-Curvaton, Phys. Lett. B671 (2009)
 423–427, [arXiv:0806.2363]. 93
- [197] M. Karciauskas, K. Dimopoulos, and D. H. Lyth, Anisotropic non-Gaussianity from vector field perturbations, Phys. Rev. D80 (2009) 023509,
 [arXiv:0812.0264]. [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D85,069905(2012)]. 93
- [198] M. Kawasaki, K. Nakayama, T. Sekiguchi, T. Suyama, and F. Takahashi, A General Analysis of Non-Gaussianity from Isocurvature Perturbations, JCAP
 0901 (2009) 042, [arXiv:0810.0208]. 93
- [199] K. Dimopoulos, M. Karciauskas, and J. M. Wagstaff, Vector Curvaton without Instabilities, Phys. Lett. B683 (2010) 298–301, [arXiv:0909.0475]. 93
- [200] K. Dimopoulos, M. Karciauskas, and J. M. Wagstaff, Vector Curvaton with varying Kinetic Function, Phys. Rev. D81 (2010) 023522, [arXiv:0907.1838].
 93
- [201] C.-J. Feng and X.-Z. Li, Non-Gaussianity with Lagrange Multiplier Field in the Curvaton Scenario, JCAP 1010 (2010) 027, [arXiv:1008.1152]. 93
- [202] A. Chambers, S. Nurmi, and A. Rajantie, Non-Gaussianity from resonant curvaton decay, JCAP 1001 (2010) 012, [arXiv:0909.4535]. 93

- [203] K.-Y. Choi and O. Seto, Non-Gaussianity and gravitational wave background in curvaton with a double well potential, Phys. Rev. D82 (2010) 103519,
 [arXiv:1008.0079]. 93
- [204] K. Enqvist, S. Nurmi, O. Taanila, and T. Takahashi, Non-Gaussian Fingerprints of Self-Interacting Curvaton, JCAP 1004 (2010) 009, [arXiv:0912.4657]. 93
- [205] Q.-G. Huang, Negative spectral index of f_{NL} in the axion-type curvaton model, JCAP 1011 (2010) 026, [arXiv:1008.2641]. 93
- [206] Y.-F. Cai and Y. Wang, Large Nonlocal Non-Gaussianity from a Curvaton Brane, Phys.Rev. D82 (2010) 123501, [arXiv:1005.0127]. 93
- [207] K. Nakayama and J. Yokoyama, Gravitational Wave Background and Non-Gaussianity as a Probe of the Curvaton Scenario, JCAP 1001 (2010) 010,
 [arXiv:0910.0715]. 93
- [208] J. Fonseca and D. Wands, Non-Gaussianity and Gravitational Waves from Quadratic and Self-interacting Curvaton, Phys. Rev. D83 (2011) 064025,
 [arXiv:1101.1254]. 93
- [209] P. Chingangbam and Q.-G. Huang, New features in curvaton model, Phys. Rev.
 D83 (2011) 023527, [arXiv:1006.4006]. 93
- [210] K. Kamada, K. Kohri, and S. Yokoyama, Affleck-Dine baryogenesis with modulated reheating, JCAP 1101 (2011) 027, [arXiv:1008.1450]. 93
- [211] K. Dimopoulos, K. Kohri, D. H. Lyth, and T. Matsuda, *The inflating curvaton*, JCAP **1203** (2012) 022, [arXiv:1110.2951]. 93
- [212] K. Dimopoulos, K. Kohri, and T. Matsuda, *The hybrid curvaton*, *Phys. Rev.* D85 (2012) 123541, [arXiv:1201.6037]. 93

- [213] A. Mazumdar and S. Nadathur, The curvaton scenario in the MSSM and predictions for non-Gaussianity, Phys.Rev.Lett. 108 (2012) 111302,
 [arXiv:1107.4078]. 93
- [214] K. Dimopoulos, Statistical Anisotropy and the Vector Curvaton Paradigm, Int.
 J. Mod. Phys. D21 (2012) 1250023, [arXiv:1107.2779]. [Erratum: Int. J. Mod.
 Phys.D21,1292003(2012)]. 93
- [215] J. Fonseca and D. Wands, Primordial non-Gaussianity from mixed inflaton-curvaton perturbations, JCAP 1206 (2012) 028, [arXiv:1204.3443]. 93
- [216] K.-Y. Choi and O. Seto, Modulated reheating by curvaton, Phys. Rev. D85 (2012)
 123528, [arXiv:1204.1419]. 93
- [217] H. Assadullahi, H. Firouzjahi, M. H. Namjoo, and D. Wands, Curvaton and the inhomogeneous end of inflation, JCAP 1212 (2012) 024, [arXiv:1207.7006]. 93
- [218] K. Dimopoulos, D. Wills, and I. Zavala, Statistical Anisotropy from Vector Curvaton in D-brane Inflation, Nucl. Phys. B868 (2013) 120–155,
 [arXiv:1108.4424]. 93
- [219] H. Assadullahi, H. Firouzjahi, M. H. Namjoo, and D. Wands, Modulated curvaton decay, JCAP 1303 (2013) 041, [arXiv:1301.3439]. 93
- [220] J. McDonald, Isocurvature and Curvaton Perturbations with Red Power Spectrum and Large Hemispherical Asymmetry, JCAP 1307 (2013) 043,
 [arXiv:1305.0525]. 93, 128
- [221] K. Mukaida, K. Nakayama, and M. Takimoto, Suppressed Non-Gaussianity in the Curvaton Model, arXiv:1402.1856. 93
- [222] C. T. Byrnes, M. Cortês, and A. R. Liddle, Comprehensive analysis of the simplest curvaton model, arXiv:1403.4591. 93, 99

- [223] K. Enqvist, S. Kasuya, and A. Mazumdar, Adiabatic density perturbations and matter generation from the MSSM, Phys.Rev.Lett. 90 (2003) 091302,
 [hep-ph/0211147]. 94
- [224] K. Enqvist, R. N. Lerner, and S. Rusak, Reheating dynamics affects non-perturbative decay of spectator fields, JCAP 1311 (2013) 034,
 [arXiv:1308.3321]. 98
- [225] Q.-G. Huang, N-vaton, JCAP 0809 (2008) 017, [arXiv:0807.1567]. 99
- [226] R. Allahverdi, B. Dutta, and A. Mazumdar, Unifying inflation and dark matter with neutrino masses, Phys.Rev.Lett. 99 (2007) 261301, [arXiv:0708.3983]. 122
- [227] L. Dai, D. Jeong, M. Kamionkowski, and J. Chluba, The Pesky Power Asymmetry, arXiv:1303.6949. 128
- [228] D. H. Lyth, The CMB modulation from inflation, JCAP 1308 (2013) 007,
 [arXiv:1304.1270]. 128
- [229] K. Kohri, C.-M. Lin, and T. Matsuda, Scale-dependent CMB asymmetry from primordial configuration, arXiv:1308.5790. 128
- [230] X. Chen and Y. Wang, Relic Vector Field and CMB Large Scale Anomalies, arXiv:1305.4794. 128
- [231] Z.-G. Liu, Z.-K. Guo, and Y.-S. Piao, Obtaining the CMB anomalies with a bounce from the contracting phase to inflation, arXiv:1304.6527. 128
- [232] Z. Chang and S. Wang, Inflation and primordial power spectra at anisotropic spacetime inspired by Planck's constraints on isotropy of CMB, Eur.Phys.J. C73 (2013) 2516, [arXiv:1303.6058]. 128
- [233] J. McDonald, Hemispherical Power Asymmetry from Scale-Dependent Modulated Reheating, JCAP 1311 (2013) 041, [arXiv:1309.1122]. 128

- [234] M. H. Namjoo, S. Baghram, and H. Firouzjahi, Hemispherical Asymmetry and Local non-Gaussianity: a Consistency Condition, Phys.Rev. D88 (2013) 083527,
 [arXiv:1305.0813]. 128
- [235] W. Zhao, Directional dependence of CMB parity asymmetry, arXiv:1306.0955.128
- [236] A. R. Liddle and M. Cortês, Cosmic microwave background anomalies in an open universe, Phys.Rev.Lett. 111 (2013) 111302, [arXiv:1306.5698]. 128
- [237] Y.-F. Cai, W. Zhao, and Y. Zhang, CMB Power Asymmetry from Primordial Sound Speed Parameter, arXiv:1307.4090. 128
- [238] S. Kanno, M. Sasaki, and T. Tanaka, A viable explanation of the CMB dipolar statistical anisotropy, PTEP 2013 (2013) 111E01, [arXiv:1309.1350]. 128
- [239] S. Jazayeri, Y. Akrami, H. Firouzjahi, A. R. Solomon, and Y. Wang, Inflationary power asymmetry from primordial domain walls, JCAP 1411 (2014) 044, [arXiv:1408.3057]. 128
- [240] J. McDonald, Hemispherical Power Asymmetry from a Space-Dependent Component of the Adiabatic Power Spectrum, Phys.Rev. D89 (2014) 127303,
 [arXiv:1403.2076]. 128
- [241] Z.-G. Liu, Z.-K. Guo, and Y.-S. Piao, CMB anomalies from an inflationary model in string theory, Eur.Phys.J. C74 (2014), no. 8 3006, [arXiv:1311.1599].
 128
- [242] H. Assadullahi, H. Firouzjahi, M. H. Namjoo, and D. Wands, CMB hemispherical asymmetry from non-linear isocurvature perturbations, JCAP
 1504 (2015), no. 04 017, [arXiv:1410.8036]. 128
- [243] S. M. Leach, M. Sasaki, D. Wands, and A. R. Liddle, Enhancement of superhorizon scale inflationary curvature perturbations, Phys. Rev. D64 (2001)
 023512, [astro-ph/0101406]. 135
- [244] C. M. Hirata, Constraints on cosmic hemispherical power anomalies from quasars, JCAP 0909 (2009) 011, [arXiv:0907.0703]. 144
- [245] C. T. Byrnes and E. R. M. Tarrant, Scale-dependent non-Gaussianity and the CMB Power Asymmetry, JCAP 1507 (2015) 007, [arXiv:1502.0733]. 146
- [246] Y.-F. Cai, D.-G. Wang, W. Zhao, and Y. Zhang, Scale-dependent CMB power asymmetry from primordial speed of sound and a generalized δN formalism, arXiv:1509.0254. 146
- [247] S. Adhikari, S. Shandera, and A. L. Erickcek, Large-scale anomalies in the Cosmic Microwave Background as signatures of non-Gaussianity, arXiv:1508.0648. 146
- [248] D. H. Lyth, Generating f_{NL} at $l \lesssim 60$, JCAP **1504** (2015), no. 04 039, [arXiv:1405.3562]. 146
- [249] A. L. Erickcek, S. M. Carroll, and M. Kamionkowski, Superhorizon Perturbations and the Cosmic Microwave Background, Phys.Rev. D78 (2008) 083012,
 [arXiv:0808.1570]. 146
- [250] A. L. Erickcek, M. Kamionkowski, and S. M. Carroll, A Hemispherical Power Asymmetry from Inflation, Phys. Rev. D78 (2008) 123520, [arXiv:0806.0377].
 146
- [251] F. W. J. Olver, D. W. Lozier, R. F. Boisvert, and C. W. Clark, eds., NIST Handbook of Mathematical Functions. Cambridge University Press, New York, NY, 2010. Print companion to [252]. 154, 156, 182

[252] "NIST Digital Library of Mathematical Functions." http://dlmf.nist.gov/, Release 1.0.6 of 2013-05-06. Online companion to [251]. 154, 156, 181